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Meeting Dates
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��Aug. 11, 2014

Report of the Finance Committee

Background
The Finance Committee advises the Board of Directors (BOD) on the overall direction and control 
of the finances of the organization. It reviews and recommends a budget to the BOD, monitors 
income, expenditures and program activities against projections, and presents quarterly financial 
statements to the BOD. 

The Finance Committee oversees the financial reporting process, the systems of internal 
accounting and financial controls, the performance and independence of the auditors, and 
the annual independent audit of NCSBN financial statements. It recommends to the BOD the 
appointment of a firm to serve as auditors.

The Finance Committee makes recommendations to the BOD with respect to investment policy 
and assures that the organization maintains adequate insurance coverage.

highlights of FY14 Activities
�� Reviewed and discussed with management and the organization’s independent accountant 

the NCSBN audited financial statements as of and for the fiscal year ended Sept. 30, 2013. 
With and without management present, the committee discussed and reviewed the results 
of the independent accountant’s examination of the internal controls and the financial 
statements. Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the Finance Committee 
recommended to the BOD that the financial statements and the Report of the Auditors be 
accepted and provided to the membership. 

�� Recommended the engagement of Plante Moran to audit the NCSBN financial statements 
for the period ending Sept. 30, 2014.

�� Reviewed and discussed with management and the organization’s independent accountant 
the auditor’s report on the NCSBN 403(b) defined contribution retirement plan for the year 
ended June 30, 2013. The Finance Committee recommended that the BOD accept the 
auditor’s report.

�� Reviewed and discussed with management and the organization’s independent accountant 
the report from the auditors for the risk assessment for fraud.

�� Recommended the engagement of Plante Moran to audit the retirement plan for the year 
ending June 30, 2014.

�� Reviewed and discussed NCSBN financial policies.

�� Reviewed and discussed the long-range financial reserve forecast. 

�� Reviewed and discussed the financial statements and supporting schedules quarterly, and 
made recommendations that the reports be accepted by the BOD.

�� Reviewed and discussed the performance of NCSBN investments with NCSBN staff and the 
organization’s investment consultant, the Bogdahn Group, quarterly. Informed the BOD that 
the current investment policy and strategy appear to be appropriate for NCSBN.

�� Reviewed and discussed with the insurance brokers from USI Midwest the property and 
professional liability coverage for NCSBN. Informed the BOD that the organization is 
appropriately insured.

Future Activities
�� At a future meeting, the committee will review the budget proposal for the fiscal year 

beginning Oct. 1, 2014.
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1 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
 
To the Board of Directors 
National Council of State 
     Boards of Nursing, Inc. 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of National Council of State Boards of 
Nursing, Inc. (NCSBN), which comprise the statement of financial position as of September 30, 
2013 and 2012 and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended, 
and the related noted to the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 

Attachment A

Report of the independent Auditors FY13
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To the Board of Directors 
National Council of State 
     Boards of Nursing, Inc. 
 

2 

 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. as of September 30, 
2013 and 2012, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

  
 
December 3, 2013 
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Statement of Financial Position 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 3 

September 30, September 30,
2013 2012

Assets

Cash 30,668,548$             29,464,776$             
Accounts receivable 60,551                      263,722                    
Due from test vendor 8,074,893                 7,305,363                 
Accrued investment income 432,383                    451,166                    
Prepaid expenses 1,518,394                 1,425,077                 
Investments 142,784,982             132,039,492             
Property and equipment - Net 4,984,884                 5,099,789                 
Intangible asset - Net 656,250                    781,250                    
Cash held for others 799,119                    581,181                    

                    Total assets 189,980,004$        177,411,816$        

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable 722,827$                  1,569,254$               
Accrued payroll, payroll taxes, and

    compensated absences 785,825                    734,991                    
Due to test vendor 10,401,925               9,328,189                 
Deferred revenue 16,500                      141,000                    
Grants payable 1,067,600                 743,520                    
Deferred rent 1,129,502                 807,736                    
Cash held for others 799,119                    581,181                    

                    Total liabilities 14,923,298               13,905,871               

Unrestricted Net Assets 175,056,706             163,505,945             

                    Total liabilities and net assets 189,980,004$        177,411,816$        
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Statement of Activities 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 4 

Year Ended 
September 30, September 30,

2013 2012

Revenue
Examination fees 59,415,050$             57,613,500$              
Other program services income 7,985,761                 6,793,247                  
Net realized and unrealized gain

on investments 6,798,676                 10,965,603                
Net realized loss on disposal of property

and equipment -                            (1,446)                        
Interest and dividend income 4,223,117                 4,106,088                  
Membership fees 192,000                    193,500                     

Total revenue 78,614,604               79,670,492                

Expenses
Program services:

Nurse competence 43,193,372               41,569,844                
Nurse practice and regulatory outcome 11,438,651               11,832,777                
Information 8,819,895                 9,586,563                  

Total program services 63,451,918               62,989,184                

Supporting services - Management and general 3,611,925                 2,999,512                  

Total expenses 67,063,843               65,988,696                

Net Increase 11,550,761               13,681,796                

Unrestricted Net Assets
Beginning of year 163,505,945             149,824,149              

End of year 175,056,706$        163,505,945$         
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Statement of Cash Flows 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 5 

Year Ended 
September 30, September 30,

2013 2012

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Increase in unrestricted net assets 11,550,761$       13,681,796$       
Adjustments to reconcile increase in unrestricted net assets 

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,417,382           2,534,043           
Net realized and unrealized gain

on investments (6,798,676)          (10,965,603)        
Net realized loss on disposal of property

and equipment -                     1,446                  
Decrease (increase) in assets:

Accounts receivable 203,171              (126,704)             
Due from test vendor (769,530)             70,093                
Accrued investment income 18,783                (127,802)             
Prepaid expenses (93,317)               453,645              

(Decrease) increase in liabilities:
Accounts payable (846,427)             663,179              
Accrued payroll, payroll taxes,

and compensated absences 50,834                151,995              
Due to test vendor 1,073,736           (484,278)             
Deferred revenue (124,500)             (9,000)                 
Grants payable 324,080              (463,148)             
Deferred rent credits 321,766              708,171              

Net cash provided by operating activities 7,328,063           6,087,833           

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment (2,112,881)          (3,884,058)          
Purchases of investments (91,328,912)        (69,912,241)        
Proceeds on sale of investments 87,317,502         40,014,590         

Net cash used in investing activities (6,124,291)          (33,781,709)        

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash 1,203,772           (27,693,876)        

Cash - Beginning of year 29,464,776         57,158,652         

Cash - End of year 30,668,548$    29,464,776$    
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2013 and 2012 

6 

Note 1 - Description of the Organization 
 

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. (NCSBN) is a not-for-profit corporation 
organized under the statutes of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The primary 
purpose of NCSBN is to serve as a charitable and educational organization through 
which state boards of nursing act on matters of common interest and concern to 
promote safe and effective nursing practice in the interest of protecting public health and 
welfare, including the development of licensing examinations in nursing. 

 
The program services of NCSBN are defined as follows: 

 
Nurse Competence - Assist member boards in their role in the evaluation of initial and 
ongoing nurse competence. 

 
Nurse Practice and Regulatory Outcome - Assist member boards to implement 
strategies to promote regulatory effectiveness to fulfill their public protection role. 
Analyze the changing health care environment to develop state and national strategies to 
impact public policy and regulation affecting public protection. 

 
Information - Develop information technology solutions valued and utilized by member 
boards to enhance regulatory efficiency. 

 
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Method of Accounting - The accompanying financial statements have been prepared 
on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). 

 
Basis of Presentation - NCSBN is required to report information regarding its financial 
position and activities according to three classes of net assets: unrestricted net assets, 
temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net assets. Net assets are 
generally reported as unrestricted unless assets are received from donors with explicit 
stipulations that limit the use of the asset. NCSBN does not have any temporarily or 
permanently restricted net assets. 

 
Revenue Recognition - Revenue from National Council Licensure Examination 
(NCLEX) fees is recognized when an exam registration is complete, rather than when 
the registrant either takes the examination or is no longer eligible to do so. NCSBN does 
not believe its policy regarding this revenue and the corresponding test vendor costs to 
be a significant departure from GAAP. 
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2013 and 2012 

7 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

Other program services income includes revenue from member dues, e-learning online 
courses, licensure verification fees, publication sales, and royalty fees from the National 
Nurse Aide Assessment Program (NNAAP) and Medication Aide Certification 
Examination (MACE).  Revenue is recognized when earned. 
 
Cash Held for Others - Cash held for others represents cash held for one of its 
member boards. NCSBN serves as a fiscal agent for one of its member boards and pays 
program expenses on behalf of the member board.  Cash held for others also includes 
cash held for the National Licensure Compact Administrators (NLCA). 

 
Accounts Receivable - Accounts receivable represents amounts owed to NCSBN for 
services dealing with board membership fees, meeting fees, and online course revenue. 
Accounts receivable as of September 30, 2013 and 2012 were $60,551 and $263,722, 
respectively. An allowance for doubtful accounts was not considered necessary as 
management believes all receivables are collectible. 

 
Investments - NCSBN assets are invested in various securities, including United States 
government securities, corporate debt instruments and unit investment trust securities. 
Investment securities, in general, are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate risk, 
credit risk and overall market volatility. NCSBN invests in securities with contractual cash 
flows, such as asset-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations, and 
commercial mortgage-backed securities. The value, liquidity, and related income of these 
securities are sensitive to changes in economic conditions, including real estate value and 
delinquencies or defaults, or both, and may be adversely affected by shifts in the market's 
perception of the issuers and changes in interest rates. Due to the level of risk associated 
with certain investment securities, it is reasonably possible that changes in the values of 
investment securities will occur in the near term and those changes could materially 
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements.  
 
Investments of NCSBN are reported at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument 
is the amount that would be received to sell that asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (the exit 
price).  

 
Money market funds are valued at fair value.  
 
Purchases and sales of the investments are reflected on a trade-date basis.  
 
Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest income is recorded on 
the accrual basis. 
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2013 and 2012 

8 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

Investment income, including net realized and unrealized gains (losses), is reflected in the 
statement of activities as an increase (decrease) in net assets. 

 
Financial Instruments - NCSBN’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts 
receivable, due from test vendor, investments, accounts payable, and due to test vendor.  
Investments are carried at fair value as disclosed in Note 5.  For the remaining financial 
instruments, the carrying value is a reasonable estimate of fair value because of the short-
term nature of the financial instruments. 
 
Due from Test Vendor - NCSBN has contracted with Pearson VUE to administer and 
deliver nurse licensure examinations. Pearson VUE uses a tier-based volume pricing 
schedule to determine its fee price to provide the examination. Base price fees before 
calculating discounts are paid to Pearson VUE for administered exams during the year. 
Volume discounts are accrued during the year. Due from test vendor represents 
amounts due from Pearson VUE for accrued volume discounts. The amounts owed by 
Pearson VUE as of September 30, 2013 and 2012 were $8,074,893 and $7,305,363, 
respectively. 

 
Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are carried at cost. Major 
additions are capitalized while replacements, maintenance, and repairs which do not 
improve or extend the lives of the respective assets are expensed currently. 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated 
useful lives: 

 
Furniture and equipment 5 - 7 years
Course development costs 2 - 5 years
Computer hardware and software 5 - 7 years
Leasehold improvements useful life or life of lease  

 
Intangible Asset - The intangible asset represents the purchase of the intellectual 
property rights for the nurse aid certification examination and the medication aid 
certification examination for the National Nurse Aide Assessment Program. The 
investment is carried at cost and amortization is computed using the straight-line method 
over a 10-year period. Amortization expense for the years ended September 30, 2013 
and 2012 was $125,000 each year.  
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2013 and 2012 

9 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

2013 2012

Intellectual property 1,250,000$        1,250,000$      
Less accumulated amortization (593,750)            (468,750)          

Total 656,250$           781,250$         

 
Due to Test Vendor - NCSBN accrues a base price fee for each candidate for whom a 
completed candidate application to take NCLEX is processed by Pearson VUE. At the 
end of each month, NCSBN pays an amount equal to the base price multiplied by the 
number of candidates who were administered the examinations during the preceding 
month.  
 
Due to test vendor includes accrued amounts totaling $6,651,863 as of September 30, 
2013 and $6,100,780 as of September 30, 2012 for registered candidates who as of year 
end had not taken the exam. Also included is the amount payable to Pearson VUE for 
administered exams that had not been paid at the end of the year. 

 
Deferred Revenue - Deferred revenue consists of membership fees of $16,500 for 
2013 and $141,000 for 2012. 
 
Grants Payable - Grants payable represents nurse practice and regulatory outcome 
research grants that are generally available for periods of one to two years. NCSBN 
awarded five grants ranging in amounts from $220,000 to $298,000 during the current 
year.  

 
As of September 30, 2013, the amount remaining to be paid on grants awarded was 
$1,067,600. Of this amount, $975,966 was awarded in 2013 and $91,635 was awarded in 
2012.  As of September 30, 2012, the amount remaining to be paid on grants awarded 
was $743,520. Of this amount, $537,030 was awarded in 2012 and $206,490 was 
awarded in 2011. 
 
Deferred Rent Credits - Deferred rent credits were established in conjunction with 
taking possession of new leased office space in 2003. The landlord abated a portion of 
the monthly rent and made cash disbursements to NCSBN in connection with the lease. 
These amounts are amortized to reduce rent expense over the term of the lease period 
ending January 31, 2013. The term of the lease was extended for the period beginning on 
February 1, 2013 and ending on April 30, 2022. The landlord agreed to reimburse 
NCSBN for tenant improvement costs related to the lease extension. These amounts 
will be amortized to reduce rent expense over the term of the lease period ending      
April 30, 2022.  
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2013 and 2012 

10 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
  

Statement of Cash Flows - For purposes of the statement of cash flows, NCSBN 
considers all marketable securities as investments. Cash includes only monies held on 
deposit at banking institutions and petty cash. It does not include cash held for others.  

 
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses and other 
changes in net assets during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

 
Subsequent Events - NCSBN has evaluated subsequent events through December 3, 
2013, the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
Reclassifications - Certain amounts included in the statement of position for the year 
ended September 30, 2012 have been classified to conform to the classifications used    
for the year ended September 30, 2013. The change in classification is a result of     
presenting merchant credit card charges in transit of $2,040 as accounts payable as of 
September 30, 2012. 
 

Note 3 - Income Tax 
 

NCSBN is a tax-exempt organization as described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code (the Code) and is exempt from federal income taxes on income related 
to its exempt purpose pursuant to Section 501(a) of the Code and has been classified as 
an organization which is not a private foundation under Section 509(a). Accordingly, the 
accompanying financial statements do not reflect income taxes. 

 
NCSBN’s application of GAAP regarding uncertain tax positions had no effect on its 
financial position, as management believes NCSBN has no material unrecognized income 
tax benefits, including any potential risk of loss of its not-for-profit status. NCSBN would 
account for any potential interest or penalties related to possible future liabilities for 
unrecognized income tax benefits as interest, which would be included in the statement 
of activities supporting services management and general expenses. NCSBN is no longer 
subject to examination by federal, state, or local tax authorities for periods before 2010. 
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2013 and 2012 

11 

Note 4 - Cash Concentrations 
 

The cash balance as of September 30, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the following: 
 

2013 2012
JPMorgan Chase:

Checking account 946,787$           672,578$         
Money market account 1,451,066          6,245,060        
Savings account 13,039,616        7,510,459        

Wells Fargo Bank - Checking account 156,740             8,200               
Harris Bank - Money market account 15,061,726        14,971,988      
Credit card merchant accounts 12,240               56,064             
Petty cash 373                    427                  

Total 30,668,548$      29,464,776$    

 

NCSBN maintains cash balances at various financial institutions. As of January 1, 2013, all 
cash accounts have Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance coverage of 
$250,000 through participating institutions.  NCSBN has not experienced any losses in 
such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash. 
 

Note 5 - Fair Value Measurements  
 

Accounting standards require certain assets and liabilities be reported at fair value in the 
financial statements and provide a framework for establishing that fair value.  The 
framework for determining fair value is based on a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs 
and valuation techniques used to measure fair value. 
 
The following table presents information about NCBSN’s assets measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis at September 30, 2013 and 2012, and the valuation techniques used 
by NCSBN to determine those fair values. 
 
Fair values determined by Level 1 inputs use quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the organization has the ability to access. 
 
Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs use other inputs that are observable, either 
directly or indirectly.  These Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and 
liabilities in active markets, and other inputs such as interest rates and yield curves that 
are observable at commonly quoted intervals. 
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2013 and 2012 

12 

Note 5 - Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 
 
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs, including inputs that are available in situations 
where there is little, if any, market activity for the related asset.  These Level 3 fair value 
measurements are based primarily on management’s own estimates using models, 
discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques taking into account the 
characteristics of the asset. 
 
NCSBN currently uses no Level 3 inputs. 
 
In instances whereby inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the 
above fair value hierarchy, fair value measurements in their entirety are categorized 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the valuation.  NCSBN’s assessment 
of the significance of particular inputs to these fair value measurements requires 
judgment and considers factors specific to each asset or liability. 
 

Fair Value Measurements as of Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Fair Values Markets for Other Significant

as of Identical Observable Unobservable
September 30, Assets Inputs Inputs

2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Fixed income:
U.S. government obligations:

U.S. Treasury notes and bonds 21,921,234$        21,921,234$      -$                 -$                 
Treasury inflation-protected securities 7,716,023            7,716,023          -                   -                   

Government agency obligations:
Zero coupon bonds 1,317,355            -                     1,317,355         -                   
U.S. agency fixed rate notes and bonds 2,631,796            -                     2,631,796         -                   
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Pool 645,106               -                     645,106            -                   
Federal National Mortgage Association Pool 2,981,112            -                     2,981,112         -                   
Government National Mortgage Association Pool 206,538               -                     206,538            -                   
Other agency loan pool 9,753,716            -                     9,753,716         -                   

Corporate bonds:
Corporate bonds - Fixed 15,267,490          -                     15,267,490       -                   
Corporate bonds - Variable 80,618                 -                     80,618              -                   
Corporate CMO 588,836               -                     588,836            -                   
Corporate ABS 1,629,598            -                     1,629,598         -                   

Mutual funds:
Mortgage-backed fixed-income mutual fund 8,621,410            8,621,410          -                   -                   
Developed market institutional fund 6,165,593            6,165,593          -                   -                   
Institutional index fund 35,521,338          35,521,338        -                   -                   
Small-cap Index-Institutional fund 16,012,241          16,012,241        -                   -                   
Other 114,392               114,392             -                   -                   

International equity fund - Limited liability company 4,074,383            -                     4,074,383         -                   
Real estate investment trust 6,264,956            -                     6,264,956         -                   

Total 141,513,735$      96,072,231$      45,441,504$     -$                 

Description
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2013 and 2012 

13 

Note 5 - Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements as of Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Fair Values Markets for Other Significant

as of Identical Observable Unobservable
September 30, Assets Inputs Inputs

2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Fixed income:
U.S. government obligations:

U.S. Treasury notes and bonds 21,689,370$        21,689,370$      -$                 -$                 
Treasury inflation-protected securities 8,029,726            8,029,726          -                   -                   

Government agency obligations:
Zero coupon bonds 1,312,439            -                     1,312,439         -                   
U.S. Agency Fixed Rate Notes and Bonds 3,891,871            -                     3,891,871         -                   
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Pool 634,296               -                     634,296            -                   
Federal National Mortgage Association Pool 2,960,002            -                     2,960,002         -                   
Government National Mortgage Association Pool 308,471               -                     308,471            -                   
Other agency loan pool 10,701,599          -                     10,701,599       -                   

Corporate bonds:
Corporate bonds - Fixed 13,884,648          -                     13,884,648       -                   
Corporate CMO and CMBS 29,775                 -                     29,775              -                   
Real estate investment trust bonds backed 1,468,204            -                     1,468,204         -                   
Corporate ABS 801,014               -                     801,014            -                   

Mutual funds:
Spartan Extended Market Index Fund 10,817,821          10,817,821        -                   -                   
Spartan International Index Fund 4,922,281            4,922,281          -                   -                   
DWS Equity 500 Index Fund 31,534,834          31,534,834        -                   -                   
Mortgage-backed fixed-income mutual fund 9,091,465            9,091,465          -                   -                   
Other 97,017                 97,017               -                   -                   

International equity fund - Limited liability company 3,716,130            -                     3,716,130         -                   
Real estate investment trust 5,650,248            -                     5,650,248         -                   

Total 131,541,211$      86,182,514$      45,358,697$     -$                 

Description

 
 

Not included in the above table is $1,271,247 and $498,281 in money market accounts 
as of September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 
 

 Level 1  
 

Fixed Income - The estimated fair values for NCSBN’s U.S. government obligations 
were based on quoted market prices in an active market.  

 
Mutual Funds - The estimated fair values for NCSBN’s marketable mutual funds were 
based on quoted market prices in an active market. 
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2013 and 2012 

14 

Note 5 - Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 
 

Level 2  
 

Government Agency Obligations and Corporate Bonds - Fixed-income securities 
are valued by benchmarking model-derived prices to quoted market prices and trade 
data for identical or comparable securities. To the extent that quoted prices are not 
available, fair value is determined based on a valuation model that includes inputs such as 
interest rate yield curves and credit spreads. Securities traded in markets that are not 
considered active are valued based on quoted market prices, broker or dealer 
quotations, or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency.  

 
International Equity Fund - Limited Liability Company - The estimated fair value of 
the international equity fund is based on net asset value, which is determined by 
reference to the fund’s underlying assets and liabilities. NCSBN has a restricted 
redemption period of 10 days. 

 
Real Estate Investment Trust - The estimated fair value of the real estate investment 
trust was based on net asset value, which is determined by reference to the fund’s 
underlying assets and liabilities. NCSBN has a restricted redemption period of 90 days. 
The organization considers the 90-day period to be redeemable at September 30, 2013. 

 
Investments in Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share 
 
NCSBN holds shares or interests in investment companies at year end where the fair 
value of the investment held is estimated based on the net asset value per share (or its 
equivalent) of the investment company. 
 
At year end, the fair value unfunded commitments and redemption rules of those 
investments are as follows: 

 
Fair Values Redemption

as of Frequency
September 30, Unfunded (If Currently Redemption

2013 Commitments Eligible) Notice Period

International equity fund: 
     Limited liability company (a) 4,074,383$     -$               Monthly 10 days
     Real estate investment (b) 6,264,956       -                 Quarterly 90 days
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Note 5 - Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 
 

Fair Values Redemption
as of Frequency

September 30, Unfunded (If Currently Redemption
2012 Commitments Eligible) Notice Period

International equity fund: 
     Limited liability company (a) 3,716,130$     -$               Monthly 10 days
     Real estate investment (b) 5,650,248       -                 Quarterly 90 days

 
(a) The international equity fund invests in equity securities of issuers, which are organized, 

headquartered, or domiciled in any country included in the Europe Australasia Far East Index (the 
“EAFE Index”), or whose principal listing is on a securities exchange in any country included in the 
EAFE Index. Under normal conditions, the fund will invest in a minimum of 30 issuers and is restricted 
from investing more than 10 percent of its total assets in the equity securities of any single issuer.  

 
(b) The real estate investment trust represents an ownership interest in a private equity fund. The real 

estate investment trust invests in a diversified portfolio of primarily institutional quality real estate 
assets within the United States. The fund has a long-term investment objective of delivering an             
8-10 percent total return over a market cycle. All portfolio assets are acquired through Clarion Lion 
Properties Fund Holdings, L.P., a limited partnership. The properties within the portfolio are valued 
on a quarterly basis to establish market value estimates of the fund’s assets for the purpose of 
establishing the fund’s net asset value. Ownership interests and redemptions are calculated based 
upon net asset value. The values of the properties are established in accordance with the fund’s 
independent property valuation policy. Each property is appraised by third-party appraisal firms 
identified and supervised by an independent appraisal management firm retained by the investment 
manager. Shares will be redeemed at the net asset value at the last day of the calendar quarter 
immediately preceding the redemption date. 

 
Note 6 - Property and Equipment 
 
 The composition of property and equipment as of September 30, 2013 and 2012 is as 

follows: 
  

2013 2012
Property and equipment:

Furniture and equipment 1,983,974$          1,924,712$        
Course development costs 601,165               461,429             
Computer hardware and software 22,472,350          20,577,931        
Leasehold improvements 1,852,695            1,852,695          

Total 26,910,184          24,816,767        

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (21,925,300)         (19,716,978)       

Net property and equipment 4,984,884$          5,099,789$        
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Note 6 - Property and Equipment (Continued) 
   
 Depreciation was $2,292,382 and $2,409,043 for the years ended September 30, 2013 

and 2012, respectively. Amortization expense on the intangible asset is not included in 
the above amount. 

 
Note 7 - Operating Lease 
 
 In 2011, NCSBN amended its current lease agreement for office space. The term of the 

lease is extended for the period beginning February 1, 2013 and will expire on April 30, 
2022. The following is a summary by year of future minimum lease payments required 
under the office lease as of September 30, 2013: 

 
Year Ending 

  September 30  Amount

2014 605,165$        
2015 622,252          
2016 639,339          
2017 656,426          
2018 673,513          

Thereafter 2,551,659       

Total 5,748,354$     
 

 
Rent expense for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $588,078 and 
$560,339, respectively. Property taxes and common area maintenance expenses for the 
years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 were $488,575 and $442,597, respectively. 

 
Note 8 - Retirement Plans 
 

NCSBN maintains a 403(b) defined contribution pension plan covering all employees 
who complete six months of employment. Contributions are made at 8 percent of 
participants’ compensation. NCSBN’s policy is to fund accrued pension contributions. 
Retirement plan expense was $708,303 and $614,307 for the years ended September 30, 
2013 and 2012, respectively. 

 
In the year ended September 30, 2007, NCSBN instituted a 457(b) nonqualified deferred 
compensation plan covering an employee with a contractual arrangement. The benefits 
under the plan are contingent upon completion of contractual obligations and are valued 
on an annual basis to reflect the return on NCSBN’s investments.  
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Note 9 - Commitments 
 
  NCSBN has entered into contracts for services and accommodations for future 

meetings. These contracts include penalty clauses which would require NCSBN to pay 
certain amounts if a meeting was canceled or guarantees for room blocks are not 
fulfilled. As of September 30, 2013, the requirements to fulfill these commitments were 
$238,906. 

 
  NCSBN has also entered into a contract for future services. As of September 30, 2013, 

the requirement to fulfill this commitment was $262,500. 
 
Note 10 - Other Cash Flow Information 
 

As of September 30, 2013, $64,596 of fixed asset purchases were included in accounts 
payable.  As of September 30, 2012, $89,422 of leasehold improvement purchases were 
included in accounts payable. 
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Members
Linda D. Burhans, PhD, RN,  
NEA-BC, CPHQ, FRE 
North Carolina, Area III, Chair 

Jessie M. Colin, PhD, RN, FRE, 
FAAN 
Florida, Area III 

Bonita E. Jenkins, EdD, RN, CNE 
District of Columbia, Area IV

Lois Kazmier Halstead, PhD, RN 
Illinois, Area I

Wendy Winslow, MSN, RN, FCCHL 
British Columbia-PN,  
Associate Member 

Linda J. Young, MS, RN, BC, FRE 
South Dakota, Area II

Staff
Linda L. Olson, PhD, MSN, MBA, 
RN, NEA-BC, IRE Associate, 
Nursing Regulation

Lindsey Gross, Coordinator, 
Nursing Regulation 

Meeting Dates
��Oct. 7-8, 2013

�� Jan. 10, 2014 (Conference Call)

��March 24-25, 2014

Relationship to  
Strategic plan

Strategic Initiative C

Expand the active engagement 
and leadership potential of all 
members.

Strategic Objective 6

Build the regulatory expertise of 
members through the Institute of 
Regulatory Excellence. 

Report of the institute of Regulatory excellence 
(iRe) Committee

Background
The IRE Fellowship program, a four-year professional development program for board of nursing 
(BON) members and staff, celebrated its 10th anniversary at the Annual IRE Conference in January 
2014. This program, which requires the application of the research process and evidence-based 
concepts to decision making and leadership, is designed to prepare the fellowship participants 
to contribute to the science of nursing regulation through completion of a substantive project. 
The IRE Fellowship program is open to board members and staff, as well as to associate 
board members and staff. Participants choose a mentor with expertise in their area of interest, 
participate in networking activities and attend four annual IRE conferences. There are currently 
36 active participants in the fellowship program; six will officially complete their fellowship in 
2014, present their projects through a poster presentation, and be awarded their Fellowship of 
Regulatory Excellence (FRE) certificates and pins at the 2014 NCSBN Annual Meeting. Current 
IRE Fellows and those who have completed the program as FREs represent 30 states and five 
provinces in Canada. There is an active and enhanced interest by board members and staff in 
participating in the IRE Fellowship program, as evidenced by the increase in applications over 
the past four years. Several IRE fellows have continued to communicate and disseminate the 
results of their IRE projects to various audiences, and have used their projects to contribute to 
the work of their BONs. 

The numbers of current participants in the IRE Fellowship program are as follows:

�� Year 4 (2011 cohort, class of 2014): six Fellows 

�� Year 3 (2012 cohort, class of 2015): 12 Fellows 

�� Year 2 (2013 cohort, class of 2016): nine Fellows 

�� Year 1 (2014 cohort, class of 2017): nine Fellows 

highlights of FY14 Activities
Charge #1: Select 2014 IRE Fellows and mentors, and approve project proposals and final 
reports.

�� At the IRE Committee meeting in October 2013, nine new participants were accepted. 
The 2014 cohort (class of 2017) represents nine member boards from five states and four 
Canadian provinces. 

�� The 2014 IRE participants are actively involved in either selecting a mentor or identifying 
potential mentors by the end of 2014. 

�� IRE Fellows gave oral presentations on their projects at the Annual IRE Conference in 
January. 

�� Graduating fellows will complete a research project to be showcased at the 2014 Annual 
Meeting. 

�� Several of the participants who completed the IRE Fellowship program are involved in 
disseminating their results through presentations at local, national and international 
conferences, including presentations at the 2014 NCSBN Scientific Symposium by three IRE 
Fellows. Two Fellows conducted podium presentations at the 2013 International Council of 
Nurses (ICN) Conference in Australia. 
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�� The following individuals will be inducted as Fellows at the 2014 Annual Meeting:

�� Gillian Lemermeyer, MN, RN, policy associate, College of Registered Nurses of Alberta

�� Suzanne Wowchuk, MN, RN, director, Registration & Professional Conduct, College of 
Registered Nurses of Manitoba 

�� Erin Tilley, MN, RN, policy analyst, College of Nurses of Ontario

�� Carllene MacMillan, DNP, MN, CNAA, board member, Louisiana State Board of Nursing

�� Paula Meyer, MSN, RN, executive director, Washington State Nursing Care Quality 
Assurance Commission

�� Susan Wong, MBA, MPA, RN, former chair, Washington State Nursing Care Quality 
Assurance Commission

Charge #2: Explore and develop strategies to continue engagement of inducted IRE 
Fellows. 

�� Inviting IRE Fellows to serve as formal mentor for IRE participants or as informal mentor  
(“IRE buddy”).

�� Inviting IRE Fellows to serve as speakers at annual IRE Conference. 

�� Inviting IRE Fellows to serve as resources at IRE preconference (as consultants to IRE 
participants).

�� Hosting a reunion at the Annual IRE Conference for IRE Fellows, with recommendation to 
use resource funds for their attendance. 

�� Serving as speakers on Leadership Succession Committee (LSC) Leadership Development 
calls and authors for Leadership Perspectives column in In Focus.

�� Strengthen dissemination by encouraging publication, and presenting other forms of 
communication of findings to internal and external audiences. This dissemination strategy 
has been added to the IRE Handbook as a recommended activity postinduction as an FRE. 

�� Hosting an exhibit table at both the NCSBN Midyear Meeting and Annual Meeting, with 
prominent displays of IRE Fellows’ posters at the Annual Meeting. Invite inducted IRE 
Fellows to participate at the display tables. 

Future Activities
�� Select 2015 IRE Fellows and approve project proposals and reports.

�� Implement strategies for engagement of inducted Fellows and promote active involvement 
in NCSBN activities. 

�� Host a reunion of inducted IRE Fellows at the 2015 Annual IRE Conference.

Attachments
None.
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Members
Peggy C. Walters, EdD, MSN, 
Med, NEA-BC 
North Carolina, Area III, Chair

Pamela Ambush-Burris, DNP, RN, 
FRE 
Maryland, Area IV

Rene Cronquist, JD, RN 
Minnesota, Area II

Debra Scott, MSN, RN, FRE 
Nevada, Area I

Ellen C. Watson, APRN, FNP-BC 
Vermont, Area IV

Catherine C. Woodard 
Washington, Area I

Pamela Randolph, MS, RN, FRE 
Arizona, Area I, LSC Liaison

Joe Baker, Jr. 
Florida, Area III, Board Liaison

Staff
Linda L. Olson, PhD, MSN, 
MBA, RN, NEA-BC, Institute of 
Regulatory Excellence Associate, 
Nursing Regulation 

Lindsey Gross, Coordinator, 
Nursing Regulation 

Meeting Dates
��Oct. 16-17, 2013

��Dec. 19-29, 2013

�� Feb. 3, 2014 (Conference Call)

�� Feb. 24, 2014 (Conference Call) 

��March 13, 2014

Relationship to  
Strategic plan

Strategic Initiative C

Expand the active engagement 
and leadership potential of all 
members.

Strategic Objective 3

Explore a structured method for 
leadership development. 

Report of the Leadership Academy Committee (LAC)

Background
The LAC was formed based upon the 2013 recommendation by the Leadership Succession 
Committee (LSC) to the Board of Directors (BOD) to form a committee to develop a business 
plan for the creation of a leadership academy. Through its ongoing work on recommending 
strategies for the ongoing sustainability and advancement of the organization through leadership 
succession planning, the LSC implemented an online leadership development plan, which 
includes leadership resources for boards of nursing, and links to both NCSBN resources and 
external resources. These are organized according to the three areas of early connectivity to 
NCSBN and its programs and resources, self-assessment of leadership knowledge and skills, and 
regulatory governance. Although the online Leadership Development Plan can be accessed by all 
members, it is difficult to accurately determine how many and who has accessed the information. 
In a survey and needs assessment, the LSC identified a gap between the need for leaders and 
the lack of a formal leadership program in nursing regulation that would also provide member 
recognition. There is a need for leaders at all levels of nursing regulation. Based on an assessment 
of existing leadership development programs offered by professional nursing organizations and 
by regulatory organizations, it was found that there are several formal programs for development 
of emerging leaders, developing leaders and advancing leaders. None of these leadership 
development programs focus specifically on leadership in nursing regulation. Therefore, the 
LSC recommended to the BOD that a leadership academy be developed. The BOD appointed 
the LAC and gave them the following charge: develop a business plan to create an NCSBN 
Leadership Academy.

highlights of FY14 Activities
�� The highlight for the LAC was the development of a business plan to create an NCSBN 

Leadership Academy. Activities included:

�� A review of the Leadership Development Plan that was created by the LSC, along with 
findings of LSC surveys conducted on member needs for leadership development. 

�� An assessment of current leadership development literature.

�� An environmental assessment using a SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and 
threats) analysis.

�� A review of professional organizations’ leadership activities and leadership academies.

�� Developing a foundation for a curriculum, along with plans for conducting an impact 
analysis of the leadership academy after its implementation.

Future Activities
�� Implement the proposed plan for a leadership academy.

Attachment
A. NCSBN Leadership Academy Business Plan 
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Attachment A

NCSBN Leadership Academy Business plan

ABStRACt 
As an outgrowth of a recommendation by the Leadership Succession Committee (LSC) to the 
NCSBN Board of Directors (BOD), the new Leadership Academy Committee (LAC) was organized 
with the charge to develop a business plan to create a leadership academy. This is designed to 
meet the need for leaders in nursing regulation, as well as to provide an avenue for members 
and staff of boards of nursing (BONs) to develop leadership skills. Ultimately, it is hoped that the 
participants of a leadership academy will not only contribute to their own BONs, but also contribute 
to NCSBN by participating on NCSBN committees and becoming candidates for elected office. 
The LAC undertook an environmental assessment using the strategy of a SWOT analysis, 
assessed what other professional organizations are doing to foster leadership development 
and developed a plan for a leadership academy. This one-year proposed academy would take 
place in three tiers and includes the components of engagement with NCSBN programs and 
resources, self-assessment of leadership knowledge and skills, and increasing knowledge of 
the concept of governance. The program, which specifically targets those board members and 
staff who are new to their roles or have less than five years of experience in nursing regulation, 
is designed to include a mentored experience by which participants choose a mentor, and 
participate in self-development and self-reflection activities and in organized learning activities. 
This would occur with the support and oversight of a designated professional staff member at 
NCSBN. The anticipated financial impact includes a professional staff person in a 0.5 full-time 
employee (FTE) role, as well as support staff in a 0.5 FTE role, along with additional expenditures 
for each leadership academy participant, for a total projected expense of approximately $4,000 
per participant. 

iNtRoDuCtioN
The NCSBN BOD formed the LAC, and provided the following charge: develop a business plan 
to create a leadership academy.

The idea for a leadership academy at NCSBN emerged from the work of the LSC. The charges 
of the LSC are to: 

1. Recommend strategies for the ongoing sustainability and advancement of the organization 
through leadership succession planning; and 

2. Present a slate of candidates through a determination of qualifications and geographic 
distribution for inclusion on a ballot for the election of the BOD and the LSC. 

At the end of its work in 2013, the LSC recommended that the BOD consider the creation of 
a leadership academy. The LSC further recommended that the BOD consider the creation of 
a special committee to develop the academy, which would include components with content 
addressing leadership principles and competencies. Therefore, the LAC was charged to 
accomplish the development of a business plan for an NCSBN Leadership Academy. 

hiStoRY oF LeADeRShip DeveLopMeNt At NCSBN
There is a need for leaders in nursing regulation. NCSBN offers opportunities for leadership 
development of executive officers (EOs) of BONs, such as a coaching program, leadership 
education days at formal meetings and the EO Scholarship Program. The Institute of Regulatory 
Excellence (IRE) is a four-year program for board members and staff who have a minimum of a 
master’s degree. Through the IRE, participants gain leadership skills, advance one’s regulatory 
knowledge and complete a project aimed at contributing to the science of nursing regulation. 
There are resource funds available for leadership development for board members and staff to 
participate in conferences and other activities to enhance their leadership skills. 
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The LSC developed an online leadership development plan, with links to internal and external 
resources about NCSBN, nursing regulation, leadership development and tools for assessing 
one’s leadership competencies. The NCSBN Interactive Services department offers several self-
directed learning courses, including NCSBN 101 and NCLEX 101, as well as specific topics related 
to nursing regulation. Although the online Leadership Development Plan can be accessed by all 
members, it is difficult to accurately determine how many and who has accessed the information. 

Special programs for EOs and IRE participants are not accessible to the entire membership. 
In a survey and needs assessment conducted by the LSC, the LSC identified a gap between 
the need for leaders and the lack of a formal leadership program in nursing regulation that 
would also provide member recognition. The online leadership development program that 
was developed by LSC contains valuable resources about NCSBN, its programs and materials, 
and about leadership self-assessment. Evaluation of membership participation in the program 
revealed that those accessing the program cannot be identified since there is no registration 
requirement, and the only measure of those accessing the program was through the numbers 
of “hits” to the website. A November 2012 survey of NCSBN membership (n=115 respondents) 
identified members’ needs that included a more structured leadership development program, 
specifically related to mentorship/preceptor support, online leadership content and structured 
feedback. Therefore, a need for a program in nursing regulation and leadership development, 
especially for board members and staff who are new to their roles and/or have less than five 
years of experience, was identified. The LSC also recognized the need to be able to identify and 
monitor those participants who have an interest in developing their leadership skills, as well as for 
providing a form of recognition and continuing education units (CEUs) for those who complete a 
leadership development program. The BOD accepted the recommendation of the LSC to form 
a committee to develop a business plan for the creation of a leadership academy to address this 
identified need. 

puRpoSe AND goALS oF A LeADeRShip ACADeMY 
The purpose of a leadership academy within NCSBN is to facilitate the leadership competencies 
and nursing regulatory expertise of BON members and staff through a defined program of 
leadership development. This can be viewed as a means to move NCSBN forward into the future 
through the proactive development of leaders. The vision underlying this initiative to provide 
a means by which all members and staff of BONs, especially those who are new to regulation 
or have less than five years of experience at their BONs, can enhance and develop leadership 
skills and knowledge of nursing regulation. The overall goals of the leadership academy are: (1) 
to facilitate an understanding of NCSBN, its programs, resources, and roles and responsibilities 
of appointed and elected NCSBN leaders; (2) to enhance the leadership knowledge and skills 
of academy participants through self-assessment activities, self-reflection and development 
of leadership skills; and (3) to provide participants the opportunity to observe the roles of 
leadership through attending the NCSBN Midyear Meeting and Annual Meeting. The Leadership 
Academy will benefit NCSBN, as well as the member boards, through development of academy 
participants’ leadership skills and knowledge of nursing regulation. It is also anticipated that 
some of the participants in the NCSBN Leadership Academy will go on to become members of 
NCSBN committees and ultimately to become candidates for NCSBN elected positions. 

exiStiNg LeADeRShip DeveLopMeNt pRogRAMS
As the nursing profession responds to transformations in the health care system and industry, 
it recognizes the need for ongoing development of current and future leaders. The Institute 
of Medicine (IOM) report, The Future of Nursing: Leading Change, Advancing Health (2010), 
recognizes the need for nurses at all levels and across all settings to have strong leadership 
skills. A 2009 Gallup poll of more than 1,500 opinion leaders identified that nurses, although they 
continue to be cited as members of the most trusted profession, should have greater influence 
over the quality of patient care and patient safety (RWJF, 2010). These national studies provided 
the impetus for the creation of programs to develop the leadership knowledge and skills of 
professional nurses in all roles and settings. 
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In a thorough review of the leadership development programs offered by professional nursing 
organizations, as well as by regulatory organizations, it was found that there are several formal 
programs for development of emerging leaders, developing leaders and advanced leaders. 
The well-known leadership development programs are the American Nurses Association (ANA) 
Leadership Institute; the Association of Nurse Executives (AONE) Emerging Nurse Leader 
Institute and Nurse Manager Fellowship; the Sigma Theta Tau International (STTI) Leadership 
Academies for Nurse Faculty; STTI: Geriatric Nursing Leadership Academy; Maternal Child Health 
Leadership Academy; and Board Leadership Institute. The National League for Nursing (NLN) 
and the American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN) each have leadership programs for 
faculty and deans of schools of nursing. Others include the Wharton Nursing Leaders Program, 
the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Executive Nurse Fellows Program and Health Policy 
Fellowship Program, and the Center for Creative Leadership (CCL) Fundamentals of Leadership 
program (see Appendix A). 

The Council on Licensure, Enforcement and Regulation (CLEAR) and the Federation of Associations 
of Regulatory Boards (FARB) provide programs on regulatory leadership. As an association that 
consists of agencies of professional and occupational regulators, CLEAR’s executive leadership 
program is a three-day workshop that can be hosted by a sponsor at their sites and focuses on 
various activities to enhance regulatory leadership. The FARB Executive Leadership Program 
for Regulators focuses on relationships with stakeholders, mastering the art of negotiation, and 
identifying and understanding the types and styles of regulatory leadership. Although CLEAR 
and FARB do offer programs on regulatory leadership, these programs do not focus specifically 
on nursing regulation, and are not accessible to all levels of BON members and staff. 

Based on this analysis of leadership programs offered by other professional organizations and 
groups, it is concluded that the proposed NCSBN Leadership Academy meets a need of the 
membership that is not met by other programs. NCSBN’s proposed leadership development 
program fills a gap in leadership development (that of enhancing the leadership skills of NCSBN 
board members and staff) and focuses on nursing regulation. The NCSBN Leadership Academy 
is focused on regulatory leadership development. The academy would be available for all BON 
members and staff, specifically those new to their roles and with less than five years of experience 
in nursing regulation. 

eNviRoNMeNtAL ASSeSSMeNt
An environmental assessment is a strategic review of past, current and future performance, as well 
as of opportunities and of internal and external forces and factors that can affect performance 
(Sare & Ogilvie, 2009). The SWOT analysis is an acronym for strengths, weaknesses, opportunities 
and threats. To assist in developing a plan for a leadership academy, an environmental assessment 
using a SWOT analysis was done. The internal environmental assessment includes the strengths 
and weaknesses of NCSBN relative to the creation of a leadership academy, and the external 
environmental assessment includes opportunities and threats. The strengths are based on values, 
knowledge, abilities and what the organization does well; the weaknesses are factors that can 
impede or diminish the quality of work. A threat is a limitation or occurrence that, if allowed to 
continue, could produce significant untoward consequences (DeSilets & Dickerson, 2008). 

In assessing the internal strengths of NCSBN that could support the success of a leadership 
academy, the following were identified: (1) name recognition; (2) strong history and reputation; 
(3) respect as a visionary organization in advancing nursing regulation; and (4) strong finances, 
information technology, marketing and human resources to support the academy. Some of the 
external opportunities are recognized as follows: (1) ability to meet the leadership development 
needs of a target population that fills a gap that other programs do not meet, that of nursing 
regulation; (2) a growing group of qualified potential applicants that have been identified by the 
LSC; (3) would complement the IRE program by developing a group of members who would not 
ordinarily be able to access the IRE program; (4) participants in the leadership academy would 
develop their skills and abilities related to nursing regulation and governance, as well as to roles 
within NCSBN; and (5) there is potential for increased retention of leaders in the workplace and 
as members and staff of BONs. Limitations (internal weaknesses) for participants in the academy 
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include budgetary issues (personal and BON), family commitments, job responsibilities, controlled 
enrollment of potential applicants, travel constraints, cost of participating in the program, time 
constraints, and board member and staff turnover. The external threat related to the existence 
of a competing program can actually be considered an opportunity since there are no other 
leadership development programs that focus specifically on nursing regulation. 

eNviRoNMeNtAL ASSeSSMeNt/SWot ANALYSiS
STRENGTHS 

�� NCSBN

�� Strong history, reputation, brand name recognition within the nursing community 

�� Well respected

�� A visionary organization 

�� Support advancing nursing leadership

�� Excellence in planning and implementing educational conferences 

�� A leader in nursing regulation 

�� Tangible resources – capital, recognition, informational technology

�� Marketing and communication 

�� Quality product

�� Financial strength

WEAKNESSES

�� State budgetary issues

�� Cost of program

�� Intangible resources – family commitments, job responsibilities, staffing issues 

�� Travel constraints

�� Limited, restricted enrollment qualifications of applicants employed in nursing regulation

�� BON terms/termination

�� BON staff turnover

�� EO turnover

OPPORTUNITIES

�� In alignment with IOM report (2010) supporting leadership academy implementation

�� In alignment with IOM report (2010) supporting new style of nursing leadership and 
leadership competencies being established

�� Education/curriculum dedicated to regulation

�� Target dedicated market of potential applicants

�� Growing (expansion) market of qualified potential applicants 

�� Growth of strategic relationships with invested stakeholders 

�� Complement of leadership succession and IRE fellowship program

�� Recognition given to nursing leaders enhancing promotion at workplace

�� Potential for increasing retention of nurse leaders in workplace environments
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�� Develop skills and abilities relating to BON compositions, governance roles, expectations 
and responsibilities

�� No certification program in nursing regulation, thus leading to opportunity for certification

THREATS

�� Competitive market of models of nursing leadership academies

�� Technology proficiency

�� Models of care of delivery that do not embrace the advancement of leadership in nursing 
(IOM, 2010)

�� Regulatory mandates 

�� Aging workforce of nurse leaders (IOM, 2010)

�� Lack of interest

�� Models for regulatory leadership development are nonexistent

pRopoSeD CuRRiCuLuM CoNteNt AND StRuCtuRe 
The NCSBN Leadership Academy is proposed to be structured in a year-long time frame, with a 
program of activities organized into the categories of Engagement (Tier 1), Assessment (Tier 2) 
and Governance (Tier 3) (See Appendix C). It is proposed that the program begin in September 
of each year, with Tier 1 taking place from September through November, Tier 2 from January 
through March and Tier 3 from May through August. The program is specifically directed at 
novice leaders in nursing regulation, who have less than five years of experience in nursing 
regulation. It is expected that participants complete all three tiers. The NCSBN Leadership 
Academy is designed to accommodate 10 to 12 participants each year. Participation is open to 
BON members and staff through an online application process. The program would be overseen 
by a 0.5 FTE NCSBN professional staff member who will interact with participants by reviewing 
their activities, leading the learning activities and monitoring their progress. Each participant 
will choose a mentor, preferably from their own BON who will also monitor their progress and 
provide ongoing guidance and feedback. The mentor would be someone at the participant’s 
own BON who is willing to offer knowledge, insight and perspective, and to develop a collegial 
relationship with the participant. 

LeADeRShip ACADeMY oBJeCtiveS
Upon successful completion of all requirements in the 12-month program, the participant will be 
able to:

1. Discuss the mission and vision of the participant’s BON and NCSBN;

2. Identify the nature of the relationship between the participant’s BON and NCSBN;

3. Apply concepts of leadership to regulatory experiences; 

4. Identify and utilize tools and behaviors to increase leadership effectiveness;

5. Promote effective governance within a regulatory agency;

6. Plan an effective campaign for elected office; and

7. Demonstrate leadership learning and insights through the process of journaling.
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The proposed NCSBN Leadership Academy curriculum and activities are outlined in three tiers 
as follows:

Tier 1: Engagement (September, October, November)
Participants will:

�� Complete NCSBN 101 and NCLEX 101

�� Identify and work with a mentor

�� Participate in learning activities, such as leadership academy webinars and conference calls

�� Read journal articles and books on leadership themes

�� Maintain a personal reflection journal 

Time commitment: approximately 15 hours

Tier 2: Assessment (January, February, March)
Participants will:

�� Complete personality and leadership assessment tools: 

�� Emotional Intelligence (Bradberry & Greaves, 2009) 

�� Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI) 

�� Strengths-finder Assessment (Rath, 2007)

�� Continue to work with a mentor

�� Participate in learning activities, such as NCSBN Leadership Academy webinars and 
conference calls

�� Join a member call-in for a board meeting

�� Attend NCSBN Midyear Meeting

�� Read journal articles on leadership and a self-selected book on leadership 

Time commitment: approximately 15 hours, plus attendance at Midyear Meeting activities 

Tier 3: Governance (May, June, July, August)
Participants will:

�� Complete Governing Responsibly course

�� Continue to work with a mentor

�� Join in a member call-in to a NCSBN board meeting

�� Read articles and books on effective governance, leadership development and the fiscal 
responsibilities of leaders

�� Attend NCSBN Annual Meeting

�� Attend the new delegate orientation

�� Present a mock campaign speech in a special session for academy participants 

�� Receive a certificate upon successful completion of the NCSBN Leadership Academy 

Time commitment: approximately 15 hours, plus attendance at Annual Meeting activities 
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iMpLeMeNtAtioN AND MANAgeMeNt
The NCSBN designated staff member will provide the oversight of the leadership development 
academy, including selection of participants, monitoring of participants’ activities and progress, 
and ongoing evaluation of the program. In order to assist in the participant leadership self-
assessment activities, the leadership development activity coordinator will complete the necessary 
training to conduct the MBTI assessments. The coordinator will also plan and implement the 
activities associated with the leadership development academy, such as conference calls, webinars 
and the proposed half-day leadership training during the Midyear and Annual Meetings for 
academy participants. The coordinator will also prepare the applications for obtaining continuing 
education credits that will be awarded at the end of each of the three tiers of the program, as well 
as the certificate of completion for participants who complete the entire program. 

iMpACt ANALYSiS: evALuAtioN AND MeASuReMeNt
The impact of conducting a leadership academy upon participants, as well as on NCSBN, is 
important to consider. Factors include the actual cost of the program, and whether there is an 
impact on other projects and programs. A positive impact would be attracting new staff and 
leaders to NCSBN, as well as to the participants’ BONs. The LAC recommends that goals be set 
for the number of participants (10-12 per year) and the number of participants who complete the 
entire program. It is expected that participants in the program will complete all three tiers and 
that some will subsequently seek elected and/or appointed positions within NCSBN. Tracking 
the number of program graduates as to future involvement with serving in a leadership role on a 
BON or on NCSBN committees will be documented through a survey.

It is recommended that program participants complete a survey identifying their leadership 
skills and areas for development prior to the beginning of each tier of the academy, and also 
complete a postparticipation survey. The evaluation will seek feedback regarding the format 
of the academy, the topics covered, the time commitment required, the degree to which their 
objectives were met and suggestions for modifications to the program. The committee also 
recommends postparticipation surveys at two and six months after program completion to 
assess the participants’ self-perceived preparation for leadership positions and opportunities, 
to use the knowledge and skills gained by participation in the NCSBN Leadership Academy. 
The survey would also query reasons for participation in, as well as lack of, in BON and NCSBN 
leadership roles and activities. The per capita cost of the program, by calculating the cost of 
providing the program divided by the number of participants per year, will also be used as an 
outcome measure (See Appendix B).  

MARKetiNg pLAN 
The marketing plan reflects the following elements and specific marketing strategies. 

Market dynamics – Many nursing professional organizations offer leadership academies to 
promote and develop leadership within the organization. The market reflects the popularity of 
these programs as organizations advertise to members and nonmembers on their websites. 

Customers – The program is designed for development of internal participants in the program; 
these participants would be member board staff and board members.

Product – Other organizations offer a plethora of program types from continuing education 
sessions to programs several months to two years in length. Most are directed to leadership within 
that particular organization or in a specific sector of nursing. To date, there is no competition, as 
no program was found for leadership development related to the regulation of nursing practice. 

Potential utilization of the academy – The LSC recommended to the BOD that a Leadership 
Academy Business Plan be created to outline a program that would develop participants for 
leadership roles in NCSBN. 
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Benchmarks – It is proposed that 10-12 participants will begin in fall 2015, with an anticipated 
outcome of a majority seeking elected or appointed leadership roles within two years after 
program completion. A sustained enrollment of 10-12 participants per cohort is anticipated with 
one cohort starting each year. Therefore, it is anticipated that within two years of the first group 
completing the program, there will be a steady cadre of individuals who would be prepared and 
willing to serve in a leadership capacity at NCSBN.

Target Market – This program is unique as there are no other leadership programs in the country 
that focus on nursing regulation. The body of participants is well defined and will come from the 
sustaining sources of member board/associate member staff and board members.

Product description – The program is structured to facilitate an understanding of NCSBN and the 
roles and responsibilities of those who serve. This will include a series of self-assessment activities 
and development of leadership skills to prepare the participant to assume leadership roles and 
participate in leadership activities. 

Competition – Other leadership programs exist, but are not designed to address the needs of 
NCSBN and are not specific to nursing regulation. 

MARKetiNg StRAtegieS
�� Identification of potential participants through member board leadership 

�� Direct/personal contact with those identified through letters directed to those who express 
an interest or targeted by executive directors for development and participation

�� Brochures outlining the program for prospective participants 

�� Poster/booth presentation at Midyear and Annual Meetings; tables at NCSBN events

�� Promotion through print media, directories and the NCSBN website will be used as 
mediums for advertising to increase awareness of the NCSBN Leadership Academy

�� Written articles to be featured in NCSBN publications

�� Publicity/press releases from NCSBN 

�� Website page for the academy

�� Positioning and branding will be determined by the overall benefit of the program to 
NCSBN 

�� It is anticipated the number of participants running for offices and positions on committees 
at NCSBN will increase over the next five years 

�� The program of preparation, participation and continued succession aims to have well-
prepared members in leadership roles to conduct the business of NCSBN 

�� Budget resources for the program will be available to support the program 

�� Marketing goals will be to fill a cohort of participants per year who commit to running for 
positions/offices and committee membership for NCSBN within two years of program 
completion

BuDget
The NCSBN Leadership Academy is designed as a one-year program with funding by NCSBN. 
Participants and member boards will not be assessed any program expenses. The cost of the 
program reflects three areas of expenses: program material resources, program human resources 
and program participant expenditures. 
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Program Material Resources Program Human Resources
Program Participant 

Expenditures 

 � Marketing materials

 � Webinars (license)

 � Conference calls

 � Books and journals

 � Three assessment tools

 � Office supplies

 � CEUs (no charge)

 � Program coordinator

 � Program staff assistant

 � Guest speakers

 � Marketing

 � Training for assessment 
tools 

 � CEUs (no charge)

 � Three program session 
meetings: Tier 1, Tier 2 
and Tier 3

 � Attendance at Midyear 
Meeting and Annual 
Meeting

 � CEUs (no charge)

Program Human Resources (not included in budget)

Program Coordinator: 0.5 FTE (preferred qualifications of a master of science degree with 
education experience) 

Support Staff: 0.5 FTE

Budget

Resources Needed                                     Projected First Year Cost

Training for staff Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI) 
certification: (plus travel if not in Chicago location)

$1,600

Budget for Leadership Academy Participants (Starting 2015):

Tier 1: Engagement

Developing the Leader Within You by J. Maxwell $15

Harvard Business Review’s Getting the Mentoring You Need $45

Tier 2: Assessment

Emotional Intelligence book and tool $50

Strengths-Finders book and tool $90

MBTI $50

Attendance at Midyear Meeting $1,500

Tier 3: Governance

Governance webinar speaker $150

Book on governance $70

Attendance at Annual Meeting $1,500

Total cost of materials per participant: $3,470

Total (not including staff):

10 participants: $34,700

12 participants: $41,640

Next StepS 
The LAC has completed a business plan to develop an NCSBN Leadership Academy, designed 
specifically for BON members and staff who are new to their roles or have less than five years of 
experience in nursing regulation. The next steps in development and implementation of this plan 
include the designation of NCSBN professional staff to serve as coordinator of the leadership 
academy. The LAC recommends NCSBN staff further refine the curriculum plan, develop 
content and activities, design an application process, and develop policies and procedures for 
implementation and evaluation of an NCSBN Leadership Academy. The LAC believes that the 
plan it has developed meets the recommendation of the LSC to create a plan for a leadership 
development academy at NCSBN. 
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Appendix A: Leadership Development programs 
Emerging

Program Location Cost Notes

ANA Leadership Institute A portfolio of live/
recorded online seminars 
(each worth two CEUs) 
and online self-paced 
courses (each worth five 
CEUs) 

Individual seminars: $45 
for ANA members/$60 
for nonmembers. Self-
paced courses: $110 for 
ANA members/$150 for 
nonmembers.

Programs are sold as 
seminars/series, as well 
as individually. Group 
discounts are available.

AONE Emerging Nurse 
Leader Institute

Three days: multiple 
locations.

$800 for AONE 
members/$900 for 
nonmembers. 

For nurse managers with 
less than six months 
experience.

Nursing Alliance 
Leadership Academy

Two days: Louisville, Ky. $350-$400, includes 
meals, but not lodging. 
Scholarships available.

Board leadership 
development for newly 
elected or emerging 
leaders.

Developing

Program Location Cost Notes

AACN - Leadership for 
Academic Nursing

One year: meetings in 
Colorado Springs, Co.

$2,650, includes lodging, 
meals and materials.

Leadership skills 
assessment, mentoring 
and networking.

ANA Leadership Institute Portfolio of live/recorded 
online seminars (worth 
two CEUs) and self-
paced courses (worth five 
CEUs).

Individual seminars: $45 
for ANA members/$60 
for nonmembers. Self-
paced courses: $110 for 
ANA members/$150 for 
nonmembers.

Programs are sold as 
seminars/series, as well 
as individually. Group 
discounts are available.

AONE Nurse Manager 
Fellowship

One year: Four five-day, 
in-person meetings, 
as well as webinars 
and online activities. 
Participants will complete 
a capstone project in 
process improvement or 
resource management.

$7,000, includes materials 
for all activities. Does not 
include meals, lodging or 
travel.

AONE Nurse Manager 
Institute

Three days: multiple 
locations.

$800 for AONE 
members/$900 for 
non-members; does not 
include lodging.

Nurse managers with 
more than six months 
experience.

Leadership Development 
Academy for Nurses 
and Nursing Home 
Administrators in Long-
term Care

Columbia, St. Louis, and 
Kansas City, Mo.

$650, does not include 
travel; scholarships 
available.

Nurses and 
administrators in long-
term care settings.

NLN – LEAD Program One year: in person 
seminars and meetings, 
online resources, 
webinars and mentoring.

$3,500 for NLN 
members/$4,500 for 
nonmembers.

Communication, 
leadership and 
management skills for 
nurse educators.
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Program Location Cost Notes

Nurse Manager Boot 
Camp

Cross Country Education 
in Brentwood, Tenn.: 
multiple sites. Training 
can also be arranged 
at participant's 
organization.

$3,245 per individual; 
group discounts 
available. Five days of 
skill-intensive training 
course.

Build practical and critical 
thinking skills related 
to preparation of nurse 
managers.

Robert Wood Johnson 
Foundation Nurse 
Faculty Scholars Program

Three years: project 
completed at home 
institution, required 
travel to conferences and 
workshops.

Participants are awarded 
$350,000 each over three 
years.

Provides junior faculty in 
academic nursing with 
mentorship, leadership 
training, and salary and 
research support.

Sigma Theta Tau 
International (STTI) – 
Nurse Faculty Leadership 
Academy

Leadership project 
completed at home 
institution, required 
travel to conferences and 
workshops.

Lodging, stipend 
and some travel for 
participant and mentor 
covered by STTI. Some 
activity fees may apply.

Mentored development 
for new nursing faculty 
(two to five years of 
experience) with senior 
nursing faculty to foster 
academic success, 
nurse faculty retention 
and satisfaction. STTI 
membership not 
required.

Strategic Leadership for 
Women

Five days: Simmons 
College in Boston, Ma.

$4,600 fee covers room, 
board and instructional 
materials.

Case studies, personal 
coaching and 
educational sessions for 
women in professional 
fields.

STTI: Geriatric Nursing 
Leadership Academy

Leadership project 
completed at home 
institution. Required 
travel to workshops and 
conference.

$500 registration fee for 
participant and mentor 
pair, plus travel and 
activity fees.

Participants work in 
mentor-mentee pairs at 
applicant's institution. 
International applicants 
are encouraged to apply. 
STTI membership not 
required.

Program Location Cost Notes

STTI: Maternal-Child 
Health Leadership 
Academy

Leadership project 
completed at home 
institution. Required 
travel to workshops, 
conferences.

$625 registration fee for 
participant and mentor 
pair, plus travel and 
activity fees.

Maternal-child health 
nurses and nurse 
midwives work in 
mentor-mentee pairs at 
applicant’s institution. 
International applicants 
are encouraged to apply. 
STTI membership not 
required.
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Advanced

Program Location Cost Notes

American Hospital 
Association/National 
Patient Safety Foundation 
– Comprehensive Patient 
Safety Leadership 
Fellowship

One year: required 
conference and 
attendance at four 
in-person meetings, 
webinars and online 
assessments.

$14,500 per person, 
group discounts 
available.

Each participant designs 
a quality improvement or 
patient safety project for 
implementation at home 
institution.

ANA Leadership Institute Two- or three-day 
immersion course on-
site at The Ohio State 
University (approximately 
21 CEUs).

$2,200 for ANA 
members/ $2,500 for 
nonmembers.

In addition to the in-
person instruction to 
prepare and enhance 
leadership competencies, 
each participant will 
receive a year of 
coaching to support the 
participant’s leadership 
action plan.

NLN – Senior Deans and 
Directors Leadership 
Program

One year: in person 
seminars and meetings, 
online resources, and 
mentoring.

$3,500 NLN 
members/$4,500 
nonmembers

Leadership skills 
assessment, 
organizational learning 
and communication skills.

Robert Wood Johnson 
Foundation Executive 
Nurse Fellows Program

Three years: participants 
remain at home 
institution and complete 
seminars, weekly 
webinars and personal 
development.

Stipend must be 
matched by employer.

Targets 20 leadership 
competencies focused 
on leading self, leading 
others, leading the 
organization, and leading 
in health care at local and 
national levels.

Robert Wood Johnson 
Foundation Health Policy 
Fellowship 

Minimum one year: on-
site in Washington, D.C.

Includes a stipend. Career development 
and education for health 
professionals and social 
scientists in health policy. 
Includes a 12-month 
policy fellowship.

STTI: Board Leadership 
Institute

Combines online 
activities and in-person 
seminar, location varies.

Cost varies depending 
on seminar location.

Prepares nurses to be 
leaders on national and 
international boards. 

Program Location Cost Notes

Wharton Nursing Leaders 
Program

University of 
Pennsylvania, 
Philadelphia, Pa.

$4,250 Addresses complexity 
of leading in current 
health care system, 
including how to 
influence behaviors of 
key stakeholders and 
managing resources. 
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All Levels

Program Location Cost Notes

AACN Faculty Policy 
Intensive

Four days: Washington, 
D.C.

Fully funded. Nursing faculty 
meet with federal 
leadership, staff and 
legislators; strengthen 
communication skills 
to advocate for health 
policy issues.

ANA Leadership Institute Live online seminars 
and self-paced courses 
in addition to in-person 
immersion courses and 
coaching.

Prices vary by course 
and seminar, and include 
ANA member and 
nonmember pricing, as 
well as group pricing 
discounts.

All courses are built 
upon competencies 
selected from the 
Center for Creative 
Leadership competency 
library and align with 
three leadership tracks: 
emerging, developing 
and advanced. 

Center for Creative 
Leadership – Leadership 
Fundamentals

Two days: locations vary. $1,900 Basics of effective 
leadership for 
professionals at all levels.

Center for Creative 
Leadership – The 
Women’s Leadership 
Program

Five days: Greensboro, 
N.C. and San Diego, 
Calif.

$6,600 Leadership skills 
assessments, feedback 
and career development 
for women.

Nurse in Washington 
Internship

Three days: Nursing 
Organizations Alliance 
(NOA) in Washington, 
D.C.

$725 for NOA 
members/$825 for 
nonmembers, plus hotel 
and travel.

Introduction to the 
federal legislative 
process, advocacy, and 
networking for nurses 
and nursing students. 
Opportunity for meetings 
with congressional staff 
and legislators.

Washington Health Policy 
Institute

Five days: George Mason 
University in Arlington, 
Va.

$1,630 - $2,630 Introduction to health 
policy making and 
research through 
networking, panels, and 
educational sessions.

Regulatory Leadership Programs

Program Location Cost Notes

CLEAR Board Member 
Training

Two- to three-day 
workshops in various 
cities.

Individuals: $200-500

Sponsors: $4,995

Introduction to 
regulatory governance, 
advanced concepts in 
regulatory governance 
and executive leadership 
program for regulators. 
There are additional 
programs offered online.

FARB Offers a periodic two-day 
leadership conference: 
various locations.

Leadership conference 
designed for EOs and 
officers is periodically 
sponsored.
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Appenidx B: tools to Measure the impact of the Leadership 
Academy 
Tool Target Group Measurement

Program Evaluation

Annual statistical reports NCSBN Leadership Academy 
program

 � Per capita cost of 
program

 � Success rates in meeting 
program participation 
and completion goals

 � Percentage of 
participants seeking 
appointed and elected 
positions

Program evaluation (after 
Tier 1, Tier 2 and Tier 3)

NCSBN Leadership Academy 
participants

 � Format of the academy

 � Topics covered

 � Time required to 
participate

 � The degree to which 
learner objectives were 
met

Participant Evaluation

Pre- and postparticipation 
survey

NCSBN Leadership Academy 
participants

 � Self-identified areas 
of leadership strength 
and opportunities for 
development

Follow up surveys –
postsurvey at two and six 
months

NCSBN Leadership Academy 
participants

 � Self-perceived 
preparation for 
leadership position within 
NCSBN or its BOD

 � Obstacles to 
participation in 
leadership positions 
identified by program 
participants
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Appendix C: NCSBN Leadership Academy Curriculum Sample
This document demonstrates how the NCSBN Leadership Academy Business Plan could be 
implemented at the course level. It is not meant to be a complete, comprehensive or binding 
curriculum.

DeSCRiptioN
The NCSBN Leadership Academy is a year-long program designed for member boards and 
staff new to regulatory nursing or those who are interested in enhancing their nurse regulator 
leadership skills. The program, which begins each September and concludes each August, is 
divided into three tiers. The program builds on essential knowledge and leadership skills to 
provide the participant with the foundation and tools to effectively lead within a regulatory 
framework. The participant will complete specific assignments and journaling activities for each 
tier in the program, resulting in a personal leadership journal and a mock campaign for elected 
office. The program will explore the development of leadership skills that support volunteer and 
elected office leadership positions at the national level. Learning will occur within a mentoring 
relationship. NCSBN will provide support for the individual participant and cohorts of participants. 
Support is dependent on participant progression within the program. Upon program completion, 
graduates are encouraged to pursue formal leadership opportunities within NCSBN.

LeADeRShip ACADeMY oBJeCtiveS
Upon successful completion of all requirements in the one-year program, the participant will be 
able to:

1. Discuss the mission and vision of the participant’s board of nursing (BON) and NCSBN.

2. Identify the nature of the relationship between the participant’s BON and NCSBN.

3. Apply concepts of leadership to regulatory experiences. 

4. Identify and utilize tools and behaviors to increase leadership effectiveness.

5. Promote effective governance within a regulatory agency.

6. Plan an effective campaign for elected office. 

7. Demonstrate leadership learning and insights through the process of journaling.

tieR 1: eNgAgeMeNt
The first tier focuses on basic knowledge of regulatory agencies and NCSBN. The participant will 
navigate and effectively use the NCSBN website and become familiar with NCSBN, its mission 
and vision, its resources, and the relevance the organization has to the participant’s BON. The 
participant will also gain knowledge regarding mentorship and select a mentor.

Objectives
Upon the successful completion of Tier 1, the participant will: 

1. Discuss the mission, vision, history and structure of:

a. Participant’s BON; and

b. NCSBN.

2. Identify the nature of the relationship between participant’s BON and NCSBN.

3. Select a mentor who meets NCSBN Leadership Academy requirements.
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Tier 1

Activity Objective(s) Outcomes

Introductory webinar  � Review and explain 
components of the 
program, including mentor, 
journal and required 
activities for each tier.

 � Define common terms used 
in nursing regulation.

 � Journal entry

NCSBN 101  � Defend the importance 
and discuss the impact of 
nursing regulation. 

 � Discover volunteer, 
professional development 
or networking opportunities 
within NCSBN.

 � Reference the history and 
organizational structure of 
NCSBN.

 � Score of at least 80 percent 
on post-test – keep copy in 
journal.

NCLEX 101  � See course objectives.  � Score of at least 80 percent 
on post-test – keep copy in 
journal.

NCSBN Resources webinar

 � NCLEX-RN®/NCLEX-PN® 
Examinations

 � Nursys® (National nursing 
licensure database)

 � FITS (Falsified Identity 
Tracking System)

 � NLC (Nurse Licensure 
Compact)

 � TERCAP® (Taxonomy of 
Error Root Cause Analysis 
Practice-Responsibility)

 � Explain the development 
and benefits of NCSBN 
programs.

 � Identify which programs 
your BON uses. 

 � Discuss with mentor or 
program coordinator the 
benefits and implications of 
one NCSBN program that 
your BON uses and enter 
information in your journal.

Independent study  � Discuss required reading 
(suggest Harvard Business 
Review’s Guide to Getting 
the Mentoring You Need).

 � Identify key messages in the 
leadership development 
call.

 � Select and identify mentor 
that meets established 
criteria.

 � Journal entry on key points 
related to leadership or 
NCSBN.

Webinar

Characteristics of leadership – 
outside speaker and NCSBN 
staff

 � After completing assigned 
reading and webinar, reflect 
upon characteristics of 
leadership, professionalism 
and image.

 � Identify desired leadership 
characteristics and 
behaviors with your  
mentor – record discussion 
in your journal. 
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tieR 2: DeveLopiNg the LeADeR – ASSeSSMeNt AND pLAN
The second tier will help the participant discover and develop a personal leadership style. Through use 
of assessment tools, the participant will discover areas of strength and embark on a plan to enhance 
their leadership behaviors. 

Objectives
Upon the successful completion of Tier 2, the participant will be able to: 

1. Assess his or her own leadership strengths and areas for improvement.

2. In consultation with NCSBN staff, construct a plan for enhancing their own leadership skills.

3. In consultation with their mentor, implement selected aspects of the leadership plan.

4. Discuss leadership skills and behaviors observed during participant’s BON’s meeting.

Tier 2

Activity Objective(s) Outcomes

Webinar  � Discuss expectations and 
activities of Tier 2. 

 � Write plan in journal to 
accomplish Tier 2 activities.

Assessment of leadership and 
leadership plan

 � Complete assigned 
assessment tools – 
Emotional Intelligence, 
Myers-Briggs Type Indicator 
and Strength Finders.

 � Develop and evaluate 
personal leadership plan.

 � Documentation of 
assessment results.

 � Written leadership plan 
with short- and long-term 
goals.

 � Discuss assessment and 
plans with NCSBN staff. 

 � Discuss and refine plan with 
mentor.

 � Documentation of progress 
of the plan. 

NCSBN BOD meeting – 
member call-in

 � Participate in an NCSBN 
BOD meeting member call-
in by contributing at least 
one question related to an 
issue on the agenda. 

 � Journal entry of question 
and response.

Regulatory leadership  � Observe both positive 
and negative leadership 
behaviors at a BON 
meeting.

 � Journal entry and 
discussion with mentor or 
NCSBN staff.

Independent study  � Read Maxwell’s leadership 
book, Developing the 
Leader Within. 

 � Select topics or concepts 
from assigned leadership 
development call that 
support participant’s 
leadership plan.

 � Journal entry on which 
parts of the reading 
support participant’s 
leadership plan.

 � Summarize information 
from leadership 
development call that 
support participant’s 
leadership plan.
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Tier 2

Activity Objective(s) Outcomes

Midyear Meeting

Cohort meeting to share plus 
speaker on governance

 � With cohort group and 
NCSBN staff reflect on 
activities of Tiers 1 and 
2; after a presentation on 
governance, discuss the 
meaning of governance 
and its relationship to 
leadership.

 � Reflective journal entry; 
evaluate progress on 
leadership and Leadership 
Academy goals.

 � Reflect on how governance 
is related to leadership.

tieR 3: goveRNANCe AND tRANSFoRMAtioNAL LeADeRShip
The third tier focuses on governance and transformational leadership of groups. Activities include 
exploration of parliamentary procedure, mock campaign for office and analysis of leadership behaviors. 
Journals will be reviewed by NCSBN staff prior to or at the meeting. A certificate of completion and 
recognition will be awarded to all those who successfully complete the program.

Objectives
Upon successful completion of Tier 3, the participant will be able to: 

1. Incorporate leadership tools and behaviors when working with groups. 

2. Identify and incorporate components of responsible governance.

3. Evaluate leadership activities and goal achievement.

4. Prepare a nomination form and mock campaign speech.

5. Demonstrate understanding of parliamentary procedure.

Tier 3

Activity Objective(s) Outcomes

NCSBN online courses: 
Governing Responsibly and 
New Delegate Orientation

Other NCSBN resources:

 � Legal foundation for 
governance

 � Articles of incorporation

 � Bylaws

 � See course objectives.

 � Utilize legal foundations 
for NCSBN as needed.

 � Increased knowledge 
of the role of board 
members.

 � Awareness of Delegate 
Assembly processes.

 � Awareness of legal 
foundations of the 
organization.

Conference call/webinar 
with NCSBN staff on 
transformational leadership

 � Discuss components 
of transformational 
leadership.

 � Journal entry of webinar/ 
discussion.
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Tier 3

Activity Objective(s) Outcomes

Independent Study

Parlipro.org

Transformational Leadership

Leadership Plan

Leadership Development 
Call

 � Apply the elements of 
parliamentary procedure 
to a BON meeting.

 � Through assigned 
reading, apply 
knowledge of 
transformational 
leadership to meet the 
objectives of Tier 3. 

 � Meet at least one 
major goal of personal 
leadership plan.

 � Identify transformational 
leadership behaviors of 
leader interviewed on 
call. 

 � Document completion 
of Parlipro tutorial and 
how participant applied 
knowledge at a BON 
meeting.

 � Journal entry related 
to transformational 
leadership behaviors 
observed at BON 
meeting (see below).

 � Summative evaluation of 
personal leadership plan.

 � Journal entry.

Transformational leadership 
at BON meeting 

 � Identify transformational 
leadership behaviors and 
governance activities of 
staff and board members 
at a BON meeting.

 �  After discussion 
with mentor write 
journal entry related 
to transformational 
leadership, and 
governance behaviors 
and activities observed at 
the meeting.

Activity Objective(s) Outcomes

 � Campaign – Campaign 
101 (if available)

 � Web-based resources on 
presentations

 � Submit a mock 
application for NCSBN 
office that incorporates 
leadership and 
governance concepts.

 � Incorporate best 
practices in planning and 
delivering a campaign 
speech.

 � Barriers to running 
for NCSBN office are 
reduced.

 � Annual Meeting

 � Cohort meeting

 � Speaker: Leadership 
Survival Skills

 � Share experiences of 
NCSBN Leadership 
Academy with cohort.

 � Discuss crucial 
conversations and other 
approaches to difficult 
leadership situations; 
develop leadership plan 
for future.

 � Evaluate program.

 � Participants enhanced 
their regulatory 
leadership effectiveness.

 � Participants continue to 
refine leadership skills.

 � Improvements are made 
in NCSBN Leadership 
Academy based on 
participant feedback.
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Report of Member Board profiles (MBp) Committee

Background
MBP, an online publication of NCSBN, provides an overview of the regulatory environment in 
which boards of nursing (BONs) function in the U.S. and the four U.S. territories. Web statistics 
reveal 21,568 visits to MBP in fiscal year 2013 (FY13) and 15,115 visits to MBP in FY12. The MBP 
are very useful to the BON, but they are cumbersome to fill out and many BONs have difficulty 
finding the time to do so. This coupled with the fact that MBP have not been reviewed/revised 
in several years, the Board of Directors convened an MBP Committee with the charge to review 
and revise the MBP.

Each MBP question was reviewed with the following vision in mind: clear, concise and relevant 
questions that provide an accurate depiction of the regulatory environment. The questions were 
streamlined to increase relevance, decrease redundancies, and improve clarity of questions 
and responses. The committee identified new questions relevant to the audience, as well as 
organized the questions into six profiles.

highlights of FY14 Activities
�� Review and Revise the MBP

�� Held three face-to-face meetings and two conference calls/webinars.

�� Reviewed NCSBN surveys and Web surveys for question overlap.

�� Reviewed literature on survey development.

�� Defined a vision for the MBP questions: clear, concise and relevant to provide an 
accurate depiction of the regulatory environment.

�� Developed a question review process for the committee to use during revisions.

�� Committee members and NCSBN staff reviewed each profile looking at relevance, 
location, duplication, clarity of questions and clarity of responses.

�� Committee updated all questions.

Future Activities
�� Move forward with a pilot of the newly revised MBP with approximately 10 BONs in order to 

solicit feedback from the membership. 

�� Move the newly revised MBP forward for data collection and publication, and consider 
a review of the implementation of the survey process to obtain the best data, including 
information technology process and enhancements. 

Attachments
A. Member Board Profile Revised Document

Staff
Rula Harb, MS, RN 
Massachusetts, Area IV, Chair

Teresa Corrado 
Washington, Area I 

Barbara Holtry 
Oregon, Area I

Lee Ann Teshima 
Hawaii, Area I

Margaret (Peg) A. Sheaffer, JD, RN 
Pennslyvania, Area IV

Katherine Thomas, MN, RN, FAAN 
Texas, Area III, Board Liaison

Staff
Kathleen Russell, JD, MN, RN 
Associate, Nursing Regulation

Beth Radtke, MS 
Associate, Nursing Regulation

Meeting Dates 
��Nov. 4-5, 2013 

��Dec. 2-3, 2013 

�� Feb. 3, 2014 (Conference Call/
Webinar)

�� Feb. 25, 2014 – (Conference Call/
Webinar)

��March 31, 2014 

Relationship to  
Strategic plan 

Strategic Initiative E

NCSBN promotes evidence-based 
regulation.

Strategic Objective 3

Provide accurate information 
about member boards through 
the Member Board Profiles for use 
by members and the public.



288
Business Book | 2014 NCSBN Annual Meeting
Revolutionizing the Now

Page 1 of 30 
 
 
Member Board Profiles - Board of Nursing Structure 

 Jurisdiction 
 Abbreviation: 
 Number of Members 

1 What is the total number of mandated members of the Board of Directors? 
 6-9 
 10-13 
 14-17 
 18 or more 

2 How many members of the following are mandated for the Board of Directors? 
2a Registered Nurses 

 0 
 1-3 
 4-7 
 8 or more 

2b Licensed Practical/Vocational Nurses 
 0 
 1-3 
 4-7 
 8 or more 

2c Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN) 
 0 
 1-3 
 4-7 
 8 or more 

2d 
If APRNs are mandated members of the Board of Directors, are specific roles mandated?  

 If Yes, check all that apply CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Yes      
 No     

2e Public (consumer) members 
 0 
 1-3 
 4-7 
 8 or more 

2f Physician members 
 0 
 1-3 
 4-7 
 8 or more 

2g Other representatives 
 0 
 1-3 
 4-7 
 8 or more 

Attachment A

Member Board profile Revised Document

Draft 1: April 3, 2014, Prior to Board of Directors or Pilot Revisions
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3 Are any of the following educational levels mandated for membership of the Board of Directors? (check all 
that apply) 

 Associate degree 
 Baccalaureate degree 
 Master’s degree 
 Doctorate 
 Diploma program 
 Training program 
 Does not apply 
 Method of Appointment 

4 Are members of the Board of Directors appointed or elected?  (Check all that apply) 
 Appointed 
 Elected  

5 How are members of the Board of Directors appointed? 
 Governor 
 Governor and confirmed/approved by some other Legislative body 
 Term Length 

6 What is the length of a term for members of the Board of Directors? 
 1 year 
 2 years 
 3 years 
 4 years 
 5 years 
 6 or more years 

7 How many terms may members of the Board of Directors serve? 

 1 term 
 2 terms 
 3 terms 
 Indefinite 
 Qualifications applicable to nurse members of the Board of Directors 

8 Are specific nurse work settings or roles mandated for membership of the Board of Directors? (check all 
that apply) 

 Nurse Educator 
 Advanced Practice Registered Nurse 
 Nurse in practice 
 Nurse Administrator 
 Other 

9 Are nurse members of the Board of Directors required to be currently employed in nursing at time of 
appointment? 

 Yes 
 No 

10 Are members of the Board of Directors required to reside within the jurisdiction? 
 Yes 
 No 
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 Qualifications applicable to public Board of Director members 
11 Are public applicants for membership of the Board of Directors required to meet specific qualifications to 

be considered for appointment? 
 Yes 
 No 
 Board of Nursing Structure 

12 How is the Board of Nursing structured within the jurisdiction’s government? 
 Independent agency in state government  
 Unit within an umbrella state agency 
 Independent agency outside of state government 
 Decision making 

13 How are decisions made regarding the Board of Nursing budget? 
 Made by the Board of Directors 
 Made by the Board of Directors, but require approval at a higher governmental level 
 Made with no Board of Directors input 

14 How are decisions made regarding internal policy? 
 Made by the Board of Directors 
 Made by the Board of Directors, but require approval at a higher governmental level 
 Made with no Board of Directors input 

15 Who has the authority to make internal staff hiring and firing decisions (excluding executive 
officer/director position)?   

 Made by Board of Directors 
 Made by the Board of Directors, but require approval at a higher governmental level 
 Made with no Board of Directors input 

16 Are public members excluded from participation in selected Board of Director functions/duties? 
 Yes 
 No 
 Does not apply 
 Powers and Duties of the Board of Nursing 

17 Do the powers and duties include Initial Licensure? 
 Yes 
 No 

18 Do the powers and duties include License Renewal? 
 Yes 
 No 

19 Do the powers and duties include establishing standards for practice, practice guidelines, position 
statements, advisory rulings, declaratory orders, or interpretive guidelines? 

 Yes 
 No 

20 Do the powers and duties include drafting legislation? 
 Yes 
 No 

21 Do the powers and duties include establishing fees? 
 Yes 
 No 
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22 Do the powers and duties include imposing fines? 
 Yes 
 No 

23 Does the Board of Nursing conduct formal disciplinary hearings? 
 Yes 
 No 

24 Do the powers and duties include regulating advanced practice nursing? 
 Yes 
 No 
 Meeting Structure 

25 How many routine Board of Director meetings were held in the last fiscal year? 
 1-4 
 5-8 
 9-12 
 More than 12 

26 Are committees comprised of Board of Director members and/or Board staff utilized to complete assigned 
tasks for the Board of Nursing? 

 Yes 
 No 

27 Do these committees have full decision-making authority? 
 Yes 
 No 

28 Can non-Board of Director members be appointed to serve on Board of Director committees, task forces, 
etc? 

 Yes 
 No 

 
Regulatory Changes 

29 Were the nursing laws revised and/or amended this year? 

 

Definition of revised: complete review of all sections of Nurse Practice Act and changes made as needed. 
Definition of amended: review of selected sections of Nurse Practice Act and changes made to those sections 
as needed. 

 
Revised 

 
Amended 

 Both 
 Neither 

30 If yes to either above, did the changes affect: (check all that apply) 

 
Discipline 

 
Licensure 

 
Education 

 
Advanced practice 

 Board of Director structure 
 Assistive personnel 

31 Were any advisory opinions/declaratory rulings issued during the last year? 
 Yes 
 No 
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 Regulatory Changes (Sunset/Sunrise) 
32 Do statutes in this jurisdiction, known as ‘sunset’ laws, mandate periodic review and justification to the 

legislature for the existence of regulatory agencies?  
 Yes 
 No 

33 Do statutes in this jurisdiction, known as ‘sunrise’ laws, mandate periodic review and justification for the 
establishment of new regulatory agencies in order to prove the necessity for their existence? 

 Yes 
 No 
 Fiscal Information 

34 Does the budget cover a fiscal or calendar year? 
 Fiscal Year  
 Calendar Year  

35 Revenue generated by the Board of Nursing (e.g. license renewal fees, etc.) is: 
 Retained by the Board of Nursing 
 Placed in a state account 
 Placed in a special fund account 
 Split between a state account and a Board of Nursing account 
 Other 

36 Is the Board of Nursing self-sustaining? 
 Yes 
 No 

37 Can supplemental budget requests be submitted? 
 Yes 
 No 

38 What percent of the budget is allocated for disciplinary matters? 
 Less than 15% 
 16-30% 
 31-60% 
 More than 60% 
 Percentage not available 

39 What percent of the budget is allocated for licensure (initial and renewals)?  
 Less than 15% 
 16-30% 
 31-60% 
 More than 60% 
 Percentage not available 

40 What percent of the budget is allocated for education program approval? 
 Less than 15% 
 16-30% 
 31-60% 
 More than 60% 
 Percentage not available 
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 Board of Nursing Staff 
41 Does the Board of Nursing Staff include any of the following? (check all that apply)  

 Contracted Personnel – nurse 
 Contracted Personnel - non-nurse 
 Employees of Attorney General’s office – nurse 
 Employees of Attorney General’s office - non-nurse 
 Non-Board of Nursing employees from same state agency – nurse 
 Non-Board of Nursing employees from same state agency - non-nurse 
 Legal Counsel – nurse 
 Legal Counsel - non-nurse 
 Board of Nursing Publications 

42 Is a newsletter published? 
 Yes 
 No 

43 If yes, how is the newsletter published? 
 Paper only 
 Website only 
 Email only 
 Combination of the above. 

44 How frequently is the newsletter published? 
 1-2 times per year 
 3-4 times per year 
 5 or more times per year 

45 Is an annual report published? 
 Yes 
 No 

46 If yes, how is it published? 
 Paper only 
 Website only 
 Email only 
 Some combination of the above 

  
Member Board Profiles - Educational Programs/Entry into Practice 
 Jurisdiction 
 Abbreviation: 
  Approval 

  
Definition of Approval:  the official recognition of nursing education programs which meet standards of 
approval established by Boards of Nursing. Some Boards of Nursing use the term accreditation instead of 
approval, but for the purposes of this document the term used will be approval. 

47 Is the Board of Nursing responsible for the approval of educational programs?  

  Yes 

  No 
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48 
Under the mandate to approve educational programs, does the Board of Nursing approve : (check all that 
apply)  

  Pre-licensure RN educational programs 
  Pre-licensure PN/VN educational programs 
  RN-baccalaureate completion programs 

  Graduate programs in nursing 

  Continuing education programs 

  Direct entry master's programs 

  Direct entry doctorate programs 
49 Is an annual review of educational programs required? 

  Yes 
  No 

50 If so, is it electronic or paper? 
  Electronic  
  Paper 

51 How often are educational program site visits performed? 

  1 year  

  2 years 

  3 years 

  4 years 

  5 years or more 
  Does not apply 

52 Which of the following fees are charged during the educational program approval process? (check all that 
apply) 

  Initial site visit 
  Continuing approval site visit 
  Annual site visit 
  Paper review 
  Does not apply 

53 What is the charge for the initial site visit? 
  No charge 
  <$500   
  $501 - $1500 
  $1501 - $2500 
  $2501 - $5000 
  $5001 - $10,000 
  >$10,000 
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54 What is the charge for the continuing approval site visit? 
  No charge 
  <$500   
  $501 - $1500 
  $1501 - $2500 
  $2501 - $5000 
  $5001 - $10,000 
  >$10,000 
  Criterion for Approval 

55 Are nursing programs required to meet an NCLEX pass rate?  
  Yes 
  No 

56 If Yes, what is it? 
  Percent of national pass rate 
  Percent of program graduates passing NCLEX 

57 What NCLEX passage rate is required for program approval?  
  70%-75% 
  76%-80% 
  81%-85% 
  86%-90% 
  >90% 

58 Has the Board of Nursing established a minimum number of hours for theory courses in PN programs? 
  Yes 
  No 

59 Has the Board of Nursing established a minimum number of hours for theory courses in RN programs? 
  Yes 
  No 

60 Has Board of Nursing established a minimum number of clinical experience hours for PN programs? 
  Yes 
  No 

61 If Yes, what is the established number of clinical experience hours?   
  <250 
  251-500 
  501-750 
  751-1000 

62 Has the Board of Nursing established a minimum number of clinical experience hours for RN programs? 
  Yes 
  No 
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63 If Yes, what is the established number of clinical experience hours? 
  <250 
  251-500 
  501-750 
  751-1000 

64 Does the Board of Nursing approve requests from nursing programs to allow simulation to replace clinical 
experience hours? 

  Yes, per nursing regulations 
  Yes, not indicated in nursing regulations, decided on a case by case basis 
  No, per nursing regulations, simulation cannot replace clinical hours, only supplement clinical 
  Does not apply 

65 What is the maximum amount of simulation that can be substituted for clinical experiences? 
  Up to 10% 
  Up to 25% 
  Up to 50% 
  Up to 75% 
  Over 75% 
  Does not apply 

66 Is the Board of Nursing an official recognized/approved accrediting agency by the United States 
Department of Education? 

  Yes 
  No 

67 Does the Board of Nursing require national nursing accreditation?  
  Yes  
  No 

68 If no, is the Board of Nursing considering this? 
  Yes 
  No 

 Approval of Nursing Education Programs 
69 Does the Board of Nursing regulate any of the following non pre-licensure programs?  

  RN to BSN program 
  Master of Nursing 
  Doctorate of Nursing 
  PhD in Nursing 

 Minimum Educational Requirements for Administrator and Faculty of Nursing Programs 
70 What are the minimum educational qualifications for LPN/VN program administrator? 

  Doctorate  
  MSN 
  MS 
  BSN 
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71 What are the minimum educational qualifications for RN program administrator? 
  Doctorate  
  MSN 
  MS 

72 What are the minimum educational qualifications for LPN/VN program faculty? 
  Doctorate  
  MSN 
  MS 
  BSN 

73 What are the minimum educational qualifications for RN program faculty? 
  Doctorate  
  MSN 
  MS 
  BSN 

 Articulation Program 
  Definition of articulation: seamless matriculation from the LPN degree to the ADN or BSN degree or seamless 

matriculation from the ADN or diploma degree to the BSN degree. 

74 Is articulation between levels of nursing education required by the Board of Nursing?  
  Yes 
  No 

75 If Yes, which levels? (check all that apply). 
  PN to RN 
  RN to BSN 
  Regulation of Board of Nursing Approved Nursing Education Programs 

76 Are student-faculty ratios mandated for prelicensure nursing education programs? 
  Yes 
  No 

77 If Yes, what is the student-faculty ratio for nursing education programs for LPN/VN programs? 
  6:01 
  8:01 
  10:01 
  12:01 
  Other 

78 If Yes, what is the student-faculty ratio for nursing education programs for RN programs? 
  6:01 
  8:01 
  10:01 
  12:01 
  Other 
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79 Are full-time to part-time faculty ratios mandated for nursing education programs? 
  Yes 
  No 

80 If yes, what is the percentage of full-time faculty for LPN/VN nursing education programs? 
  75% or greater full-time faculty 
  50-74% full-time faculty 
  25-49% full-time faculty 
  <25% full-time faculty 

81 If yes, what is the percentage of full-time faculty for RN nursing education programs? 
  75% or greater full-time faculty 
  50-74% full-time faculty 
  25-49% full-time faculty 
  <25% full-time faculty 

82 Are clinical education facilities used by LPN/VN nursing education programs approved by the Board of 
Nursing? 

  Yes 
  No 

83 Are clinical education facilities used by prelicensure RN nursing education programs approved by the 
Board of Nursing? 

  Yes 
  No 

84 Is the use of preceptors for providing supervision and/or education to nursing students regulated by the 
Board of Nursing for LPN/VN programs? 

  Yes 
  No 

85 Is the use of preceptors for providing supervision and/or education to nursing students regulated by the 
Board of Nursing for RN Programs? 

  Yes 
  No 

 Regulation of Students in Clinical Settings 
 Curriculum Guidelines RN 
86 Do curriculum guidelines/regulations in RN nursing programs include requirements for clinical experience 

in the following specialty areas?(check all that apply) 

  Obstetrics 
  Adult health 
  Pediatrics 
  Psychiatric 
  Community health 
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87 Do curriculum guidelines/regulations in RN nursing programs include requirements for didactic experience 
in the following specialty areas? (check all that apply) 

  Obstetrics 
  Adult health 
  Pediatrics 
  Psychiatric 
  Community health 

 Curriculum Guidelines LPN/VN 
88 Do curriculum guidelines/regulations in LPN/VN nursing programs include requirements for clinical 

experience in the following specialty areas?(check all that apply) 

  Obstetrics 
  Adult health 
  Pediatrics 
  Psychiatric 
  Community health 

89 Do curriculum guidelines/regulations in LPN/VN nursing programs include requirements for didactic 
experience in the following specialty areas?(check all that apply) 

  Obstetrics 
  Adult health 
  Pediatrics 
  Psychiatric 
  Community health 

 Distance Education 
  Definition of Distance education in nursing: as instruction offered by any means where the student and 

faculty are in separate physical locations.  
90 How many exclusively online LPN/VN programs does the Board of Nursing approve? 

  0 
  1-10 
  11-50 
  51-100 
  >100 

91 How many exclusively online entry-level ADN programs does the Board of Nursing approve? 
  0 
  1-10 
  11-50 
  51-100 
  >100 
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92 How many exclusively online entry-level BSN programs does the Board of Nursing approve? 
  0 
  1-10 
  11-50 
  51-100 
  >100 

93 How many exclusively online RN to BSN programs are in the jurisdiction? 
  0 
  1-10 
  11-50 
  51-100 
  >100 

94 Does the Board of Nursing approve out of jurisdiction distance education nursing programs?     
  Didactic only 
  Clinical only 
  Didactic and clinical  
  Do not approve 

95 How many complaints does the Board of Nursing receive each year related to out of jurisdiction distance 
education programs?   

  0 
  1-10 
  11-50 
  51-100 
  >100 

 
Member Board Profiles   - Licensure Requirements/Maintenance-Examination    
  Jurisdiction 

  Abbreviation: 
96 Is graduation from high school or its equivalent a requirement for licensure?  

  Yes 
  No 

97 Is there a minimum age requirement for licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

98 Is U.S. citizenship a requirement for licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

99 Is a Social Security number a requirement for licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

  



301
Business Book | 2014 NCSBN Annual Meeting

Revolutionizing the Now

Page 14 of 30 
 

100 Is graduation from a Board of Nursing approved nursing education program a requirement for licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

 101 Are graduates from a Board of Nursing approved program without a clinical component allowed licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

102 Are graduates from a Board of Nursing approved distance learning or virtual program allowed licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

103 Are applicants in a graduate entry-level nursing degree program eligible to take the NCLEX-RN examination 
following completion of the Board of Nursing’s educational requirements for RN programs?   

  Yes 
  No 

104 Are applicants in a pre-licensure RN program eligible to take the NCLEX-PN following completion the Board 
of Nursing’s educational requirements for PN programs?  

  Yes 
  No 

105 Are applicants who graduated from an RN program eligible to take the NCLEX-PN?  
  Yes 
  No 

106 What is the time limit for applicants to pass the NCLEX after graduation? 
  1 year 
  2 years 
  3 years 
  4 years 
  5 years 
  Unlimited 

107 What is the total number of times an initial applicant can take the NCLEX? 
  1-2 times 
  3-4 times 
  5-6 times 
  No frequency limit  

108 Does the Board of Nursing require remediation after a certain number of failed NCLEX attempts? 
  Yes 
  No  

109 Are official transcripts from the pre-licensure RN and LPN/VN nursing programs required for initial licensure 
by examination?  

  Yes 
  No 
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  Licensure Requirements/Maintenance International Educated 
110 If an applicant is a graduate of an international education program, is an education evaluation required from 

a Board of Nursing-approved evaluation service?  
  Yes 
  No 

111 If no, does the Board of Nursing perform the education evaluation?  
  Yes 
  No 

 112 If the Board of Nursing uses an outside evaluation service, which evaluation service is used? (check all that 
apply) 

  CGFNS course by course evaluation (Commission for Graduates of Foreign Nursing Schools) 
  CGFNS certificate program (CES) 
  ERES  (Education Records Evaluation Service) 
  IERF (International Education Research Foundation, Inc.) 
  Other national evaluation service 
  Other private state service 

113 Is an NCLEX-RN/PN predictor exam from one of the above evaluation services required by the Board of 
Nursing?  
  Definition of Predictor Exam:  an exam that is taken prior to taking the NCLEX-RN/PN that evaluates an 
applicant’s chance of passing the NCLEX-RN/PN

  Yes 
  No 

114 If an applicant is a graduate of an international education program, is an English proficiency exam required 
from a Board of Nursing-approved service?  

  Yes 
  No 

115 If an English proficiency exam is required, which one is acceptable? (check all that apply) 
  TOEFL 
  TOEIC 
  IELTS 
  Pearson 
  MELAB 
  OPI 
  TSE 
  TWE 
  Licensure Requirements/Maintenance-Military Educated  

116  Are those who have graduated from the Army Practical Nursing Specialist program permitted to sit for the 
NCLEX-PN?  

  Yes 
  No 
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 117 Are those who have graduated from any other military occupation specialist training program permitted to 
take the NCLEX-PN?  

  Yes 
  No 

118 If yes, from which branch of the military? (check all that apply) 
  Army  
  Navy 
  Air Force 
  Marine Corps 

 119 Are those who have graduated from any military occupation specialist training program permitted to take 
the NCLEX-RN?  

  Yes 
  No 

120 If yes, from which branch of the military? (check all that apply) 
  Army  
  Navy 
  Air Force 
  Marine Corps 
  Licensure Requirements/Maintenance-Interstate Endorsement 

121 How is nursing education verified for those applying for interstate endorsement? (check all that apply) 
  Official transcripts 
  NURSYS  
  Verification letter from another jurisdiction’s Board of Nursing 

122 How are licenses verified for those applying for interstate endorsement? (check all that apply) 
 NURSYS 

  Verification letter from another jurisdiction’s Board of Nursing 
123 Prior to participation in graduate program clinical practicums within the jurisdiction, is licensure required for 

the student who is licensed as an RN in another jurisdiction?  
  Yes 
  No 

124 While fingerprint-based FBI criminal background checks are pending for applicants applying for interstate 
endorsement, are temporary practice permits available? 

  Definition of Temporary Practice Permit: a time limited permit that allows an applicant, who meets all 
qualifications for licensure, to practice while waiting for specific information regarding their application.

  Yes 
  No 

125 If yes, what length of time is the temporary practice permit valid? 
  30-60 days 
  90-120 days 
  160-180 days 
  More than 180 days 
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126 Are applicants with a restricted license for practice eligible for endorsement?   
  Yes 
  No 
  Case by case 

127 Are applicants whose license is encumbered by probation eligible for endorsement? 
  Yes 
  No 

128 Are applicants whose license is under investigation or have an open complaint eligible for endorsement? 
(check all that apply) 

  Under investigation  
  Complaint pending, with no investigation 

129 Are applicants who are participating in an alternative to discipline program eligible for endorsement?  
  Yes 
  No 

 130 Are exemptions to licensure requirements allowed for nurses in any of the following situations? (check all 
that apply)  

  Declared disaster 
  State of emergency 
  Short term travel 
  Education/refresher courses 
  Federal Government Employment  
  Licensure Requirements/Maintenance-Expired License 

131  Is there a requirement to retake the NCLEX-RN or NCLEX-PN if a license has been expired for a certain period 
of time in order to reinstate the license?  

  Yes 
  No 

132 When a license expires, is there a requirement to take an approved refresher program after a certain period 
of time in order to reinstate the license?  

  Yes 
  No 

133 If yes, is a limited education license or authorization issued allowing clinical practice during the refresher 
program? 

  Yes 
  No 

134 If yes, what length of time is limited license or authorization valid?? 
  30-60 days 
  90-120 days 
  160-180 days 
  More than 180 days 
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  License Format/Renewal/Fees 
135 How does the Board of Nursing issue licenses? (check all that apply) 

 Initial license - paper 
 Initial license - Plastic/credit card 
 Initial license - paperless 

  Renewal license - paper 
  Renewal license - Plastic/credit card 
  Renewal license - paperless 

136 How long is a nursing license valid? (select one) 
  1 year 
  2 years 
  3 years 
  4 years 

137 When are renewals processed? (select one) 
  On birthdate/birth month 
  On a specific date/month (not related to birthdate) 

138 Which of the following is the amount closest to the RN/LPN/VN initial licensure fee (including application fee 
if applicable)? 
(Not to include NCLEX fee) 

  $20 to $50   
  $51 to $100 
  $101 to $150 
  $151 to $200 
  More than $201 

139 Which of the following is the amount closest to the RN/LPN/VN renewal fee? 
  $20 to $50   
  $51 to $100 
  $101 to $150 
  $151 to $200 
  More than $201 

140 Which of the following is the amount closest to the APRN initial licensure fee (including application fee if 
applicable)? 

  $20 to $50   
  $51 to $100 
  $101 to $150 
  $151 to $200 
  More than $201 
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141 Which of the following is the amount closest to the APRN renewal fee? 
  $20 to $50   
  $51 to $100 
  $101 to $150 
  $151 to $200 
  More than $201 

142 Are late renewal penalties enforced?  
  Yes 
  No 

143 If yes, which of the following is the amount closest to the RN/LPN/VN late renewal penalty? 
  $20 to $50   
  $51 to $100 
  $101 to $150 
  $151 to $200 
  More than $201 
  Licensure Requirements/Maintenance Continued Competency 

144 Are there continued competency requirements for licensure maintenance?  
  Yes 
  No 

145 If yes, for which professions? (check all that apply) 
  RN 
  LPN/VN 
  APRN 

146 Which of the following methods can be used to meet the competency requirements? (check all that apply)   
  Peer review 
  Continuing education 
  Periodic refresher course 
  Competency examination 
  Minimal practice hours (paid or unpaid) 
  Continued competency assessment 

147 Is continuing education by subject matter required as part of licensure maintenance?  
  Yes 
  No 
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148 If yes, which subject matter topics are required for licensure maintenance? (check all that apply) 
  Child abuse 
  Domestic violence 
  End of life 
  HIV/AIDS 
  Nursing law and rules 
  Pain management 
  Pharmacology 
  None of the above 
  Licensure Applications/Criminal Background Checks 

149 Can licensure applications be submitted on-line? (check all that apply)  
  Initial licensure by examination application 
  Licensure by endorsement application 
  Renewal licensure application 
  Expired or Inactive reissuance application 
  No 

150 Do licensure applications include questions addressing substance use disorder?  (check all that apply) 
  Initial licensure by examination application 
  Licensure by endorsement application 
  Renewal licensure application 
  Expired or Inactive reissuance application 
  No 

151 Do initial licensure-by-examination applications address the request for special accommodations during 
administration of the NCLEX-RN/PN? 

  Yes 
  No 

152 Do licensure applications contain questions addressing disciplinary action by another Board of Nursing, 
agency, or regulatory body?  

  Initial licensure by examination application 
  Licensure by endorsement application 
  Renewal licensure application 
  Expired or Inactive reissuance application 
  No 

153 Do licensure applications contain questions addressing ongoing investigations of charges potentially leading 
to disciplinary action by another Board of Nursing, agency, or regulatory body?  

  Initial licensure by examination application 
  Licensure by endorsement application 
  Renewal licensure application 
  Expired or Inactive reissuance application 
  No 
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154 Is attestation of sound physical and mental health a requirement for licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

155 Can an individual with an inability to practice fully due to a health problem be issued a license with 
restrictions to practice?  

  Yes 
  No 

156 If yes, check all that apply 
  Physical handicap 
  Learning disability 
  Hearing problems 
  Psychological disorder 
  Chemical/drug dependence 

157 Is attestation of good moral character a requirement for licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

158 Is a fingerprint-based FBI criminal background check required for licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

159 If yes, at what point during licensure? (check all that apply) 
  Initial licensure by examination application 
  Licensure by endorsement application 
  Renewal licensure application 
  Expired or Inactive reissuance application 

160 Is a named-based criminal background check (state police/patrol) required for licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 

161 If yes, at what point during licensure? (check all that apply) 
  Initial licensure by examination application 
  Licensure by endorsement application 
  Renewal licensure application 
  Expired or Inactive reissuance application 

162 Are felony convictions (or equivalent criminal convictions) reviewed as part of the licensure application 
process?  

  Yes 
  No 

163 If yes, are all felony convictions (or equivalent criminal convictions) a permanent bar to licensure?  
  Yes 
  No 
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164 If no, are certain types of felony convictions (or equivalent criminal convictions) a permanent bar to 
licensure?  

  Yes 
  No 
  Case by case 

165 If yes, identify the types of felonies (or equivalent criminal convictions) which are a permanent bar to 
licensure. (check all that apply) 

  Homicide/murder 
  Manslaughter  
  Sexual offense  
  Aggravated assault (of an adult) 
  Aggravated assault (of a minor or vulnerable adult 
  Violation of controlled substance act (delivery/intent/manufacture)  

166 Are all felony convictions (or equivalent criminal convictions) reviewed on a case by case basis?  
  Yes 
  No 

167 Are misdemeanor convictions (or equivalent criminal convictions) reviewed?  
  Yes 
  No 

168 Is NURSYS checked for disciplinary action at any following stages of licensure? (check all that apply) 
  Initial licensure by examination application 
  Licensure by endorsement application 
  Renewal licensure application 
  Expired or Inactive reissuance application 
  Reinstating after discipline  

   
Member Board Profiles - Discipline/Practice 

 Jurisdiction 
 Abbreviation: 
 Disciplinary Procedures 

169 Is child, elder, vulnerable adult abuse by a licensee required to be reported to law enforcement or another 
agency?  

 Yes 

 No 

170 Is there a provision requiring mandatory reporting of violations of the nurse practice act? 

 Yes 
 No 
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171 If yes, are any of the following allowed as exceptions to the mandatory reporting requirement?  (check all 
that apply) 

 Mandatory reporting of substance use disorder is not required if the nurse is monitored by an employer or an 
Alternative to Discipline Program 

 Mandatory reporting is not required by a nurse who has a bona fide health professional-patient relationship 
with a licensee or applicant 

 Mandatory reporting pertains only to hospital and other health care institutions 
 Mandatory reporting  is not required if violations of the nurse practice act are not directly observed 
 Does not apply 
 Investigation of Complaints 

172 Who conducts investigations of complaints against licensees? (check all that apply) 
 Executive Officer 
 RN or PN investigative Board of Nursing staff  
 Non-nursing investigative Board of Nursing staff  
 Non-nursing investigative staff from another department/division  
 Attorney 

173 Does the Board of Nursing have subpoena power during investigation? 
 Yes   
 No   

174 Does the Board of Nursing have subpoena power during prosecution? 
 Yes   
 No   

175 Does the Board of Nursing receive malpractice payment reports as a result of insurers reporting to the 
National Practitioner Data Bank? 

 Yes, as a mandatory requirement under state law 
 Yes, even though there is no mandatory requirement under state law 
 Occasionally 
 Does not apply 

176 Are malpractice reports reviewed to determine if a disciplinary investigation is warranted? 
 Yes 
 No 

177 Are malpractice reports stored/filed for future reference? 
 Yes 
 No 

178 Can the Board of Nursing require evaluation for substance use disorder during an investigation?  

 Yes 
 No 

179 Can the Board of Nursing require evaluation of physical and/or mental during an investigation? 
 Yes 
 No 
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180 What is the standard of proof? 
 Clear and convincing evidence 
 Preponderance of evidence 
 Substantial evidence 
 Reasonable cause 
 Formal Disciplinary Processes 

181 Who hears formal disciplinary proceedings? (check all that apply) 
 Hearing examiner 
 Administrative law judge 
 Full Board of Directors 
 Panel/committee of Board of Directors 
 Board chair/member 
 Disciplinary Sanctions 

182 Which of the following disciplinary actions can be ordered? (check all that apply) 
 Censure 
 Cease and desist orders 
 Reprimands 
 Citation Orders 
 Warnings 
 Practice limitations with probation 
 Practice limitations without probation 
 Probation 
 Conditional Probation 
 Summary suspension 
 Suspension-temporarily barred from nursing practice 
 Revocation 
 Fines/civil penalties 
 Assessment of costs 
 License surrender 
 Community service 

183 Can the licensee be ordered to pay investigative fees? 
 Yes 
 No 

184 Can the licensee be ordered to pay the legal fees? 
 Yes 
 No 

185 Is the Board of Nursing required to take disciplinary action in any of the following instances? (check all that 
apply) 

 Non-payment of child support 
 Non-payment of student loans 
 Non-payment of alimony/spousal support 
 Non-payment of jurisdiction taxes 
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 Non-disciplinary Alternative Approaches 
186 Does the Board of Nursing use non-disciplinary alternative programs for the following types of cases?  (check 

all that apply) 
 Substance Use Disorder  
 Psychiatric/mental health problems 
 Physical or health problems 
 Practice related 

187 Does the Board of Nursing offer an in-house non-disciplinary monitoring program for Substance Use 
Disorder? 

 Yes 
 No 

188 Does the Board of Nursing refer the licensee to an external alternative to discipline program for Substance 
Use Disorder? 

 Yes 
 No 

189 If the Board of Nursing uses a non-disciplinary practice-related alternative program, which of the following 
may be included in the alternative program?  (check all that apply) 

 Civil penalties 
 Conference/meeting 
 Community service 
 Continuing education 
 Fines 
 Mediation 
 Monitored practice 
 Non disciplinary probation 
 Restitution 
 Self-study 
 Teaching conference 
 Warning letters 

190 Is participation by the licensee in non-disciplinary alternative programs for nursing practice disclosed as 
public information? 

 Yes 
 No 

191 Can the licensee be ordered to pay monitoring fees? 
 Yes 
 No 
 Practice 

192 Are there specific references to delegation in any of the following:  (check all that apply)  
 Nurse Practice Act 
 Rules and Regulations 
 Declaratory rulings/advisory opinions 
 Position statements 
 Written Guidelines 
 No  
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193 If Yes, do the references to delegation apply to registered nurses or practical nurses? (check all that apply) 
 Registered Nurses 
 Practical Nurses 

194 Are there specific references to telenursing, telehealth or other terms referring to electronic practice in any 
of the following: (check all that apply): 

 Nurse Practice Act 
 Rules and Regulations 
 Declaratory rulings/advisory opinions 
 Position statements 
 Written Guidelines 
 No  

195 Does the Board of Nursing permit a nurse licensed and practicing telenursing in another jurisdiction to 
provide telenursing services to in-jurisdiction patients? 

 Yes, provided the practitioner has a valid Compact license 
 Yes 
 No 

   
Member Board Profiles – Advanced Practice Registered Nurses 

 Jurisdiction 
 Abbreviation: 
 Definition of Role:  describes the function 

Definition of Title: describes the label given to the role  
 APRNs Regulated as a Separate Group 

196 Does the Board of Nursing license/recognize APRNs in the following roles: Nurse Anesthetist, Nurse Midwife, 
Clinical Nurse Specialist, and Nurse Practitioner?   

 If Yes, check all that apply Nurse 
Anesthetist 

Nurse 
Midwife 

Clinical Nurse 
Specialist 

Nurse 
Practitioner 

 Yes      
 No     
197 Does the Board of Nursing license by endorsement any of the following APRN roles?   
 If Yes, check all that apply Nurse 

Anesthetist 
Nurse 

Midwife 
Clinical Nurse 

Specialist 
Nurse 

Practitioner 

 Yes      
 No     
198 Does the Board of Nursing use the following role titles for APRNs?  
 If Yes, check all that apply CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Yes      
 No     
199 Do the nursing statutes or regulations describe the APRN scope of practice? Check all that apply 
 Statutes 
 Regulations 
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 Regulatory Oversight Responsibility 
200 Who regulates APRNs?  
 Check all that apply CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Board of Nursing      
 Board of Medicine      
 Board of Pharmacy      
 Advanced Practice Nursing Board      
 Department of Health     
 Level of Prescriptive Authority 
201 What is the level of prescriptive authority granted to APRNs?  
 Check all that apply CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 No authority to prescribe     
 Restricted to formulary     
 Restricted to protocol     
 Restricted to practice agreement with physician     
 Independent but restricted to area of practice experience     
 Independent without restrictions     
  Prescription of Controlled Substances 
202 What is the level of prescriptive authority, relative to controlled substances, granted to APRNs?  
 Check all that apply CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Schedule II     
 Schedule III     
 Schedule IV     
 Schedule V     
 No authority for controlled substance prescribing     
 DEA Numbers 
203 Can APRNs apply for their own DEA numbers?  
 If Yes, check all that apply CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Yes      
 No     
 Approval of APRN Education Program 
 Definition of Approval:  the official recognition of nursing education programs which meet standards of 

approval established by boards of nursing. Some BONs use the term accreditation instead of approval, but for 
the purposes of this document the term used will be approval. 

204 Does the Board of Nursing have authority to approve APRN education programs? use a grid like no.14 
 If Yes, check all that apply CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Yes      
 No     
205 Is graduation from an approved graduate or post-graduate program required for APRN license/recognition  
 If Yes, check all that apply CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Yes      
 No     
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 Certification 
206 Is APRN role certification by a nationally accredited certification program required for recognition or 

licensure as an APRN?    
 If Yes, check all that apply CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Yes      
 No     
 Continued Competence Requirements 
207 Is demonstration of continued competency required for APRNs?  
  CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Yes      
 No     
208 If Yes, which of the following methods can be used to meet the competency requirements? 

 Check all that apply: CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Continuing education (beyond that required for the basic RN 

license) 
    

 Pharmacology course work or CEU     
 Maintenance of advanced practice certification by a national 

certifying organization/body 
    

 Practice requirements     
209 Is completion of an advanced pharmacology/pharmacotherapeutic course required for initial legal 

recognition of APRNs? 
  CRNA CNM CNS CNP 
 Yes     
 No     
 
Member Board Profiles - Assistive Personnel  
 Jurisdiction 
 Abbreviation: 
 Regulation  
210 Does the Board of Nursing regulate any of the following assistive personnel? (check all that apply) 
 Certified Nursing Assistant 
 Dialysis assistant/technician 
 Hemodialysis assistant/technician 
 Home health aide 
 Medication aide 
 Nutrition or feeding aide 
 Psychiatric aide/technician 
 None 
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211 Are there specific statutes or regulations that reference delegation for any of the following assistive 
personnel? (check all that apply)  

 Certified Nursing Assistant 
 Dialysis assistant/technician 
 Hemodialysis assistant/technician 
 Home health aide 
 Medication Aide 
 Nutrition or feeding aide 
 Psychiatric aide/technician 
 None 
 Training Programs/Examinations 
212 Does the Board of Nursing approve training programs for any of the following assistive personnel?  
 Certified Nursing Assistant 
 Dialysis assistant/technician 
 Hemodialysis assistant/technician 
 Home health aide 
 Medication Aide 
 Nutrition or feeding aide 
 Psychiatric aide/technician 
 None 
213 Does the Board of Nursing administer or outsource nursing assistant examinations? 
 Administer 
 Outsource 
214 Which type of exam is required by the Board of Nursing for nursing assistant examinations? 
 Board of Nursing constructed exams 
 Standardized exams 
215 Is the Board of Nursing responsible for the initial competency evaluation of assistive personnel? 
 Yes 
 No 
 Registry 
216 Does the Board of Nursing maintain a registry of assistive personnel employed in nursing homes? 
 Yes 
 No 
217 Does the Board of Nursing maintain a registry of assistive personnel employed in home health care 

agencies? 
 Yes 
 No 
 Discipline 
218 Does the Board of Nursing have the authority to take disciplinary action on assistive personnel? 
 Yes 
 No 
219 Does the Board of Nursing maintain a database of disciplined assistive personnel? 
 Yes 
 No 
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220 Does the Board of Nursing maintain a database of assistive personnel disciplined for patient abuse? 
 Yes 
 No 
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Report of the National Nurse Aide Assessment 
program (NNAAp®) and the Medication Aide 
Certification examination (MACe®)

Background
In August 2008, NCSBN acquired exclusive ownership of the intellectual property for NNAAP® 
and MACE®. NNAAP is a two-part examination consisting of a written or oral examination, and a 
skills demonstration. The candidate is allowed to choose between a written or oral examination.

NNAAP has been administered to more than 2.5 million candidates and is the leading nurse aide 
assessment instrument in the U.S. MACE is a new national examination that NCSBN developed 
for state boards of nursing (BONs) and other medication aide/assistant oversight agencies and 
became effective Jan. 1, 2010. MACE helps to evaluate the competence of unlicensed individuals 
allowed to administer medications to clients in long-term care settings. 

Pearson VUE is the exclusive test administrator for NNAAP and MACE, and continues to be 
responsible for all delivery, administration and publishing (electronic and paper), while assisting 
with sales and market development activities associated with the exams. In addition, Pearson 
VUE provides the following testing services for NNAAP: eligibility screening and registration; 
test site scheduling; test administration (test site and Registered Nurse Evaluator management); 
scoring; and reporting. The registry services provided by Pearson VUE include initial certification, 
recertification and reciprocity management, as well as public access registry verifications through 
the Internet. 

NNAAP is consistent with the training requirements for nurse aides/nursing assistants (NAs) 
delineated in the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) of 1987, 1989. This act states that 
anyone working as an NA must complete a competency evaluation program. The competency 
evaluation program must be state-approved, consist of a minimum of 75 hours of training and 
include 16 hours of supervised clinical training.

The Model Nursing Practice Act and Model Nursing Administrative Rules, developed by NCSBN 
and its member boards, along with the Medication Assistant-Certified (MA-C) Model Curriculum, 
are two resources used to develop content for MACE. Subject matter experts (SMEs) are selected 
to participate in item writing and review workshops, using criteria delineated in the above 
stated resources. MACE is designed to assess entry-level competence of unlicensed direct care 
providers who have been approved by their state/jurisdiction to administer medications in long-
term care settings. 

NCSBN continues to serve as the premier organization that advances regulatory excellence for 
public protection. States participating in these examination programs, through NCSBN, will 
continue to provide support to licensed health care professionals who need more qualified staff 
at the bedside to assist in the delivery of safe, competent care.

highlights of FY14 Activities
The following is a list of the highlights and accomplishments.

�� In January 2013, the NNAAP® Item Writing Workshop was held. 

�� In February 2013, the NNAAP® Item Review Workshop was held.

�� In April 2013, the MACE® Item Writing Workshop was held.

�� In May 2013, the MACE® Item Review Workshop was held.

�� In January 2014, new NNAAP written forms went into operational use. Pretest items were 
administered, along with operational items in these test forms. Successful pretest items will 
be added to the operational item pool.

Staff
Philip Dickison, PhD, RN 
Chief Officer, Examinations

Melissa Franke 
Administration Manager, 
Examinations

Doyoung Kim, PhD 
Senior Psychometrician, 
Examinations

Hong Qian, PhD 
Psychometrician, Examinations

Michael Monardo, MS 
Statistician, Examinations

Jolene Riordan 
Test Development Associate, 
Examinations

Nicole Williams, MSN, RN-BC 
Nursing Content Manager, 
Examinations

Terrence Wright, MA 
Test Development Manager, 
Examinations 

Ada Woo, PhD, MA 
Associate Director, Measurement 
and Testing, Examinations

Meeting Dates 
�� Jan. 28-29, 2013 
NNAAP® Item Writing Webinar

�� Feb. 11-12, 2013 
NNAAP® Item Review Webinar

��April 8-10, 2013  
MACE® On-site Item Writing 
Panel

��May 13-14, 2013  
MACE® Item Review Webinar

�� July 8-10, 2013  
NNAAP® Onsite Item Writing 
Panel

��Aug. 12-13, 2013  
NNAAP® Item Review Webinar

��Oct. 21-23, 2013  
North Carolina MACE® Item 
Writing Webinar

��Nov. 18-19, 2013  
North Carolina MACE® Item 
Review Webinar
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pRogRAM highLightS AND teSt DeveLopMeNt ACtivitieS 

NNAAP® Item Writing and Review Workshops 
SMEs engaged in test development activities for the NNAAP written examination on Jan. 28-29, 
2013, and July 8-10, 2013. Both meetings began with an introduction to NCSBN and continued 
with an item writing workshop that included specific guidelines to use when writing new items. 
The guidelines provided to SMEs included a practice session in writing and reviewing of items; 
a list of activity statements to write new items based on an analysis of item bank needs; and 
an explanation of how to use the NNAAP Written or Oral Examination Content Outline. In 
preparation for the meeting, a gap analysis was conducted on the item bank to evaluate the 
content areas in need of items. This evaluation determines the activity statements to which SMEs 
will write items. 

The Feb. 11-12, 2013, and Aug. 12-13, 2013, meetings began with an introduction to NCSBN and 
continued with an item review workshop that included specific guidelines to use when reviewing 
items. SMEs discussed the guidelines necessary for reviewing active and problem items. Active 
items are items that are scored; problem items are items that were found to perform poorly 
statistically and are not used on testing forms. 

MACE® Item Writing and Item Review Workshops 
The MACE item writing and item review workshops, held April 8-10, 2013, and May 13-14, 2013, 
followed the same plan as the NNAAP item writing and review workshops as stated above. 

Future Activities
�� Share information with the public about NNAAP and MACE.

�� Develop new test items, test forms and maintain item pools for NNAAP and MACE.

�� Perform appropriate item response and statistical analyses of items for NNAAP and MACE.

�� Build test forms for written and oral examinations for NNAAP.

�� Continue to increase the bank of items for MACE and build computer-based forms to meet 
needs of membership.

�� Enhance the quality of NNAAP and MACE.

�� Increase the number of states that use NNAAP and MACE for nurse aide and medication 
aide certification.

SuMMARY oF NNAAp® exAMiNAtioN ReSuLtS FoR teStiNg YeAR 2013: pASS 
RAteS BY StAte1 
Across all jurisdictions, the pass rates for NNAAP were 89 percent for the written or oral 
examinations and 76 percent for the skills evaluation. The Table 1 provides passing rates by 
jurisdiction for the written or oral examination, skills evaluation and overall pass rates for forms 
administered in 2013. The number represents the number of candidates taking the examination. 
The overall pass rate provides information on the completion of all requirements for NA 
certification. A candidate must pass both the written or oral examination and skills evaluation to 
obtain an overall pass. 

1 The NNAAP testing year coincides with the calendar year. Pass rates from Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2013, are presented here. 

Relationship to  
Strategic plan 

Strategic Initiative D

Develop competency assessments 
to support the future of health 
care and the advancement of 
regulatory excellence.
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Table 1: Pass Rates by Jurisdiction

Jurisdiction

Written/Oral (N) Skills (N)

Total
First Time 

Takers Repeaters Total
First Time 

Takers Repeaters Total

Alabama
90% 78% 89% 66% 64% 65% 72%

1,241 128 1,369 910 221 1,131 1,106

Alaska
96% 84% 94% 87% 80% 86% 90%

589 58 647 530 93 623 610

California
90% 60% 86% 88% 82% 87% 87%

10,782 1,158 11,940 10,520 1,661 12,181 11,506

Colorado
95% 73% 93% 81% 66% 78% 86%

5,605 484 6,089 4,804 843 5,647 5,589

District of 
Columbia

82% 72% 79% 75% 69% 74% 76%

269 66 335 252 68 320 300

Georgia
92% 70% 90% 76% 71% 76% 81%

9,776 853 10,629 8,242 1,481 9,723 9,492

Guam
90% 50% 87% 62% 100% 63% 56%

26 1 27 18 1 19 18

Louisiana
86% 65% 83% 91% 93% 91% 89%

315 41 356 331 43 374 346

Maryland
94% 77% 92% 87% 80% 87% 88%

3,286 272 3,558 3,074 382 3,456 3,367

Minnesota
95% 87% 94% 79% 74% 78% 88%

4,967 1,099 6,066 4,115 1,571 5,686 5,619

Mississippi
86% 71% 83% 66% 60% 64% 70%

2,093 445 2,538 1,614 557 2,171 2,096

New 
Hampshire

100% 0% 100% 100% 0% 100% 100%

9 0 9 9 0 9 9

North Dakota
93% 84% 92% 91% 87% 91% 92%

1,120 140 1,260 1,094 155 1,249 1,224

Pennsylvania
94% 73% 91% 75% 73% 74% 82%

7,738 812 8,550 6,284 1,641 7,925 7,749

Rhode Island
88% 66% 84% 56% 60% 58% 73%

1,362 256 1,618 912 509 1,421 1,351

South Carolina
94% 83% 92% 75% 66% 73% 79%

3,647 530 4,177 2,945 840 3,785 3,658

Texas
86%

15,736

65%

2,452

82%

18,188

49%

725

49%

90

49%

815

86%

17,550

Vermont
98%

764

67%

18

97%

782

80%

631

83%

105

80%

736

89%

725

Virgin Islands
89%

32

100%

1

89%

33

69%

18

87%

13

76%

31

75%

30

Virginia
92%

5,794

58%

617

87%

6,411

73%

4,685

64%

1,106

71%

5,791

78%

5,693
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Table 1: Pass Rates by Jurisdiction

Jurisdiction

Written/Oral (N) Skills (N)

Total
First Time 

Takers Repeaters Total
First Time 

Takers Repeaters Total

Washington
94%

7,949

66%

674

90%

8,623

71%

6,104

73%

1,589

72%

7,693

80%

7,558

Wisconsin
97%

8,737

84%

696

96%

9,433

75%

6,798

71%

1,771

74%

8,569

85%

8,498

Wyoming
97%

970

93%

124

97%

1,094

75%

749

70%

228

74%

977

85%

970

Total
92%

92,807

70%

10,925

89%

103,732

77%

65,364

71%

14,968

76%

80,332

83%

95,064

Attachments 
None.
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Members

NCLEX® Examination 
Committee
Janice Hooper, PhD, RN 
Texas, Area III, Chair

M. Lynn Ansardi, RN 
Louisiana-PN, Area III

Pamela Autrey, PhD, MSN, MBA, 
RN, NE-BC 
Alabama, Area III 

Tammy Claussen, MSN, RN, CNE 
Arkansas, Area III

Roseann Colosimo, PhD, RN 
Nevada, Area I

Catherine Dearman, PhD, RN 
Alabama, Area III

Loraine Fleming, DNP, APRN, 
PMHNP-BC 
Hawaii, Area I

Ann Jones, PhD, RN 
Minnesota, Area II

Francine Kirby-Chittum, MSN, RN 
West Virginia-PN, Area II

Constance McIntosh, EdD, MBA, 
RN 
Indiana, Area II

Rhonda Taylor, MSN, RN 
Washington, Area I

Lanette Anderson, JD, MSN, RN 
West Virginia-PN, Area II 
Board of Directors Liaison

NCLEX® Item Review 
Subcommittee
Janzie Allmacher, MSN, ACNS-BC, 
RN, CEN  
Virgin Islands, Area IV

Nina Almasy, MSN, RN 
Texas, Area III

William Anderson, JD, RN 
Kansas, Area II

Diane D. Blier, MSN, NP-C, RN 
Rhode Island, Area IV

Bonnie Cone, MSN, RN 
Texas, Area III

Sheila Davis, LPN 
Vermont, Area IV 

Mariclaire E. England, PHN, RN 
Minnesota, Area II

Sara A. Griffith, MSN, RN, PCCN 
North Carolina, Area III

Georgina R. Howard, MPA, RN-BC 
New York, Area IV

Jennifer Lewis, MSN, MBA, RN 
North Carolina, Area III

Nancy McCarthy, RN 
Louisiana-PN, Area III

Report of the NCLex® examination Committee 
(NeC)

Background
As a standing committee of NCSBN, the NEC is charged with advising the NCSBN Board 
of Directors (BOD) on matters related to the NCLEX® process, including examination item 
development, security, administration and quality assurance to ensure consistency with the 
member boards’ need for examinations. In order to accomplish this, the committee monitors 
the NCLEX-RN® and NCLEX-PN® Examinations processes to ensure policies, procedures and 
standards utilized by the program meet and/or exceed guidelines proposed by the testing and 
measurement profession. The NEC recommends test plans to the Delegate Assembly.

Additionally, the committee oversees the activities of the NCLEX® Item Review Subcommittee 
(NIRSC), which plays a critical role in the item development and review processes. Individual NEC 
members act as chairs of the subcommittee on a rotating basis. Highlights of the activities of the 
NEC and NIRSC activities follow.

highlights of FY14 Activities
The following lists the highlights and accomplishments in fulfilling the NEC charge for fiscal year 
2014 (FY14).

FY14 charges:

1. Advise the BOD on matters related to the NCLEX examination process, including 
examination item development, security, administration and quality assurance to ensure 
consistency with the member boards’ need for examinations. 

2. Recommend test plans to the Delegate Assembly. 

Joint Research Committee (JRC) 
The JRC is composed of NCSBN and Pearson VUE psychometric staff, along with a selected 
group of leading experts in the testing and measurement field. The committee reviews and 
conducts psychometric research to provide empirical support for the use of the NCLEX as a valid 
measurement of initial nursing licensure, as well as to investigate possible future enhancements 
to the examination program.

Several new research projects were completed in FY14. An example is the development of an 
optimal item pool design for computerized adaptive testing (CAT). The JRC also approved a 
number of research proposals in the past year, including a study examining clinical decision 
making in the context of various item types.

NCSBN Examinations Department Internship Program 
In 2014, NCSBN sponsored its third summer internship program for advanced doctoral students 
in educational measurement and related fields. The internship was eight weeks in June and July 
2014 and was awarded to one graduate student. The selected intern participated in research 
under the guidance of NCSBN psychometric staff, and acquired practical experience working on 
licensure and certification exams. In addition, the intern worked on a research project that was 
presented to the JRC at the conclusion of the internship. 

The goal of this internship is to provide practical experience with operational CAT programs to 
measurement students. The intern worked with testing professionals to learn how the NCLEX 
exams are developed and administered, gained knowledge of CAT subjects, and discussed 
current measurement topics. In addition, the intern conducted a research project directly 
pertaining to issues encountered in operational CAT programs.
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RN and PN Continuous Practice Analysis Studies 
NCSBN began administering the 2013 RN and PN Continuous Practice Analysis online survey 
instruments in December 2012, and finished the analyses in the second fiscal quarter of 2014. The 
studies were separated into four quarterly administration periods. Two forms of the electronic 
survey instrument were administered in all four periods for both PN and RN samples. 

The two survey forms contained demographic questions and job task statements relevant to 
entry-level nursing practice. Invitations were sent via email and reminder emails were sent to 
nonresponders in the first, second and fourth weeks of the administration period. Newly licensed 
RNs and PNs, defined as individuals who have passed the NCLEX-RN or NCLEX-PN six months 
or fewer prior to the survey data collection, were included in the survey sample. The duration of 
each data collection period was eight weeks. Following each period, datasets from each survey 
form were combined and demographic frequency analyses, as well as average rating analyses 
were completed. Results were very similar across all four survey periods and were also comparable 
to previous practice analysis studies. 

Currently, the 2014 RN and PN Continuous Practice Analysis survey administration is underway. 
Data collection for these surveys began in December 2013 and will continue through October 
2014. The methodology and survey forms from the 2013 RN and PN Continuous Practice Analysis 
are being utilized for the 2014 surveys.

2014 NCLEX-PN® Test Plan 
The most recent triennial NCLEX-PN Practice Analysis study was completed in 2012. The periodic 
performance of practice analysis (i.e., job analysis) studies assists NCSBN in evaluating the validity 
of the test plan that guides content distribution of the licensure examination. As a result, the 2014 
NCLEX-PN® Test Plan was developed and subsequently approved during the NCSBN Annual 
Meeting in August 2013. This test plan became effective on April 1, 2014. 

Along with the development of the 2014 NCLEX-PN® Test Plan, NCSBN performs the triennial 
review of the NCLEX-PN passing standard. In December 2013, the BOD considered all available 
evidence, including results from a criterion-referenced standard setting study (see section below 
on PN Standard Setting Workshop), as well as annual national surveys of nursing professionals. It 
determined that safe and effective entry-level PN practice requires a greater level of knowledge, 
skills and ability than it did three years ago. This resulted in the decision to increase the  
NCLEX-PN passing standard. Effective April 1, 2014, the new passing standard of -0.21 logits was 
implemented for the NCLEX-PN Examination. 

RN Practice Analysis and Knowledge Skills and Ability (KSA) Study 
The triennial NCLEX-RN Practice Analysis and Knowledge, Skills and Ability (KSA) studies are 
currently underway. In November 2013, a panel of subject matter experts (SMEs) met to develop 
a comprehensive list of entry-level registered nurse (RN) activity statements that form the basis 
of the 2014 NCLEX-RN Practice Analysis and subsequent development of the 2016 NCLEX-RN® 

Test Plan. Launched in spring 2014, the NCLEX-RN Practice Analysis survey requested feedback 
from newly licensed nurses regarding the importance and frequency of the activity statements as 
it relates to client safety and decreasing client complications.

Simultaneously, the development and subsequent launch of the NCLEX-PN KSA survey is in 
progress. In December 2013, a separate SME panel met to develop a list of knowledge statements 
relevant to entry-level RN practice. The KSA survey requested newly licensed nurses, as well 
as educators and supervisors who work with entry-level nurses, to respond as it related to the 
importance of the knowledge statements in the delivery of entry-level RN care. Results obtained 
from the KSA study will be used to inform item development for the 2016 NCLEX-RN® Test Plan.

Gene I. Pingle, RN-BC, CEN 
Washington, Area I

Rebecca Reese, LPN 
Idaho, Area I

Brenda B. Rowe, JD, MN, RN 
Georgia, Area III

Felicia Stokes, JD 
District of Columbia, Area IV,

Rhigel (Jay) Tan, DNP, APN, 
PMHNP, ANP, GNP, RN 
Nevada, Area I

Julie Traynor, MS, RN 
North Dakota, Area II

Jennifer Winston, MS, RN 
Ohio, Area II

Staff
Philip Dickison, PhD, RN 
Chief Officer, Examinations

Melissa Franke 
Administration Manager, 
Examinations

Jennifer Gallagher 
Operations Manager Examinations

Chelsea Kelley 
Associate, Examinations

Doyoung Kim, PhD 
Senior Psychometrician, 
Examinations

Nicole Williams, MSN, RN-BC 
Nursing Content Manager, 
Examinations

Terrence Wright, MA 
Test Development Manager, 
Examinations

Ada Woo, PhD, MA 
Associate Director, Measurement 
and Testing, Examinations

Meeting Dates 
��Oct. 7-8, 2013 
(NCLEX® Examination 
Committee Business Meeting)

��Dec. 16-18, 2013  
(NCLEX® Item Review 
Subcommittee Meeting)

�� Jan. 13-14, 2014  
(NCLEX® Examination 
Committee Business Meeting)

��March 17-19, 2014 
(NCLEX® Item Review 
Subcommittee Meeting)

��April 28-30, 2014 
(NCLEX® Item Review 
Subcommittee Meeting)

��April 14-15, 2014  
(NCLEX® Examination 
Committee Business Meeting)
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PN Standard Setting Workshop 
Every three years, NCSBN conducts a practice analysis for entry-level PN licensure. Based on the 
practice analysis, NCSBN makes appropriate changes to the NCLEX-PN Test Plan if necessary 
and establishes a new passing standard based on the new test plan. These steps help ensure that 
the NCLEX-PN Examination continues to reflect current nursing practice and that nurses who 
pass the NCLEX-PN will continue to meet minimal levels of nursing competence.

A panel of SMEs convened in Chicago, Sept. 25-27, 2013, to conduct a criterion-referenced  
NCLEX-PN® Standard Setting Workshop. The SME panel was composed of nurses who 
represented all four NCSBN geographic areas and practiced in a variety of settings. The panel’s 
findings supported the creation of a higher passing standard. The BOD used the workshop 
results and recommendations from the panel as part of its considerations for the revised NCLEX-
PN passing standard.

NCLEX® Alternate Item Types 
The committee consistently reviews the present and future of the NCLEX with an eye toward 
innovations that would maintain the examination’s premier status in licensure. In keeping with 
this plan, the Examinations content staff and Pearson VUE content staff finalized a strategy for the 
development and delivery of alternate item types that can include multimedia. 

NCLEX® Test Center Enhancements
Pearson VUE opened four new Pearson Professional Centers (PPCs) in the U.S. in 2014. In addition, 
Pearson VUE also replaced eight test centers with larger test sites during 2014. 

Evaluated and Monitored NCLEX® Examination Policies and Procedures 
The committee reviews the BOD’s examination-related policies and procedures, as well as the 
NEC policies and procedures annually and updates them as necessary. 

NCLEX® Paperless Project 
In an effort to improve effectiveness and efficiency, the NCLEX program went “green” and 
transitioned to a paperless program this fiscal year. NCSBN can more expediently and reliably 
deliver the same information through electronic means. The paperless initiative was implemented 
Jan. 1, 2014, and was a smooth and successful transition.

Definition of an Entry-level Nurse
The Examinations department conducted a literature review of the health care industry’s definition 
and practice surrounding entry-level incumbent characteristics. The results indicated that entry-
level nurse characteristics are evident within the first one to two years of practice. Additionally, 
staff consulted a group of SMEs asking the following question: “Considering the environment 
of practice, the needs of today’s client and practice competency considerations a new nurse will 
face when entering the nursing profession, what is the length of time entry-level characteristics 
will remain present?” As a result of the study, the NEC made a recommendation to change the 
definition of an entry-level nurse to “no more than 12 months of practice.”

MONITORED ASPECTS OF EXAMINATION DEVELOPMENT

Conducted NEC and NIRSC Sessions 
To ensure consistency regarding the manner in which NCLEX items are reviewed before 
becoming operational, members of the NEC continue to chair subcommittee meetings. The 
committee and the subcommittee: (1) reviewed RN and PN operational and pretest items;  
(2) provided direction regarding RN and PN multiple-choice and alternate format items; and  
(3) made decisions addressing revisions to content coding, operational definitions for client 
needs, cognitive codes, and the integrated processes. As an additional quality assurance 
measure, the subcommittee evaluates the accuracy of a random sample of all validations for 
pretest and master pool items scheduled for review.

�� June 23-25, 2014  
(NCLEX® Item Review 
Subcommittee Meeting)

�� July 16, 2014  
(NCLEX® Examination 
Committee Conference Call)

�� July 28-30, 2014 
(NCLEX® Item Review 
Subcommittee Meeting)

��Aug. 25-27, 2014  
(NCLEX® Item Review 
Subcommittee Meeting)

�� Sept. 22-24, 2014  
(NCLEX® Item Review 
Subcommittee Meeting)

Relationship to  
Strategic plan 

Strategic Initiative D

Develop competency assessments 
to support the future of health 
care and the advancement of 
regulatory excellence.

Strategic Objective D1

Enhance precision of the 
measurement of NCLEX 
candidates through the use of the 
state-of-the-art technologies and 
unfolding scoring models.

Strategic Objective D2

Investigate use of NCSBN’s exam 
resources to support the work of 
the regulatory bodies.
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Assistance from the subcommittee continues to reduce the NEC’s item review workload, 
facilitating its efforts toward achieving defined goals. As the item pools continue to grow, 
review of operational items is critical to ensure that the item pools reflect current entry-level 
nursing practice. At this time, the number of volunteers serving on the subcommittee is 19, with 
representation from all four NCSBN geographic areas. Orientation to the subcommittee occurs 
at each meeting and is offered as needed on a quarterly basis.

Monitored Item Production 

Under the direction of the NEC, RN and PN pretest items were written and reviewed by NCLEX® 

Item Development Panels (for panel productivity, see Tables 1 and 2). As part of the contractual 
requirements with the test service, items that use alternate formats (i.e., any format other than 
multiple choice) have been developed and deployed in item pools. Information about items 
using alternate formats has been made available to member boards and candidates in the 
NCLEX® Candidate Bulletin, candidate tutorial and on the NCSBN website.

NCSBN Item Development Sessions Held At Pearson VUE

Table 1. RN Item Development Productivity Comparison

Year
Writing 
Sessions

Item
Writers

Items
Written

Review 
Sessions

Items 
Reviewed

April 02 – March 03 4 47 2,611 7 1,542

April 03 – March 04 2 23 1,097 5 1,446

April 04 – March 05 1 12 301 4 1,415

April 05 – March 06 5 66 2,514 7 2,885

April 06 – March 07 3 47 1,835 6 3,195

April 07 – March 08 3 47 1,815 5 2,556

April 08 – March 09 3 39 1,724 5 3,036

April 09 – March 10 6 66 1,931 14 7,948

April 10 – March 11 11 126 3,208 15 7,638

April 11 – March 12 7 83 3,640 11 6,035

April 12 – March 13 4 45 1,579 6 2,970

April 13 – March 14 6 60 2,047 7 4,306

Table 2. PN Item Development Productivity Comparison

Year
Writing 
Sessions

Item  
Writers

Items 
Written

Review 
Sessions

Items 
Reviewed

April 02 – March 03 3 33 1,476 6 1,547

April 03 – March 04 2 24 968 5 1,611

April 04 – March 05 1 11 430 3 2,124

April 05 – March 06 4 50 1,938 5 3,682

April 06 – March 07 3 45 2,453 4 1,661

April 07 – March 08 3 48 2,378 6 3,304

April 08 – March 09 1 16 551 6 2,829

April 09 – March 10 2 24 869 5 1,578

April 10 – March 11 3 35 1,267 12 5,776

April 11 – March 12 5 46 1,643 11 6,140

April 12 – March 13 6 70 2,570 12 5,481

April 13 – March 14 6 57 1,861 6 4,343

Pearson VUE continues to work to improve item development sessions and increase the quality 
and quantity of the NCLEX items.
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Monitored Item Sensitivity Review
NCLEX® Pretest Item Sensitivity Review procedures are designed to eliminate item wording that 
could be elitist, stereotypical, have different meanings for different ethnic or geographic groups, 
or have an inappropriate tone. Review panels are composed of members who represent the 
diversity of NCLEX candidates. Prior to pretesting, items are reviewed by sensitivity panels and 
any items identified by the group are referred to the NEC for final disposition.

Evaluated Item Development Process and Progress 
The NEC evaluated reports provided at each meeting on item development sessions conducted 
by the test service. NCLEX staff continues to oversee each panel. Overall, panelists and NCLEX 
staff in attendance have rated item development sessions favorably.

Monitored Development of Operational NCLEX® Item Pools 
NCSBN Examinations staff monitored the configuration of RN and PN operational item pools. 
The process of configuring operational item pools involves a few critical variables outlined in the 
NCLEX test plan; however, the quality control checks performed afterward are based upon both 
nursing content and psychometric variables. The resulting operational item pools were evaluated 
extensively with regard to these variables and were found to be within operational specifications. 
To ensure that operational item pools and the item selection algorithm were functioning together 
as expected, simulated examinations were evaluated. Using these simulated examinations, the 
functioning of the algorithm was scrutinized with regard to the distribution of items by test plan 
content area. It was concluded that the operational item pools and the item selection algorithm 
were acting in concert to produce exams that were within NCSBN specifications and were 
comparable to exams drawn from previous NCLEX item pool deployments. These conclusions 
were reinforced by replicating the analyses using actual candidate data. The committee will 
continue to monitor performance of the NCLEX through these and other psychometric reports 
and analyses.

Member Board Review of Items

Boards of nursing (BONs) are provided opportunities to conduct reviews of NCLEX items twice 
a year. Based on this review, BONs may refer items to the NEC for review and comment for one 
of the following reasons: not entry-level practice, not consistent with the nurse practice act or for 
other reasons. In October 2013, the committee reviewed the items referred from the April 2013 
Member Board Review. The committee provided direction on the resolution of each referred 
item and staff gave BONs feedback on the committee’s decisions on all referred items. The NEC 
encourages each member board to take advantage of the semi-annual opportunities to review 
NCLEX items. The October 2013 review consisted of 12 BONs, an increase from seven BONs 
during the October 2012 review. The April 2013 review consisted of six BONs, an increase from 
four BONs during the April 2012 review. For the April 2014 review, 12 BONs participated. 

Item-related Incident Reports (IRs)
Electronically filed incident reports may be submitted at PPCs when candidates question item 
content. Pearson VUE and NCSBN staff continues to investigate each incident and reports their 
findings to the NEC for decisions related to retention of the item.

MONITOR EXAMINATION ADMINISTRATION

Monitored Procedures for Candidate Tracking: Candidate Matching Algorithm 
The committee continued to monitor the status and effectiveness of the candidate-matching 
algorithm. On a semiannual basis, Pearson VUE conducts a check for duplicate candidate records 
on all candidates who have tested within the last six months. 

Monitored the Security Related to Publication and Administration of the NCLEX® 
The NEC continues to approach security proactively, and has developed and implemented 
formal evaluation procedures to identify and correct potential breaches of security. 
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NCSBN and its testing partner, Pearson VUE provide mechanisms and opportunities for 
individuals to inform NCSBN about possible examination eligibility and administration violations. 
In addition, NCSBN works directly with two third-party security firms to conduct extensive open-
source Web patrol services. Patrolling consists of monitoring websites, social media discussion 
forums, online study services/programs and peer-to-peer nursing networks that may contain 
proprietary examination material/information and/or provide an environment for any possible 
threats to the examination. 

NCSBN also develops and maintains an annual site visit plan for its domestic and international 
test centers. The plan is designed to conduct unannounced, on-site visits of test centers for the 
purpose of ensuring NCSBN’s established procedural/security measures are being consistently 
implemented by Pearson VUE test administration staff. NCSBN, Pearson VUE and the NEC are 
committed to vigilance in ensuring the security of the NCLEX.

Compliance with the 30-/45-Day Scheduling Rule for Domestic PPCs 
The NEC monitors compliance with the 30/45-day scheduling rule. For the period of Jan. 1, 2013 
to Dec. 31, 2013, Pearson VUE reported zero capacity violations. Pearson VUE has a dedicated 
department that continues to analyze center utilization levels in order to project future testing 
volumes and meet the testing needs of all of their testing clients. As an early indicator of center 
usage, Pearson VUE reports to NCSBN staff on a weekly basis when sites exceed 80 percent 
capacity levels.

Responded to Member Board Inquiries Regarding NCLEX® Administration 
As part of its activities, the committee and the Examinations department staff responded to 
member board questions and concerns regarding administration of the NCLEX.

More specific information regarding the performance of Pearson VUE can be found in  
Attachment A.

Administered NCLEX® at International Sites 
The international test centers meet the same security specifications and follow the same 
administration procedures as the professional centers located in member board jurisdictions. 
See Attachment A for the 2013 candidate volumes and pass rates for the international testing 
centers.

eDuCAte StAKehoLDeRS

NCLEX® Research Presentations and Publications
NCSBN staff presented at two sessions at the 2014 Association of Test Publishers (ATP) 
Innovations in Testing Conference in Scottsdale, Ariz. Collaborating with colleagues from other 
testing organizations, NCSBN staff shared experiences in a session titled “Creating Innovation 
in Your Testing Program: The Experiences of Some Who Have ‘Been There’.” Staff also co-
presented in the workshop “Psychometric Rules of Thumb that Every Credentialing Manager 
Should Know.” To the international audience, staff presented the paper “Journey from Approval 
of Accommodations to Implementing Those Accommodations” at the Europe ATP Conference 
in St. Julians, Malta. ATP is an organization representing providers of tests, assessment tools 
and services. Its annual conference provides a venue where researchers and practitioners come 
together to improve practice and advance the field of testing and measurement.

At the 2013 Council on Licensure, Enforcement and Regulation (CLEAR) Annual Education 
Conference in St. Louis, Mo., NCSBN Examinations staff took part in the expert panel discussion 
“Responding to Your Questions about Examinations: Ask the Experts.” Participation in industry 
expert panels such as this reinforced NCSBN’s position as one of the leading test developers in 
the licensure and certification field. CLEAR promotes regulatory excellence through conferences 
and various education programs. It is a prominent international organization within the regulation 
community.
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In addition, NCSBN and Pearson VUE staff jointly presented “Score Reporting Pitfalls for 
Licensure and Certification Examinations” at the Institute of Credentialing Excellence (ICE) 
Exchange Conference. ICE is a professional membership association that provides education, 
networking, and other resources for organizations and individuals who work in and serve the 
credentialing industry. 

Active involvement with testing and regulatory organizations such as ATP, CLEAR and ICE not 
only helps NCSBN share expertise on best testing practices worldwide, but also allows NCSBN 
to move ahead in psychometric testing solutions through the collective strength of internal and 
external stakeholders. Furthermore, collaborating on psychometric testing issues with external 
communities allows NCSBN to remain at the forefront of the testing industry.

Test Development and Industry Presentations and Publications 
NCSBN Examinations staff regularly conducts presentations, publishes articles, and hosts 
workshops for NCSBN stakeholders and audiences in the testing industry. In 2014, NCSBN 
Examinations staff published “Assessing DIF among Small Samples with Separate Calibration 
t and Mantel-Haenszel Chi-Square Statistics in the Rasch Model” in the Journal of Applied 
Measurement. This study was conducted in collaboration with members of the Joint Research 
Committee. Additionally, Examinations staff presented five papers at the jointly held 2014 
American Educational Research Association (AERA) and National Council on Measurement in 
Education (NCME) Annual Conferences. AERA and NCME are prestigious measurement and 
testing organizations with broad membership bases. These organizations are internationally 
recognized as the premier psychometric membership associations. These conferences took 
place in Philadelphia, Pa. in April 2014.

NCSBN Examinations staff, collaborating with vendors Pearson VUE and Mountain Measurement, 
presented five papers and two roundtable sessions at the 9th Conference of the International 
Test Commission (ITC) in Spain. The ITC is an “association of national psychological associations, 
test commissions, publishers and other organizations committed to promoting effective testing 
and assessment policies and to the proper development, evaluation and uses of educational 
and psychological instruments.” The conference took place in San Sebastian, Spain in July 2014.

To ensure that NCSBN membership has continued involvement in the NCLEX program, and is 
informed of test development practice, the Examinations department hosted four informational 
webinars for member boards.

Additionally, as part of the department’s outreach activities, Examinations content staff conducted 
four NCSBN-sponsored NCLEX® Regional Workshops. Regional workshops are presented for 
the purpose of providing information to educators preparing students to take the NCLEX. 
The member boards that hosted a regional workshop were Alabama, Arkansas, Ohio, South 
Dakota and Texas. These opportunities assist NCSBN’s Examinations department in educating 
stakeholders about the examination, as well as recruit for NCSBN item development panels.

NCLEX® Member Board Manual 
The NCLEX® Member Board Manual contains policies and procedures related to the development 
and administration of the NCLEX. Twice a year, NCSBN updates the NCLEX® Member Board 
Manual to reflect any changes to policies and procedures. Ad hoc changes are also made to the 
manual when necessary. 

NCLEX® Candidate Bulletin and NCLEX® Information Flyer
The candidate bulletin contains procedures and key information specific to candidates preparing 
to test for the NCLEX. The candidate bulletin is updated on an annual basis and can be obtained 
in electronic format. The abbreviated at-a-glance version of the bulletin was discontinued in 
2014. The NCLEX® Information Flyer was created as a brief snapshot of the NCLEX candidate 
process, rules and identification requirements, and is available in an electronic format.
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NCLEX® Conference 
Historically, the Examinations staff has coordinated and hosted an NCLEX® Conference in order 
to provide member boards, educators and other stakeholders an opportunity to learn about 
the NCLEX program. The 2013 NCLEX® Conference was held in Chicago, Ill. on Sept. 9, 2013,  
with approximately 350 participants. The 2014 NCLEX® Conference is scheduled for Monday, 
Sept. 29, 2014, in Charlotte, N.C. In addition, the NCLEX® Conference for Canadian Educators 
was held in Calgary, Alberta on April 28, 2014.

NCLEX® Program Reports 
NCSBN Examinations staff monitors production of the NCLEX® Program Reports as delivered 
by the vendor. Program reports can be ordered, paid for and downloaded via a Web-based 
system that permits program directors and staff to receive reports quickly and in a more portable, 
electronic format. The Web-based system also allows subscribers to distribute the reports via 
email to people who need them most – the faculty and staff that design curriculum and teach 
students. Subscribers may also copy and paste relevant data, including tables and charts, into their 
own reports and presentations. This is particularly beneficial if the program uses these reports 
to supplement the academic accreditation process. NCLEX® Program Report subscriptions are 
offered on semiannual and annual bases. In addition, beginning in the first fiscal quarter of 2013, 
supplemental report data in CSV format were introduced as an optional offering to accompany 
NCLEX® Program Report subscriptions. 

NCLEX® Unofficial Quick Results Service 
The member boards, through NCSBN, offer candidates the opportunity to obtain their “unofficial 
results” (official results are only available from the BONs) through the NCLEX® Quick Results 
Service. A candidate may use the Internet to access their unofficial result 48 business hours after 
completing their examination. As of December 2012, the option to obtain NCLEX® Quick Results 
over the phone was discontinued due to a lack of usage and service providers. Currently, 47 
BONs participate in offering this service to their candidates. In 2013, approximately 133,000 
candidates utilized this service.

Future Activities
�� Complete the continuous online RN and PN practice analyses.

�� Continue to monitor all administrative, test development and psychometric aspects of the 
NCLEX examination program.

�� Evaluate all aspects of the NCLEX program and initiate additional quality assurance 
processes as needed.

�� Evaluate NCLEX informational initiatives, such as the NCLEX® Conference, NCLEX® 
Regional Workshops and other presentations.

�� Monitor progress of Canadian transition to use the NCLEX-RN® Examination in 2015.

�� Evaluate ongoing international testing.

�� Host the 2014 NCLEX® Conference.

�� Introduce additional alternate format item types.

�� Explore additional item writing strategies for the NCLEX.

Attachment
A. Annual Report of Pearson VUE for the NCLEX® 
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Attachment A

Annual Report of pearson vue for the NCLex®

This report represents information gained during Pearson VUE’s 11th full year of providing test 
delivery services for the NCLEX® program to NCSBN. This report summarizes the activities of the 
past year.

peARSoN vue oRgANizAtioNAL ChANgeS 
Several staffing changes occurred during the Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2013, reporting period.

Program Management
�� Wendy Jackson joined the NCLEX® team as senior client support specialist in February 2013 

after Jessica Carlson moved to another position at Pearson. Jackson has worked on multiple 
projects for the Client Support Specialist team since 2011.

�� Marianne Griffin became the senior client program manager in August 2013 to fill the 
vacancy created when James Mooney moved to a new position within Pearson. Griffin has 
worked in the Program Management group since 2009. 

Psychometrics
�� Joe Betts, PhD, NCSP, joined the team in October 2013 as manager, Psychometric 

Services, after Jerry Gorham resigned in August 2013. He is a graduate of the University of 
Minnesota, Twin Cities, where he studied psychology, psychometric methods and applied 
statistics. Betts worked for more than a decade as a psychologist in both clinical and school 
milieus, and he also has more than 10 years of experience in research and development, 
and psychometric services. Previous positions included senior measurement statistician, 
principal research scientist, and director of measurement services for large-scale testing 
organizations with international experience. Betts has extensively published in professional 
journals and currently holds several editorial board positions for various professional 
journals. Additionally, he engages in active research projects that result in scholarly 
presentations at professional venues.

�� Nathan Becker became a statistical analyst in May 2013 to fill the vacancy created when 
Kristine Lower left the company. He has an undergraduate degree in mathematics from 
the University of South Dakota. Becker served as a math teacher in the U.S. Peace Corps in 
Tanzania. He has held several significant positions utilizing his statistical and computational 
skills, ranging from application programming to working with financial models for 
companies in Silicon Valley and the Minneapolis area. Prior to moving to the NCLEX team, 
Becker worked in the Software Quality Assurance group as an automation programmer and 
analyst. 

Content Development
�� Lisa Barton, MSN, RN, joined the NCLEX team as a content developer in June 2013 to 

fill a previous vacancy. Barton worked as a labor and delivery and postpartum nurse for 
seven years and received her master’s degree in nursing with a concentration in Public 
Health Education from Benedictine University. She is certified in inpatient obstetrics from 
the National Certification Corporation. She is a member of Sigma Theta Tau International 
Society for Nurses and a member of the Association of Women’s Health, Obstetric, and 
Neonatal Nurses.

�� Kelly McMunn, MSN, RN, became an NCLEX® content developer in September 2013 to 
replace Megan McCatty, who resigned in 2013. Kelly holds a master’s degree in nursing with 
a focus in nursing education from Indiana Wesleyan University. She worked as a nursing 
instructor for a licensed practical nurse program for the past four years. Her previous 
experience includes medical-surgical nursing with a concentration in patient care for stroke, 
orthopedic and cardiac patients. McMunn is a member of the National League for Nursing.



330
Business Book | 2014 NCSBN Annual Meeting
Revolutionizing the Now

�� Marie Lindsay, RN, was promoted to senior content developer, NCLEX. Marie joined the 
NCLEX team as a content developer in 2009. 

teSt DeveLopMeNt
Psychometric and statistical analyses of the NCLEX data continue to be conducted and 
documented as required. Pearson VUE is continuing to develop multiple choice items, as well as 
items in alternate formats, such as multiple response, drag-and-drop ordered response, graphics 
items and chart/exhibit items. Pearson VUE continues to focus on producing both the traditional 
and alternate-format items at targeted difficulty levels and in sufficient quantities to meet our 
contractual obligations.

NCLex® exAMiNAtioNS opeRAtioNS
On April 1, 2013, the passing score for the NCLEX-RN® Examination changed from -0.16 to 0.00 
on the logit scale. There was no change in passing score for the NCLEX-PN® Examination.

MeASuReMeNt AND ReSeARCh
The Joint Research Committee (JRC) met twice in the year 2013. The first JRC meeting was 
held at the NCSBN offices in Chicago on March 29, 2013. In attendance were JRC members Ira 
Bernstein, Gage Kingsbury and Mark Reckase; NCSBN staff Phil Dickison, Sarah Hagge, Michael 
Monardo and Ada Woo; and Pearson VUE staff Betty Bergstrom, Jerry Gorham, Shu-chuan Kao, 
John Stahl, William Muntean and Anthony Zara. JRC guest researchers present were Michael 
Kolen, Won-Chan Lee, Casey Marks, Adisack Nhouyvanisvong and Wei Wang.

The JRC received updates on four ongoing projects: Using Response Time to Detect Item 
Preknowledge and Increase Measurement Efficiency in Computerized Adaptive Tests (Qian); 
Discovering Factors that Affect the Difficulty of NCLEX® Items (Nhouyvanisvong); Assessment 
of the Reliability and Validity of the NCLEX® in Measuring Complexity of Cognitive Processing 
(Muntean); and Comparability of Scores and Passing Decisions on Different Item Pools for the 
NCLEX-RN® and NCLEX-PN® Examinations (Kolen). The JRC also received two research proposals: 
Understanding Critical Decision-Making in the Context of Extended Response Item Types 
(Luecht) and Development of an Item Pool Design for the NCLEX-RN® Examination (Reckase). 

The second JRC meeting was held at the Pearson VUE offices in Chicago on Aug. 23, 2013. In 
attendance were JRC members Ira Bernstein, Gage Kingsbury and Mark Reckase; NCSBN staff 
Hong Qian, Xiao Luo, Michael Monardo and Ada Woo; and Pearson VUE staff Betty Bergstrom, 
Shu-chuan Kao, William Muntean, Nathan Becker and Anthony Zara. One JRC guest researcher 
was also present: Jing-Ru Xu. 

The JRC received updates on six ongoing projects: Using Response Time to Detect Item 
Preknowledge and Increase Measurement Efficiency in Computerized Adaptive Tests (Qian); 
Assessment of the Reliability and Validity of the NCLEX® in Measuring Complexity of Cognitive 
Processing (Muntean, Kimball and Bernstein); Review of NCLEX® Next Generation Items: A 
Comparison Study of Fixed and Variable Content Distributions in Computer Adaptive Testing 
(Xu); Progress Report: Potential Changes to NCLEX® to Help Slow Starting NCLEX® Candidates 
(Kingsbury); and Development of an Item Pool Design for the NCLEX-RN® Examination (Reckase). 
The JRC also received one research proposal: Understanding Critical Decision-Making in the 
Context of Extended Response Item Types (Luecht).

peARSoN vue MeetiNgS With NCSBN
�� Jan. 14-16, 2013 NCLEX® Examination Committee Business Meeting

�� March 11-13, 2013 NCSBN® Midyear Meeting

�� March 27, 2013 NCLEX® Development Group Meeting

�� March 29, 2013 NCLEX® Joint Research Committee Meeting

�� June 5, 2013  Joint Psychometric Meeting
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�� June 18, 2013 NCLEX® Development Group Meeting

�� July 17, 2013  NCLEX® Examination Committee Business Meeting

�� Aug. 14-16, 2013 NCSBN Annual Meeting

�� Aug. 23, 2013  Joint Research Committee Meeting

�� Sept. 9, 2013  NCLEX® Conference

�� Oct. 7-9, 2013 NCLEX® Examination Committee Business Meeting

�� Nov. 20, 2013  NCSBN Contract Evaluation Meeting 

�� Nov. 22, 2013  NCLEX® Research Meeting

ReCuRRiNg MeetiNgS AND CoNFeReNCe CALLS
�� Jason Schwartz and Phil Dickison meet in person biweekly, in addition to conducting calls 

and other meetings on an as-needed basis.

�� Jason Schwartz and Ada Woo meet in person biweekly, in addition to conducting calls and 
other meetings on an as-needed basis.

�� Marianne Griffin and Ada Woo held weekly calls on NCLEX operations matters.

�� Marianne Griffin and NCSBN operational staff meet biweekly regarding NCLEX operations 
matters.

�� Phil Dickison and Tony Zara meet regularly by phone and in person.

�� Greg Applegate and Terrence Wright meet in person biweekly, in addition to conducting 
calls and other meetings on an as-needed basis.

�� Conference calls and face-to-face meetings with Pearson VUE and NCSBN content staff are 
held periodically, as needed.

�� Other visits and conference calls are conducted on an as-needed basis.

SuMMARY oF NCLex® exAMiNAtioN ReSuLtS FoR the 2013 CALeNDAR YeAR 
Longitudinal summary statistics are provided in Tables 1 to 8. Results can be compared to data 
from the previous testing year to identify trends in candidate performance and item characteristics 
over time. Compared to 2012, the overall candidate volumes were higher for the NCLEX-RN 
(about 8.03 percent) and lower for the NCLEX-PN (about 6.39 percent). The RN passing rate for 
the overall group was 8.4 percentage points lower for 2013 than for 2012, and the passing rate 
for the reference group was 7.3 percentage points lower for this period compared to 2012. The 
PN overall passing rate was higher by 0.1 percentage points from 2012, and the PN reference 
group passing rate was 0.7 percentage points higher than in 2012. The change in the RN passing 
rate reflects the change in the RN passing standard. These passing rates are consistent with 
expected variations in passing rates and are heavily influenced by demographic characteristics of 
the candidate populations and by changes in testing patterns from year to year. 

The following points are candidate highlights of the 2013 testing year for the NCLEX-RN 
Examination:

�� Overall, 210,552 NCLEX-RN Examination candidates tested during 2013, as compared to 
194,901 during the 2012 testing year. This represents an increase of approximately 8.03 
percent. 

�� The candidate population reflected 155,097 first-time, U.S.-educated candidates who tested 
during 2013, as compared to 150,266 for the 2012 testing year, representing a 3.21 percent 
increase. 

�� The overall passing rate was 71.1 percent in 2013, compared to 79.5 percent in 2012. The 
passing rate for the reference group was 83.0 percent in 2013 and 90.3 percent in 2012.
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�� Approximately 43.7 percent of the total group and 46.0 percent of the reference group 
ended their tests after a minimum of 75 items were administered. This is slightly lower than 
in the 2012 testing year, in which 52.0 percent of the total group and 55.6 percent of the 
reference group took minimum-length exams.

�� The percentage of maximum-length test takers was 17.8 percent for the total group and 
16.8 percent for the reference group. This is slightly higher than last year’s figures (12.9 
percent for the total group and 11.0 percent for the reference group).

�� The average time needed to take the NCLEX-RN Examination during the 2013 testing 
period was 2.68 hours for the overall group and 2.47 hours for the reference group (slightly 
longer than last year’s average times of 2.45 hours and 2.21 hours, respectively).

�� A total of 60.0 percent of the candidates chose to take a break during their examinations 
(compared to 53.7 percent last year).

�� Overall, 2.8 percent of the total group and 1.6 percent of the reference group ran out of 
time before completing the test. These percentages of candidates timing out were higher 
for the total group and for the reference group than the corresponding percentages for 
candidates during the 2012 testing year (2.3 percent and 1.1 percent, respectively).

�� In general, the NCLEX-RN Examination summary statistics for the 2013 testing period 
indicated patterns that were similar to those observed for the 2012 testing period. These 
results provide continued evidence that the administration of the NCLEX-RN Examination is 
psychometrically sound.

The following points are candidate highlights of the 2013 testing year for the NCLEX-PN 
Examination:

�� Overall, 75,282 PN candidates tested in 2013, as compared to 80,424 PN candidates tested 
during 2012. This represents a decrease of approximately 6.39 percent.

�� The candidate population reflected 58,576 first-time, U.S.-educated candidates who tested 
in 2013, as compared to 63,349 for the 2012 testing year (a decrease of approximately 7.53 
percent).

�� The overall passing rate was 73.9 percent in 2013 compared to 73.8 percent in 2012, and the 
reference group passing rate was 84.9 percent in 2013 compared to 84.2 percent in 2012.

�� There were 52.7 percent of the total group and 57.0 percent of the reference group who 
ended their tests after a minimum of 85 items were administered. These figures are slightly 
higher than those from the 2012 testing year, in which 52.4 percent of the total group and 
56.4 percent of the reference group took minimum-length exams.

�� The percentage of maximum-length test takers was 16.9 percent for the total group and 
14.7 percent for the reference group. These figures are slightly higher for the total group 
and slightly lower for the reference group than last year’s percentages (16.8 percent for the 
total group and 14.8 percent for the reference group).

�� The average time needed to take the NCLEX-PN Examination during the 2013 testing 
period was 2.41 hours for the overall group and 2.21 hours for the reference group (these 
figures are similar to last year’s exam times of 2.39 and 2.21 hours, respectively).

�� A total of 59.4 percent of the candidates chose to take a break during their examinations 
(compared to 59.0 percent last year).

�� Overall, 2.7 percent of the total group and 1.5 percent of the reference group ran out of 
time before completing the test (slightly higher than last year’s figures of 2.5 percent and 1.4 
percent, respectively).

�� In general, the NCLEX-PN Examination summary statistics for the 2012 testing period 
indicated patterns that were similar to those observed for the 2012 testing period. These 
results provide continued evidence that the administration of the NCLEX-PN Examination is 
psychometrically sound. 
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Table 1: Longitudinal Technical Summary for the NCLEX-RN® Examination: Group Statistics for 2013 Testing Year 

Jan 13 - Mar 13 Apr 13 - Jun 13 Jul 13 - Sep 13 Oct 13 - Dec 13 Cumulative 2013

Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED

Number Testing 51,091 40,979 58,556 47,819 71,446 53,734 29,459 12,565 210,552 155,097

Percent Passing 79.9 90.3 72.3 83.0 72.2 80.8 50.9 69.0 71.1 83.0

Ave. # Items Taken 117.0 112.1 131.1 129.9 137.5 134.2 141.6 139.1 131.3 127.4

% Taking Min # Items 53.2 56.5 44.1 44.6 39.4 41.0 36.9 38.3 43.7 46.0

% Taking Max # Items 12.2 10.7 18.2 18.3 20.2 19.2 20.8 21.0 17.8 16.8

Ave. Test Time (hours) 2.48 2.27 2.53 2.38 2.76 2.60 3.15 2.86 2.68 2.47

% Taking Break 54.8 48.9 54.9 50.1 62.3 57.7 73.9 66.2 60.0 53.7

% Timing Out 2.5 1.4 2.1 1.2 2.7 1.9 4.6 2.6 2.8 1.6

Table 2: Longitudinal Technical Summary for the NCLEX-RN® Examination: Group Statistics for 2012 Testing Year 

Jan 12 - Mar 12 Apr 12 - Jun 12 Jul 12 - Sep 12 Oct 12- Dec 12 Cumulative 2012

Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED

Number Testing 47,346 37,352 60,718 49,463 62,830 51,025 24,007 12,426 194,901 150,266

Percent Passing 80.9 91.2 82.8 92.7 80.7 88.8 65.2 84.4 79.5 90.3

Ave. # Items Taken 114.3 109.0 112.8 107.5 122.3 118.2 131.0 120.5 118.5 112.6

% Taking Min # Items 53.9 57.2 56.3 59.8 49.6 51.9 43.5 49.0 52.0 55.6

% Taking Max # Items 11.8 10.1 10.4 8.9 14.5 13.1 17.0 13.6 12.9 11.0

Ave. Test Time (hours) 2.34 2.13 2.31 2.08 2.51 2.34 2.88 2.47 2.45 2.21

% Taking Break 51.1 44.6 48.2 41.4 56.0 51.3 66.6 55.6 53.7 45.8

% Timing Out 1.6 0.7 2.1 0.9 2.2 1.3 4.2 2.0 2.3 1.1

Table 3: Longitudinal Technical Summary for the NCLEX-RN® Examination: Item Statistics for 2013 Testing Year*

Operational Item Statistics

Jan 13 - Mar 13 Apr 13 - Jun 13 Jul 13 - Sep 13 Oct 13 - Dec 13 Cumulative 2013

Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev.

Point-Biserial 0.22 0.10 0.21 0.10 0.21 0.1 0.2 0.09 NA NA

Ave. Item Time (secs) 76.5 32.2 71.7 26.0 73.6 21.5 79.1 23.5 NA NA

Pretest Item Statistics

# of Items 999 897 991 217 3,104

Ave. Sample Size 527 628 575 502 570

Mean Point-Biserial 0.08 0.09 0.09 0.11 0.09

Mean P+ 0.56 0.61 0.57 0.62 0.58

Mean b -0.06 -0.26 -0.08 -0.51 -0.15

SD b 1.86 1.66 1.64 1.71 1.74

Total Number Flagged 336 304 292 64 996

Percent Items Flagged 33.6 33.9 29.5 29.5 32.1

*Data does not include research and retest items.
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Table 4: Longitudinal Technical Summary for the NCLEX-RN® Examination: Item Statistics for 2012 Testing Year*

Operational Item Statistics

Jan 12 - Mar 12 Apr 12 - Jun 12 Jul 12 - Sep 12 Oct 12- Dec 12 Cumulative 2012

Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev.

Point-Biserial 0.22 0.10 0.22 0.10 0.21 0.09 0.21 0.09 NA NA

Ave. Item Time (secs) 74.4 32.5 74.6 36.5 74.0 33.3 79.7 27.4 NA NA

Pretest Item Statistics

# of Items 894 1,044 1,296 275 3,509

Ave. Sample Size 503 576 466 483 510

Mean Point-Biserial 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.09 0.08

Mean P+ 0.57 0.63 0.59 0.57 0.60

Mean b -0.09 -0.43 -0.26 -0.16 -0.26

SD b 1.69 1.77 1.66 1.56 1.70

Total Number Flagged 295 367 394 98 1,154

Percent Items Flagged 33.0 35.2 30.4 35.6 32.9

*Data do not include research and retest items.

Table 5: Longitudinal Technical Summary for the NCLEX-PN® Group Statistics for 2013 Testing Year

Jan 13 - Mar 13 Apr 13 - Jun 13 Jul 13 - Sep 13 Oct 13 - Dec 13 Cumulative 2013

Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED

Number Testing 17,565 13,650 16,611 12,208 24,824 20,696 16,282 12,022 75,282 58,576

Percent Passing 73.5 84.2 70.3 83.2 79.0 87.8 69.4 81.1 73.9 84.9

Ave. # Items Taken 116.4 112.5 121.1 116.0 112.7 109.5 120.8 116.6 117.2 113.0

% Taking Min # Items 53.2 57.4 49.2 54.1 56.8 60.5 49.4 53.5 52.7 57.0

% Taking Max # Items 16.2 14.3 19.4 16.5 13.9 12.4 19.6 17.3 16.9 14.7

Ave. Test Time (hours) 2.40 2.21 2.53 2.29 2.27 2.10 2.51 2.3 2.41 2.21

% Taking Break 60.3 53.3 62.8 55.0 53.6 47.5 63.8 56.6 59.4 52.3

% Timing Out 2.8 1.5 3.5 1.9 2.2 1.2 2.7 1.5 2.7 1.5

Table 6: Longitudinal Technical Summary for the NCLEX-PN® Group Statistics for 2012 Testing Year

Jan 12 - Mar 12 Apr 12 - Jun 12 Jul 12 - Sep 12 Oct 12- Dec 12 Cumulative 2012

Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED

Number Testing 19,375 15,528 18,043 13,339 26,034 21,889 16,972 12,593 80,424 63,349

Percent Passing 73.8 83.7 70.6 82.5 79.0 87.2 69.2 81.5 73.8 84.2

Ave. # Items Taken 118.1 115.0 119.4 114.4 113.6 110.7 118.9 114.9 117.1 113.4

% Taking Min # Items 50.8 54.3 50.5 56.1 56.4 59.2 50.2 54.3 52.4 56.4

% Taking Max # Items 17.4 15.7 18.5 16.2 14.8 13.0 17.3 15.2 16.8 14.8

Ave. Test Time (hours) 2.36 2.20 2.43 2.20 2.28 2.14 2.53 2.33 2.39 2.21

% Taking Break 58.3 51.8 60.4 52.3 54.7 49.4 64.8 57.6 59.0 52.2

% Timing Out 2.0 1.2 2.7 1.2 2.1 1.3 3.3 2.1 2.5 1.4
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Table 5: Longitudinal Technical Summary for the NCLEX-PN® Group Statistics for 2013 Testing Year

Jan 13 - Mar 13 Apr 13 - Jun 13 Jul 13 - Sep 13 Oct 13 - Dec 13 Cumulative 2013

Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED Overall

1st Time 

U.S. ED

Number Testing 17,565 13,650 16,611 12,208 24,824 20,696 16,282 12,022 75,282 58,576

Percent Passing 73.5 84.2 70.3 83.2 79.0 87.8 69.4 81.1 73.9 84.9

Ave. # Items Taken 116.4 112.5 121.1 116.0 112.7 109.5 120.8 116.6 117.2 113.0

% Taking Min # Items 53.2 57.4 49.2 54.1 56.8 60.5 49.4 53.5 52.7 57.0

% Taking Max # Items 16.2 14.3 19.4 16.5 13.9 12.4 19.6 17.3 16.9 14.7

Ave. Test Time (hours) 2.40 2.21 2.53 2.29 2.27 2.10 2.51 2.3 2.41 2.21

% Taking Break 60.3 53.3 62.8 55.0 53.6 47.5 63.8 56.6 59.4 52.3

% Timing Out 2.8 1.5 3.5 1.9 2.2 1.2 2.7 1.5 2.7 1.5

Table 8: Longitudinal Technical Summary for the NCLEX-PN® Examination: Item Statistics for 2012 Testing Year*

Operational Item Statistics

Jan 12 - Mar 12 Apr 12 - Jun 12 Jul 12 - Sep 12 Oct 12- Dec 12 Cumulative 2012

Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev.

Point-Biserial 0.22 0.09 0.22 0.09 0.22 0.09 0.21 0.09 NA NA

Ave. Item Time (secs) 70.2 21.4 71.0 24.1 69.5 26.3 73.9 26.5 NA NA

Pretest Item Statistics

# of Items 625 677 1,058 748 3,108

Ave. Sample Size 585 484 468 448 490

Mean Point-Biserial 0.13 0.13 0.11 0.11 0.12

Mean P+ 0.57 0.52 0.50 0.50 0.52

Mean b -0.30 -0.01 0.20 0.13 0.04

SD b 1.68 1.72 1.78 1.62 1.73

Total Number Flagged 179 207 391 255 1,032

Percent Items Flagged 28.6 30.6 37.0 34.1 33.2

*Data do not include research and retest items.

Table 7: Longitudinal Technical Summary for the NCLEX-PN® Examination: Item Statistics for 2013 Testing Year*

Operational Item Statistics

Jan 13 - Mar 13 Apr 13 - Jun 13 Jul 13 - Sep 13 Oct 13 - Dec 13 Cumulative 2013

Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev.

Point-Biserial 0.22 0.09 0.21 0.09 0.22 0.09 0.22 0.09 NA NA

Ave. Item Time (secs) 72.2 22.4 73.8 23.0 78.1 22.9 73.0 26.3 NA NA

Pretest Item Statistics

# of Items 724 496 897 578 2,695

Ave. Sample Size 421 442 474 520 451

Mean Point-Biserial 0.11 0.10 0.11 0.11 0.11

Mean P+ 0.49 0.47 0.50 0.47 0.49

Mean b 0.21 0.32 0.26 0.35 0.27

SD b 1.73 1.66 1.74 1.74 1.72

Total Number Flagged 252 193 318 221 984

Percent Items Flagged 34.8 38.9 35.5 38.2 36.5

*Data do not include research and retest items.
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International Testing Update
Pearson VUE has a total of 242 Pearson Professional Centers (PPCs) in the U.S. and 20 PPCs internationally in Australia, Canada, 
Hong Kong, India, Japan, Mexico, the Philippines, Puerto Rico, Taiwan and the United Kingdom, for a total of 262 test centers 
globally.

Represented in the following tables are international volume by member board, country of education, test center and pass/fail 
rate, respectively. 

Table 9: NCLEX® International Test Center Volume by Member Board* Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2013
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Alaska 8 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0

Arizona 17 0 0 4 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 3

California - RN 134 3 7 4 2 0 1 3 7 2 3 6 0 2 3 1 0 58 5 14 13

California - VN 6 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0

Colorado 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 2 0 1 0 0 1 0 6 0 0 0

Connecticut 16 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 1 0 1

Delaware 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 1

District of Columbia 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0

Florida 111 0 3 0 1 1 2 0 2 1 1 3 0 1 1 0 0 69 2 0 24

Georgia - RN 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3

Guam 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0

Hawaii 61 2 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 0 43 0 1 6

Idaho 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0

Illinois 227 3 1 1 1 0 2 0 5 24 15 6 1 5 0 0 0 158 0 0 5

Indiana 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Iowa 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Kentucky 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Maryland 14 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 3 0 3

Massachusetts 17 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 1 1 1

Michigan 95 0 1 5 0 1 6 5 1 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 1 51 0 0 21

Minnesota 223 1 25 41 15 21 31 59 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 0 0 6

Mississippi 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Missouri 14 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 4

Montana 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
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Table 9: NCLEX® International Test Center Volume by Member Board* Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2013
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Nevada 25 0 2 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 18 0 0 1

New Jersey 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 13 5 0 2

New Mexico 195 1 2 2 0 0 2 0 5 4 0 4 0 3 0 2 1 157 0 2 10

New York 1,079 13 6 6 10 4 18 18 137 18 15 3 4 4 56 277 1 360 23 65 41

North Carolina 15 1 0 2 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 2 0 2

North Dakota 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Northern Mariana 

Islands
114 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 110 0 0 0

Ohio 3 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Oregon 29 0 4 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 17 0 0 3

Pennsylvania 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 6 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 2 3 0 2

South Carolina 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Tennessee 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0

Texas 267 5 1 2 1 0 5 6 3 15 13 12 3 6 0 3 1 165 1 0 25

Vermont 182 0 2 0 2 0 0 2 1 4 2 5 0 20 0 0 0 125 2 0 17

Virgin Islands 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0

Virginia 20 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 5

Washington 20 1 8 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 6 1 0 1

Wisconsin 77 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 13 61 0 0

Total 3,080 34 69 79 35 31 74 104 172 77 57 41 14 44 69 285 4 1,488 116 83 204

*Only member boards with international test center candidate data are represented.
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Table 10: NCLEX® International Test Center Volume by Country of Education Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2013
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Antigua and 

Barbuda
1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Argentina 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Armenia 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Australia 19 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

Belgium 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Bulgaria 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Canada 290 1 34 66 27 27 53 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2

China 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4

Costa Rica 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Eritrea 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finland 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

France 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Germany 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Ghana 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Guyana 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Haiti 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

India 223 1 2 3 0 0 0 8 0 65 55 22 11 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 21

Iran 7 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ireland 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Israel 10 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8

Italy 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Jamaica 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Japan 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 7 0 0 0 0 0

Jordan 10 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 2 0 0 0 1 1 0 1

Kenya 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Korea, North 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Korea, South 494 4 4 0 2 0 2 1 119 0 0 0 0 0 45 269 0 21 0 24 3

Malaysia 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
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Table 10: NCLEX® International Test Center Volume by Country of Education Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2013
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Mexico 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

Myanmar 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Nepal 10 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Netherlands 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

New Zealand 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nigeria 12 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Oman 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pakistan 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Philippines 1,583 5 14 5 3 1 9 6 25 1 0 0 0 3 5 4 0 1,460 2 1 39

Poland 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Puerto Rico 112 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 112 0 0

Romania 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Saint Kitts and Nevis 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Saint Lucia 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Saudi Arabia 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Singapore 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

South Africa 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Spain 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Sweden 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Taiwan 55 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 54 0

Thailand 9 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Trinidad and Tobago 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Turkey 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Ukraine 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

United Kingdom 62 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 59

United States 70 1 13 4 2 2 2 5 0 7 2 1 3 0 4 5 0 3 0 0 16

Venezuela 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Zambia 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 3,080 34 69 79 35 31 74 104 172 77 57 41 14 44 69 285 4 1,488 116 83 204
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Table 11: NCLEX® International Volume by Testing Center Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2013

Site ID City Country Total Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

50482 Sydney Australia 34 5 3 4 1 1 4 3 4 1 2 4 2

50486 Burnaby Canada 69 6 3 6 5 6 5 6 3 6 9 7 7

63110 Edmonton Canada 79 3 10 9 10 5 8 5 8 4 12 1 4

50485 Montreal Canada 35 4 1 1 4 4 0 4 3 3 0 5 6

57935 Ottawa Canada 31 4 0 5 3 5 0 6 3 0 3 1 1

50484 Toronto Canada 74 4 5 0 10 9 6 10 8 2 7 6 7

57936 Toronto (West) Canada 104 8 8 10 11 7 13 5 9 12 4 7 10

50493 Hong Kong Hong Kong 172 20 9 14 14 14 16 9 18 10 17 9 22

50497 Bangalore India 77 8 9 6 8 5 11 4 4 4 8 7 3

50498 Chennai India 57 7 8 6 9 3 3 8 2 0 3 3 5

50495 Delhi India 41 4 4 8 1 6 1 3 4 1 4 2 3

50496 Hyderabad India 14 0 4 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 3 2 2

50494 Mumbai India 44 2 7 5 3 2 4 5 2 6 2 5 1

50500 Chiyoda-ku Japan 69 4 5 4 13 4 8 6 9 5 6 1 4

57585 Osaka-shi Japan 285 6 17 31 31 29 26 18 30 27 24 20 26

50503 Mexico City Mexico 4 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

54555 Manila Philippines 1,488 127 93 123 149 122 108 112 91 151 157 120 135

47108 San Juan Puerto Rico 116 5 10 14 8 10 7 11 11 10 7 12 11

50506 Taipei Taiwan 83 3 4 5 9 6 11 3 5 7 6 5 19

50140 London United Kingdom 204 20 12 22 21 16 14 18 18 14 13 15 21

Total 3,080 240 212 274 312 254 246 236 233 263 288 232 290
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Table 11: NCLEX® International Volume by Testing Center Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2013

Site ID City Country Total Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

50482 Sydney Australia 34 5 3 4 1 1 4 3 4 1 2 4 2

50486 Burnaby Canada 69 6 3 6 5 6 5 6 3 6 9 7 7

63110 Edmonton Canada 79 3 10 9 10 5 8 5 8 4 12 1 4

50485 Montreal Canada 35 4 1 1 4 4 0 4 3 3 0 5 6

57935 Ottawa Canada 31 4 0 5 3 5 0 6 3 0 3 1 1

50484 Toronto Canada 74 4 5 0 10 9 6 10 8 2 7 6 7

57936 Toronto (West) Canada 104 8 8 10 11 7 13 5 9 12 4 7 10

50493 Hong Kong Hong Kong 172 20 9 14 14 14 16 9 18 10 17 9 22

50497 Bangalore India 77 8 9 6 8 5 11 4 4 4 8 7 3

50498 Chennai India 57 7 8 6 9 3 3 8 2 0 3 3 5

50495 Delhi India 41 4 4 8 1 6 1 3 4 1 4 2 3

50496 Hyderabad India 14 0 4 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 3 2 2

50494 Mumbai India 44 2 7 5 3 2 4 5 2 6 2 5 1

50500 Chiyoda-ku Japan 69 4 5 4 13 4 8 6 9 5 6 1 4

57585 Osaka-shi Japan 285 6 17 31 31 29 26 18 30 27 24 20 26

50503 Mexico City Mexico 4 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

54555 Manila Philippines 1,488 127 93 123 149 122 108 112 91 151 157 120 135

47108 San Juan Puerto Rico 116 5 10 14 8 10 7 11 11 10 7 12 11

50506 Taipei Taiwan 83 3 4 5 9 6 11 3 5 7 6 5 19

50140 London United Kingdom 204 20 12 22 21 16 14 18 18 14 13 15 21

Total 3,080 240 212 274 312 254 246 236 233 263 288 232 290
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Standing Rules of the Delegate Assembly
1. Credentialing Procedures and Reports

A. The President shall appoint the Credentials Committee, which is responsible for registering 
and accrediting delegates and alternate delegates.

B. Upon registration, each delegate and alternate shall receive a badge and the appropriate 
number of voting cards authorized for that delegate. Delegates authorized to cast one 
vote shall receive one voting card. Delegates authorized to cast two votes shall receive 
two voting cards. Any transfer of voting cards must be made through the Credentials 
Committee.

C. A registered alternate may substitute for a delegate provided the delegate turns in the 
delegate badge and voting card(s) to the Credentials Committee at which time the 
alternate is issued a delegate badge. The initial delegate may resume delegate status by 
the same process.

D. The Credentials Committee shall give a report at the first business meeting. The report 
will contain the number of delegates and alternates registered as present with proper 
credentials, and the number of delegate votes present. At the beginning of each 
subsequent business meeting, the committee shall present an updated report listing all 
properly credentialed delegates and alternate delegates present, and the number of 
delegate votes present. 

2. Meeting Conduct

A. Meeting Conduct

1. Delegates must wear badges and sit in the section reserved for them.

2. All attendees shall be in their seats at least five minutes before the scheduled meeting 
time.

3. There shall be no smoking in the meeting room.

4. All cellular telephones and pagers shall be turned off or turned to silent vibrating mode. 
An attendee must leave the meeting room to answer a telephone.

5. A delegate’s conversations with non-delegates during a business meeting must take 
place outside the designated delegate area.

6. All attendees have a right to be treated respectfully.

7. There shall be no videotaping, audio recording or photographing of the sessions without 
the written permission of NCSBN.

3. Agenda

A. Business Agenda

1. The Business Agenda is prepared by the President in consultation with the Chief 
Executive Officer and approved by the Board of Directors.

B. Consent Agenda

1. The Consent Agenda contains agenda items that do not recommend actions.

2. The Board of Directors may place items on the Consent Agenda that may be considered 
received without discussion or vote.

3. An item will be removed from the Consent Agenda for discussion or vote at the request 
of any delegate.

4. All items remaining on the Consent Agenda will be considered received without 
discussion or vote.
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4. Motions or Resolutions

A. Only delegates, members of the Board of Directors, and the NCLEX® Examination 
Committee may present motions or resolutions to the Delegate Assembly. Resolutions or 
motions made by the NCLEX® Examination Committee are limited to those to approve test 
plans pursuant to Article X, Section 1(a) of the NCSBN Bylaws.

B. All motions, resolutions and amendments shall be in writing and on triplicate motion 
paper signed by the maker and a second. All motions, resolutions and amendments must 
be submitted to the Delegate Assembly Chair and the Parliamentarian. All resolutions 
and non-procedural main motions must also be submitted to the Chair of the Resolutions 
Committee before being presented to the Delegate Assembly.

C. The Resolutions Committee, according to its Operating Policies and Procedures, shall 
review motions and resolutions submitted before Thursday, Aug. 14, 2014, at 3:30 pm. 
Resolution or motion-makers are encouraged to submit motions and resolutions to the 
Resolutions Committee for review before this deadline.

D. The Resolutions Committee will convene its meeting on Thursday, Aug. 14, 2014, at 
3:30 pm and schedule a mutually agreeable time during the meeting to meet with each 
resolution or motion-maker. The Resolutions Committee shall meet with the resolution or 
motion-maker to prepare resolutions or motions for presentation to the Delegate Assembly 
and to evaluate the resolution or motion in accordance with the criteria in its operating 
policies and procedures. The Committee shall submit a summary report to the Delegate 
Assembly of the Committee’s review, analysis, and evaluation of each resolution and motion 
referred to the Committee. The Committee report shall precede the resolution or motion 
by the maker to the Delegate Assembly.

E. If a member of the Delegate Assembly wishes to introduce a non-procedural main motion 
or resolution after the deadline of 3:30 pm on Thursday, Aug. 14, 2014, the request shall 
be submitted under New Business; provided that the maker first submits the resolution or 
motion to the Chair of the Resolutions Committee. All motions or resolutions submitted 
after the deadline must be presented with a written analysis that addresses the motion or 
resolution’s consistency with established review criteria, including, but not limited to, the 
NCSBN mission, purpose and/or functions, strategic initiatives and outcomes; preliminary 
assessment of fiscal impact; and potential legal implications. The member submitting 
such a motion or resolution shall provide written copies of the motion or resolution to 
all delegates. A majority vote of the delegates shall be required to grant the request to 
introduce this item of business. [The Resolutions Committee shall advise the Delegate 
Assembly where the required analyses have not been performed and/or recommend 
deferral of a vote on the motion pending further analysis.]

5. Debate at Business Meetings

A. Order of Debate: Delegates shall have the first right to speak. Non-delegate members and 
employees of Member Boards including members of the Board of Directors, followed by 
Associate Members, may speak only after all delegates have spoken. 

B. Any person who wishes to speak shall go to a microphone. When recognized by the Chair, 
the speaker shall state his or her name and Member Board or organization.

C. No person may speak in debate more than twice on the same question on the same day, 
or longer than four minutes per speech, without permission of the Delegate Assembly, 
granted by a majority vote without debate.

D. A red card raised at a microphone interrupts business for the purpose of a point of order, a 
question of privilege, orders of the day, a parliamentary inquiry or an appeal. Any of these 
motions takes priority over regular debate.

E. A timekeeper will signal when the speaker has one minute remaining, and when the 
allotted time has expired.
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F. The Delegate Assembly may by a majority vote go into executive session. The enacting 
motion shall specify those permitted to attend.

6. Nominations and Elections

A. Any member who intends to be nominated from the floor is required to submit their 
completed nomination form and must meet with the Leadership Succession Committee the 
day before adoption of the slate of candidates by the Delegate Assembly.

B. A delegate making a nomination with a motion form from the floor shall have two minutes 
to list the qualifications of the nominee. 

C. Electioneering for candidates is prohibited except during the candidate forum.

D. The voting strength for the election shall be determined by those registered by 5 pm on 
Wednesday, August 13, 2014.

E. Election for officers, directors, and members of the Leadership Succession Committee shall 
be held Thursday, August 14, 2014 from 8:30 – 9:00 am.

F. If no candidate receives the required vote for an office and repeated balloting is required, 
the President shall immediately announce run-off candidates and the time for the run-off 
balloting.

1. If no candidate for officer or area director receives a majority on the first ballot, the run-
off shall be limited to the two candidates receiving the highest number of votes.

2. If no candidate for director-at-large receives a majority on the first ballot, the run-off shall 
be limited to the four candidates receiving the highest number of votes. If no candidate 
receives a majority on the second ballot, another run-off shall be limited to the three 
candidates receiving the highest number of votes.

3. If, on the initial ballot, one candidate for director-at-large receives a majority, a run-off 
shall be limited to the two candidates receiving the next highest number of votes.

7. Forums

A. Scheduled Forums: The purpose of scheduled forums is to provide information helpful 
for decisions and to encourage dialogue among all delegates on the issues presented at 
the forum. All delegates are encouraged to attend forums to prepare for voting during 
the Delegate Assembly. Forum facilitators will give preference to voting delegates who 
wish to raise questions and/or discuss an issue. Guests may be recognized by the Chair to 
speak after all delegates, non-delegate members and employees of Member Boards have 
spoken.

B. Open Forum: Open forum time may be scheduled to promote dialogue and discussion on 
issues by all attendees. Attendee participation determines the topics discussed during an 
Open Forum. The President will facilitate the Open Forum.

C. To ensure fair participation in forums, the forum facilitators may, at their discretion, impose 
rules of debate.
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Orientation Manual for Delegate Assembly Participants
The purpose of the Orientation Manual is to provide information about the mission, governance and 
operations of NCSBN. It is hoped that this manual will facilitate the active participation of all Delegate 
Assembly participants as well as the Board of Directors (BOD) and committee members.

Following a brief discussion of NCSBN’s history, this manual will describe the organization’s structure, 
functions, policies and procedures.

History
The concept of an organization such as NCSBN had its roots as far back as August 1912 when a special 
conference on state registration laws was held during the American Nurses Association (ANA) conven-
tion. At that time, participants voted to create a committee that would arrange an annual conference 
for people involved with state boards of nursing (BONs) to meet during the ANA convention. It soon 
became evident that the committee required a stronger structure to deal with the scope of its concerns. 
However, for various reasons, the committee decided to remain within the ANA.

BONs also worked with the National League for Nursing Education (NLNE), which in 1932, became 
the ANA’s Department of Education. In 1933, by agreement with ANA, NLNE accepted responsibility 
for advisory services to the State Boards of Nurse Examiners (SBNE) in all education and examination-
related matters. Through its Committee on Education, NLNE set up a subcommittee that would address, 
over the following decade, state board examination issues and problems. In 1937, NLNE published A 
Curriculum Guide for Schools of Nursing. Two years later, NLNE initiated the first testing service through 
its Committee on Nursing Tests.

Soon after the beginning of World War II, nurse examiners began to face mounting pressures to has-
ten licensing and to schedule examinations more frequently. In response, participants at a 1942 NLNE 
conference suggested a “pooling of tests” whereby each state would prepare and contribute examina-
tions in one or more subjects that could provide a reservoir of test items. They recommended that the 
Committee on Nursing Tests, in consultation with representative nurse examiners, compile the tests in 
machine-scorable form. In 1943, the NLNE board endorsed the action and authorized its Committee on 
Nursing Tests to operate a pooling of licensing tests for interested states (State Board Test Pool Examina-
tion or SBTPE). This effort soon demonstrated the need for a clearinghouse whereby BONs could obtain 
information needed to produce their test items. Shortly thereafter, a Bureau of State Boards of Nursing 
began operating out of ANA headquarters.

The bureau was incorporated into the ANA bylaws and became an official body within that organization 
in 1945. Two years later, the ANA board appointed the Committee for the Bureau of State Boards of 
Nurse Examiners, which was comprised of full-time professional employees of BONs.

In 1961, after reviewing the structure and function of the ANA and its relation to BONs, the committee 
recommended that a council replace it. Although council status was achieved, many people continued to 
be concerned about potential conflicts of interest and recognized the often-heard criticism that profes-
sional boards serve primarily the interests of the profession they purport to regulate.

In 1970, following a period of financial crisis for the ANA, a council member recommended that a free-
standing federation of BONs be established. After a year of study by the BONs, this proposal was over-
whelmingly defeated when the council adopted a resolution to remain with the ANA. However, an ad hoc 
committee was appointed later to examine the feasibility of the council becoming a self-governing incor-
porated body. At the council’s 1977 meeting, a task force was elected and charged with the responsibility 
of proposing a specific plan for the formation of a new independent organization. On June 5, 1978, the 
Delegate Assembly of ANA’s Council of State Boards of Nursing voted 83 to 8 to withdraw from ANA to 
form the National Council of State Boards of Nursing.
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Organizational Mission, Strategic Initiatives and Outcomes
NCSBN provides education, service and research through collaborative leadership to promote evidence-
based regulatory excellence for patient safety and public protection.

NCSBN currently has five strategic initiatives for fiscal years 2014-2016:

�� Advance regulatory relevance and responsiveness to changes in health care.

�� Promote regulatory solutions to address borderless health care delivery.

�� Expand the active engagement and leadership potential of all members.

�� Develop competency assessments to support the future of health care and the advancement of 
regulatory excellence.

�� Promote evidence-based regulation.

To achieve its strategic initiatives, NCSBN identifies expected outcomes, under which performance 
measures for achieving these outcomes are developed, assessed and refined each fiscal year and 
provide the organization with a flexible plan within a disciplined focus. Annually, the BOD evaluates the 
accomplishment of strategic initiatives and objectives, and the directives of the Delegate Assembly.

Organizational Structure and Function

MEMBERSHIP
Membership in NCSBN is extended to those BONs that agree to use, under specified terms and 
conditions, one or more types of licensing examinations developed by NCSBN. At the present time, 
there are 59 member boards, including those from the District of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, 
Guam, American Samoa and the Northern Mariana Islands. BONs may become member boards upon 
approval of the Delegate Assembly, and execution of a contract for using the NCLEX-RN® Examination 
and/or the NCLEX-PN® Examination. Revisions to the bylaws by the membership in 2007 also allow for 
advanced practice nurse boards to become full members.

Member boards maintain their good standing through compliance with all membership terms and 
conditions  and bylaws. In return, they receive the privilege of participating in the development and 
use of NCSBN’s licensure examinations. Member boards also receive information services, public policy 
analyses and research services. Member boards that fail to adhere to the conditions of membership may 
have  their membership terminated by the BOD. They may then choose to appeal the BOD’s decision to 
the Delegate Assembly.

Associate members are authorized nurse regulatory bodies from other countries, must pay an annual 
membership fee and be approved for membership by the Delegate Assembly. NCSBN has 16 associate 
members:

�� Association of Registered Nurses of 
Newfoundland and Labrador

�� Bermuda Nursing Council 

�� College and Association of Registered Nurses 
of Alberta 

�� College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta 

�� College of Licensed Practical Nurses of British 
Columbia 

�� College of Licensed Practical Nurses of 
Manitoba

�� College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Nova 
Scotia 

�� College of Nurses of Ontario 

�� College of Registered Nurses of British 
Columbia 

�� College of Registered Nurses of Manitoba 

�� College of Registered Nurses of Nova Scotia 

�� Nursing and Midwifery Board of Ireland

�� Nursing Council of New Zealand 

�� Saskatchewan Association of Licensed Practical 
Nurses

�� Saskatchewan Registered Nurses’ Association 

�� Singapore Nursing Board 
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AREAS
NCSBN’s membership is divided into four geographic areas. The purpose of this division is to facilitate 
communication, encourage regional dialogue on relevant issues and provide diversity of BOD and 
committee representation. Delegates elect area directors from their respective areas through a majority 
vote of the Delegate Assembly. In addition, there are four elected directors-at-large. 

�� Area I members include: Alaska, American Samoa, Arizona, California-RN, California-VN, Colorado, 
Guam, Hawaii, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, New Mexico, Northern Mariana Islands, Oregon, Utah, 
Washington and Wyoming. 

�� Area II members include: Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, 
Nebraska-APRN, North Dakota, Ohio, South Dakota, West Virginia-PN, West Virginia-RN and 
Wisconsin.

�� Area III members include: Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana-PN,  
Louisiana-RN, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas and 
Virginia.

�� Area IV members include: Connecticut, Delaware, District of Columbia, Maine, Maryland, 
Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Vermont and 
U.S. Virgin Islands.

DELEGATE ASSEMBLY
The Delegate Assembly is the membership body of NCSBN and comprises delegates who are designated 
by the member boards. Each member board has two votes and may name two delegates and alternates. 
The Delegate Assembly meets at NCSBN’s Annual Meeting, traditionally held in August. Special sessions 
can be called under certain circumstances. 

At the Annual Meeting, delegates elect officers and directors and members of the Leadership Succession 
Committee (LSC) by majority and plurality vote respectively. They also receive and respond to reports 
from officers and committees.  They may revise and amend the bylaws by a two-thirds vote, providing the 
proposed changes have been submitted at least 45 days before the session. In addition, the Delegate 
Assembly adopts the mission statement, strategic initiatives of NCSBN, approves all new NCSBN 
memberships, the substance of all Terms and Conditions of NCSBN Membership between the NCSBN 
and member boards, adopts test plans to be used for the development of the NCLEX® examination, and 
establishes the fee for the NCLEX examination. 

OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
NCSBN officers include the president, president-elect and treasurer. Directors consist of four area 
directors and four directors-at-large. Only members or staff of member boards may hold office, subject 
to exclusion from holding office if other professional obligations result in an actual or perceived conflict 
of interest.

No person may hold more than one elected office at the same time. The president shall have served as 
a delegate, a committee member or an officer prior to being elected to office. No one  shall serve more 
than four consecutive years in the same Board of Director position.

The president, president-elect and treasurer are elected for terms of two years or until their successors 
are elected. The president-elect and the directors-at-large are elected in even-numbered years. The 
treasurer and area directors are elected in odd-numbered years.

The four area directors are elected for terms of two years or until their successors are elected. Four 
directors-at-large will be elected for terms of two years or until their successors are elected.  

Officers and directors are elected by ballot during the annual session of the Delegate Assembly. 
Delegates elect area directors from their respective areas.

Election is by a majority vote. Write-in votes are prohibited. In the event a majority is not established, the 
bylaws dictate the reballoting process.



352
Business Book | 2014 NCSBN Annual Meeting
Revolutionizing the Now

Officers and directors assume their duties at the close of the session at which they were elected. The 
president-elect fills a vacancy in the office of president. Board appointees fill other officer vacancies until 
the next Annual Meeting and a successor is elected.

BOD
The BOD, the administrative body of NCSBN, consists of 11 elected officers. The BOD is responsible for 
the general supervision of the affairs of NCSBN between sessions of the Delegate Assembly. The BOD 
authorizes the signing of contracts, including those between NCSBN and its member boards. It also 
engages the services of legal counsel, approves and adopts an annual budget, reviews membership 
status of noncompliant member boards and renders opinions, when needed, about actual or perceived 
conflicts of interest.

Additional duties include approval of the NCLEX examination test service, appointment of  
committees, monitoring of committee progress, approval of studies and research pertinent to NCSBN’s 
purpose, and provision for the establishment and maintenance of the administrative offices.

MEETINGS OF THE BOD
All BOD meetings are typically held in Chicago, with the exception of the post-Annual Meeting BOD 
meeting that may be held at the location of the Annual Meeting. The call to meeting, agenda and 
related materials are mailed to BOD officers and directors two weeks before the meeting. The agenda 
is prepared by staff, in consultation with the president, and provided to the membership via the NCSBN 
website (www.ncsbn.org).

A memo or report that describes the item’s background and indicates the BOD action needed 
accompanies items for BOD discussion and action. Motion papers are available during the meeting and 
are used so that an accurate record will result. Staff takes minutes of the meeting. 

Resource materials are available to each BOD officer and director for use during BOD meetings. These 
materials are updated periodically throughout the year and include copies of the articles of incorporation 
and bylaws, strategic plan, policies and procedures, contracts, budget, test plan, committee rosters, 
minutes, and personnel manual.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BOD
Communication between BOD meetings takes place in several different ways. The CEO communicates 
weekly with the president regarding major activities and confers as needed with the treasurer about 
financial matters. Monthly updates are provided to the full BOD by the CEO.

LSC
The LSC consists of seven elected members. Four members are elected from each area and are elected 
for two-year terms in even-numbered years. Three at-large members are elected for two-year terms in 
odd-numbered years. Members are elected by ballot with a plurality vote. 

The LSC’s function is to recommend strategies for the ongoing sustainability and advancement of 
the organization through leadership succession planning; present a slate of candidates through a 
determination of qualifications and geographic distribution for inclusion on a ballot for the election of 
the BOD and the LSC. The LSC’s report shall be read at the first session of the Delegate Assembly, when 
additional nominations may be made from the floor. No name shall be placed in nomination without the 
written consent of the nominee. 

COMMITTEES
Many of NCSBN’s objectives are accomplished through the committee process. Every year, the commit-
tees report on their activities and make recommendations to the BOD. At the present time, NCSBN has 
two standing committees: NCLEX Examinations and Finance. Subcommittees, such as the Item Review 
Subcommittee (Exam), may assist standing committees.
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In addition to standing committees, special committees are appointed by the BOD for a defined term 
to address special issues and concerns. NCSBN conducts an annual call for committee member nomina-
tions prior to the beginning of each fiscal year. Committees are governed by their specific charge and 
NCSBN policies and procedures. The appointment of committee chairs and committee members is a 
responsibility of the BOD. Committee membership is extended to all current members and staff of mem-
ber boards, consultants and external stakeholders.

In the appointment process, every effort is made to match the expertise of each individual with the 
charge of the committee. Also considered is balanced representation whenever possible, among ar-
eas, board members and board staff, registered nurses (RNs) and licensed practical/vocational nurses 
(LPN/VNs), and consumers. Nonmembers may be appointed to special committees to provide special-
ized expertise. A BOD liaison and an NCSBN staff member are assigned to assist each committee. The 
respective roles of BOD liaison, committee chair and committee staff are provided in NCSBN policy. 
Each work collaboratively to facilitate committee work and provide support and expertise to committee 
members to complete the charge. Neither the BOD liaison nor the NCSBN staff are entitled to a vote, 
but respectively can advise the committee regarding the strategic or operational impact of decisions and 
recommendation.

Description of Standing Committees

NCLEX® EXAMINATION COMMITTEE (NEC)
The NEC comprises of at least nine members. One of the committee members shall be an LPN/VN, or 
a board or staff member of an LPN/VN BON. The committee chair shall have served as a member of 
the committee prior to being appointed as chair. The purpose of the NEC is to develop the licensure 
examinations and evaluate procedures needed to produce and deliver the licensure examinations. 
Toward this end, it recommends test plans to the Delegate Assembly and suggests enhancements based 
on research that is important to the development of licensure examinations.

The NEC advises the BOD on matters related to the NCLEX examination process, including psychometrics, 
item development, test security and administration, and quality assurance. Other duties may include 
the selection of appropriate item development panels, test service evaluation, oversight of test service 
transitions, and preparation of written information about the examinations for member boards and other 
interested parties. The NEC also regularly evaluates the licensure examinations by means of item analysis 
and test, and candidate statistics.

One of NCSBN’s major objectives is to provide psychometrically sound and legally defensible nursing 
licensure examinations to member boards. Establishing examination validity is a key component of this 
objective. Users of examinations have certain expectations about what an examination measures and 
what its results mean; a valid examination is simply one that legitimately fulfills these expectations.

Validating a licensure examination is an evidence-gathering process to determine two things:  
(1) whether or not the examination actually measures competencies required for safe and effective job 
performance; and (2) whether or not it can distinguish between candidates who do and do not possess 
those competencies. An analysis of the job for which the license is given is essential to validation.

There are several methods for analyzing jobs, including compilation of job descriptions, opinions of 
experts and surveys of job incumbents. Regardless of the method used, the outcome of the job analysis 
is a description of those tasks that are most important for safe and effective practice. The results of the 
job analysis can be used to devise a framework describing the job, which can then be used as a basis for 
a test plan and for a set of instructions for item writers. The test plan is the blueprint for assembling forms 
of the test, and usually specifies major content or process dimensions and percentages of questions 
that will be allotted to each category within the dimension. The instructions for item writers may take 
the form of a detailed set of knowledge, skills and abilities (KSA) statements or competency statements 
which the writers will use as the basis for developing individual test items. By way of the test plan and 
KSA statements, the examination is closely linked to the important job functions revealed through the job 
analysis. This fulfills the first validation criterion: a test that measures important job-related competencies.
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The second criterion, related to the examination’s ability to distinguish between candidates who do and 
do not possess the important competencies, is most frequently addressed in licensure examinations 
through a criterion-referenced standard setting process. Such a process involves the selection of a passing 
standard to determine which candidates pass and which fail. Expert judges with first-hand knowledge of 
what constitutes safe and effective practice for entry-level nurses are selected to recommend a series 
of passing standards for this process. Judges are trained in conceptualizing the minimally competent 
candidate (performing at the lowest acceptable level), and they go through a structured process of 
judging success rates on each individual item of the test. Their pooled judgments result in identification 
of a series of recommended passing standards. Taking these recommendations along with other data 
relevant to identification of the level of competence, the BOD sets a passing standard that distinguishes 
between candidates who do and do not possess the essential competencies, thus fulfilling the second 
validation criterion.

Having validation evidence based on job analysis and criterion-referenced standard setting processes and 
utilizing item construction and test delivery processes based on sound psychometric principles constitute 
the best legal defense available for licensing examinations. For most of the possible challenges that 
a candidate might bring against an examination, if the test demonstrably measures the possession of 
important job-related skills, its use in the licensure process is likely to be upheld in a court of law.

FINANCE COMMITTEE
The Finance Committee comprises of at least four members and the treasurer, who serves as the chair. 
The committee reviews the annual budget, monitors NCSBN investments and facilitates the annual 
independent audit. The committee recommends the budget to the BOD and advises the BOD on fiscal 
policy to assure prudence and integrity of fiscal management and responsiveness to member board 
needs. It also reviews financial status on a quarterly basis.

NCSBN STAFF
NCSBN staff members are hired by the CEO. Their primary role is to implement the Delegate Assembly’s 
and BOD’s policy directives and provide assistance to committees.

GENERAL DELEGATE ASSEMBLY INFORMATION
The business agenda of the Delegate Assembly is prepared and approved by the BOD. At least 45 days 
prior to the Annual Meeting, member boards are sent the recommendations to be considered by the 
Delegate Assembly. A Business Book is provided to all Annual Meeting registrants which contains the 
agenda, reports requiring Delegate Assembly action, reports of the BOD, reports of special and standing 
committees, and strategic initiatives and objectives.

Prior to the annual session of the Delegate Assembly, the president appoints the credentials, resolutions 
and elections committees, as well as the Committee to Approve Minutes. The president may also appoint 
a timekeeper, a parliamentarian and pages.

The function of the Credentials Committee is to provide delegates with identification bearing the 
number of votes to which the delegate is entitled. It also presents oral and written reports at the opening 
session of the Delegate Assembly and immediately preceding the election of officers and the LSC. The 
Elections Committee conducts all elections that are decided by ballot in accordance with the bylaws 
and standing rules. The Resolutions Committee receives, edits, and evaluates all resolutions in terms of 
their relationship to NCSBN’s mission and fiscal impact to the organization. At a time designated by the 
president, it reports to the Delegate Assembly.

The parliamentarian keeps minutes of the Delegate Assembly. These minutes are then reviewed, 
corrected as necessary and approved by the Committee to Approve Minutes, which includes the CEO, 
who serves as corporate secretary.
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NCSBN Bylaws

NCSBN Bylaws
Revisions adopted - 8/29/87
Amended - 8/19/88
Amended - 8/30/90
Amended - 8/01/91
Revisions adopted - 8/05/94
Amended - 8/20/97
Amended - 8/8/98
Revisions adopted – 8/11/01
Amended – 08/07/03
Revisions adopted – 08/08/07
Amended – 8/13/10
Amended -08/16/13
 
Article I 
 Name 
The name of this organization shall be the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. (NCSBN). 
 
Article II 
 Purpose and Functions 
Section 1. Purpose. The purpose of the NCSBN is to provide an organization through which state boards 
of nursing act and counsel together on matters of common interest and concern affecting the public 
health, safety and welfare, including the development of licensing examinations in nursing that are valid, 
reliable, and legally defensible and in compliance with professionally accepted psychometric standards. 
 
Section 2. Functions. The NCSBN’s functions shall include but not be limited to providing services and 
guidance to its members in performing their regulatory functions regarding entry into nursing practice, 
continued safe nursing practice and nursing education programs. The NCSBN provides Member Boards 
with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing; promotes uniformity in standards and 
expected outcomes in nursing practice and education as they relate to the protection of the public health, 
safety and welfare; provides information, analyses and standards regarding the regulation of nursing 
practice and nursing education; promotes the exchange of information and serves as a clearinghouse for 
matters related to nursing regulation. 
 
Article III 
 Members 
Section 1. Definitions.  

a) State Board of Nursing.  A state board of nursing is the governmental agency empowered to 
license and regulate nursing practice in any state, territory or political subdivision of the United 
States of America. 

b) Member Board.  A Member board is a state board of nursing, which is approved by the Delegate 
Assembly as a member of NCSBN. 

c) Associate Member.  An Associate Member is a nursing regulatory body or empowered 
regulatory authority from another country or territory, which is approved by the Delegate 
Assembly. 

 
Section 2. Qualifications. To qualify for approval, and to maintain membership as a Member Board, a 
state board of nursing that regulates registered nurses and/or practical/vocational nurses must use 
applicable NCSBN Licensing Examinations (the “NCLEX® examination”) for licensure of registered 
nurses and/or practical/vocational nurses, cause candidates for licensure in its jurisdiction to pay 
NCSBN the examination fee established by the Delegate Assembly, execute a current Terms and 
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Conditions of NCSBN Membership, as amended from time to time by Delegate Assembly, and agree to 
comply with all applicable  terms and conditions for the use of the NCLEX® examination(s).  
 
Section 3. Admission. A state board of nursing shall become a member of the NCSBN and be known as a 
Member Board upon approval by the Delegate Assembly, as described in Article IV and payment of the 
required fees, if applicable. 
 
Section 4. Areas. The Delegate Assembly shall divide the membership into numbered geographical 
Areas. At no time shall the number of Areas be less than three nor more than six. New members shall be 
assigned to existing Areas by the Board of Directors. The purpose of this division is to facilitate 
communication, encourage regional dialogue on NCSBN issues and provide diversity of representation 
on the Board of Directors and on committees. 
 
Section 5. Fees. The annual membership fees, for a Member Board and an Associate Member shall be set 
by the Delegate Assembly  and shall be payable each October 1. 
 
Section 6. Privileges. Member Board privileges include but are not limited to the right to vote as 
prescribed in these bylaws and the right to assist in the development of the NCLEX® examination, except 
that a Member Board that uses both the NCLEX® examination and another examination leading to the 
same license shall not participate in the development of the NCLEX® examination to the extent that such 
participation would jeopardize the integrity of the NCLEX® examination. 
 
Section 7. Noncompliance. Any member whose fees remain unpaid after January 15 is not in good 
standing. Any member who does not comply with the provisions of the bylaws, and where applicable, 
the membership agreement, shall be subject to immediate review and possible termination by the Board 
of Directors. 
 
Section 8. Appeal. Any termination of membership by the Board of Directors is subject to appeal to the 
Delegate Assembly. 
 
Section 9. Reinstatement. A member in good standing that chooses to terminate membership shall be 
required to pay only the current fee as a condition of future reinstatement. Any membership which has 
been terminated for nonpayment of fees shall be eligible for reinstatement to membership upon payment 
of the current fee and any delinquent fees. 
 
Article IV 
 Delegate Assembly 
Section 1.  Composition. 

a) Designation of Delegates. The Delegate Assembly shall be comprised of no more than two (2) 
delegates designated by each Member Board as provided in the Standing Rules of the Delegate 
Assembly (“Standing Rules”).  An alternate duly appointed by a Member Board may replace a 
delegate and assume all delegate privileges. 

b) Qualification of Delegates. Members and employees of Member Boards shall be eligible to serve as 
delegates until their term or their employment with a Member Board ends. A NCSBN officer or 
director may not represent a Member Board as a delegate. 

c) Term. Delegates and alternates serve from the time of appointment until replaced. 
 
Section 2. Voting. 

a) Annual Meetings. Each Member Board shall be entitled to two votes. The votes may be cast by 
either one or two delegates. There shall be no proxy or absentee voting at the Annual Meeting. 
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b) Special Meetings. A Member Board may choose to vote by proxy at any special session of the 
Delegate Assembly. A proxy vote shall be conducted by distributing to Member Boards a proxy 
ballot listing a proposal requiring either a yes or no vote. A Member Board may authorize the 
corporate secretary of the NCSBN or a delegate of another Member Board to cast its votes. 

 
Section 3. Authority. The Delegate Assembly, the membership body of the NCSBN, shall provide 
direction for the NCSBN through resolutions and enactments, including adoption of the mission and 
strategic initiatives, at any Annual Meeting or special session. The Delegate Assembly shall approve all 
new NCSBN memberships; approve the substance of all Terms and Conditions of NCSBN Membership 
between the NCSBN and Member Boards; adopt test plans to be used for the development of the 
NCLEX® examination; and establish the fee for the NCLEX® examination. 
 
Section 4. Annual Meeting. The NCSBN Annual Meeting shall be held at a time and place as determined 
by the Board of Directors. The Delegate Assembly shall meet each year during the Annual Meeting. The 
official call to that meeting, giving the time and place, shall be conveyed to each Member Board at least 
90 days before the Annual Meeting. In the event of a national emergency, the Board of Directors by a two 
thirds vote may cancel the Annual Meeting and shall schedule a meeting of the Delegate Assembly as 
soon as possible to conduct the business of the NCSBN. 
 
Section 5. Special Session. The Board of Directors may call, and upon written petition of at least ten 
Member Boards made to the Board of Directors, shall call a special session of the Delegate Assembly. 
Notice containing the general nature of business to be transacted and date and place of said session shall 
be sent to each Member Board at least ten days before the date for which such special session is called. 
 
Section 6. Quorum. The quorum for conducting business at any session of the Delegate Assembly shall be 
at least one delegate from a majority of the Member Boards and two officers present in person or, in the 
case of a special session, by proxy. 
 
Section 7. Standing Rules. The Board of Directors shall present and the Delegate Assembly shall adopt 
Standing Rules for each Delegate Assembly meeting. 
 
Article V  
 Officers and Directors  
Section 1. Officers. The elected officers of the NCSBN shall be a president, a president-elect and a 
treasurer.  
 
Section 2. Directors. The directors of the NCSBN shall consist of four directors-at-large, and a director 
from each Area.  
 
Section 3. Eligibility.  
Board Members or employees of Member Boards shall be eligible to serve as NCSBN officers and at-large 
or Area directors until their term or their employment with a Member Board ends. Members of a Member 
Board who become permanent employees of a Member Board will continue their eligibility to serve.  
 
Section 4. Qualifications for President-elect. The president-elect shall have served NCSBN as either a 
delegate, a committee member, a director or an officer before being elected to the office of president-elect.  
 
Section 5. Election of Officers and Directors.  

a) Time and Place. Election of officers and directors shall be by ballot of the Delegate Assembly 
during the Annual Meeting.  

b) Officers and Directors-at-Large. Officers and directors-at-large shall be elected by majority vote of 
the Delegate Assembly.  
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c) Area Directors. Each Area shall elect its Area director by majority vote of the delegates from each 
such Area.  

d) Run-Off Balloting. If a candidate for officer or director does not receive a majority vote on the first 
ballot, reballoting shall be limited to the two candidates receiving the highest numbers of votes 
for each position. In the case of a tie on the reballoting, the final selection shall be determined by 
lot.  

e) Voting. 
(i.) Voting for officers and directors shall be conducted in accordance with these bylaws 

and the Standing Rules. Write-in votes shall be prohibited.  
(ii.)  Notwithstanding any provision of this Section, in the event there is only one candidate 

for an officer or director position, election for that position shall be declared by 
acclamation. No ballot shall be necessary.  

 
Section 6. Terms of Office.  

a) The president-elect, treasurer, Area directors, and directors-at-large shall be elected for a term of 
two years or until their successors are elected. The president shall serve for a term of two years.  

b) The president-elect and the directors-at-large shall be elected in even-numbered years. The 
treasurer and area directors shall be elected in odd-numbered years.  

c) Officers and directors shall assume their duties at the close of the Annual Meeting of the Delegate 
Assembly at which they are elected.  

d) The treasurer and the directors shall serve no more than four consecutive years in the same 
position excluding time served by appointment and/or election pursuant to Section 8 of this 
Article. The president and president-elect shall serve no more than two years in the same 
position, except when a vacancy occurs pursuant to Section 8 of this Article.  

 
Section 7. Limitations. No person may hold more than one officer position or directorship at one time. 
No officer or director shall hold elected or appointed office or a salaried position in a state, regional or 
national association or body if the office or position might result in a potential or actual, or the 
appearance of, a conflict of interest with the NCSBN, as determined by the Leadership Succession 
Committee before election to office and as determined by the Board of Directors after election to office. If 
incumbent officers or directors win an election for another officer or director position, the term in their 
current position shall terminate at the close of the Annual Meeting at which the election is held.  
 
Section 8. Vacancies.  

a) A vacancy in the office of president shall be filled by the president-elect pursuant to subsection 
(b) in this section. The Board of Directors shall fill all other vacancies by appointment. The person 
filling the vacancy shall serve until the next Annual Meeting and a successor is elected. The 
Delegate Assembly shall elect a person to fill any remainder of the term.  

b) If the office of the president becomes vacant, the president-elect shall assume the presidency and 
shall serve the remainder of that term as well as the term for which she or he was elected.  

c) If the office of the president-elect becomes vacant, then the position shall remain vacant until an 
election can be held at the next annual meeting for the remainder of the term for which the 
president-elect was elected.  

d) In the event of a vacancy of the president and the president-elect, the board of directors shall 
appoint one of its members to assume the responsibilities of the president until an election can be 
held for the president and president-elect position at the next annual meeting for the remainder 
of the term for which the president and president-elect were elected.  

 
Section 9. Responsibilities of the President. The president shall preside at all meetings of the Delegate 
Assembly and the Board of Directors, assume all powers and duties customarily incident to the office of 
president, and speak on behalf of and communicate the policies of the NCSBN.  
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Section 10. Responsibilities of the President-elect. The president-elect shall assist the president, perform 
the duties of the president in the president’s absence, be assigned responsibilities by the president, and 
assume the office of the president at the conclusion of the president’s term and fill any vacancy in the 
office of the president.  

Section 11. Responsibilities of the Treasurer. The treasurer shall serve as the chair of the Finance 
Committee and shall assure that quarterly reports are presented to the Board of Directors, and that 
annual financial reports are provided to the Delegate Assembly. 
 
 
Article VI 
 Board of Directors 
Section 1. Composition. The Board of Directors shall consist of the elected officers and directors of the 
NCSBN. 
 
Section 2. Authority. The Board of Directors shall transact the business and affairs and act on behalf of 
the NCSBN except to the extent such powers are reserved to the Delegate Assembly as set forth in these 
bylaws and provided that none of the Board’s acts shall conflict with resolutions or enactments of the 
Delegate Assembly. The Board of Directors shall report annually to the Delegate Assembly and approve 
the NCLEX® examination test service. 
 
Section 3. Meetings of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall hold an annual meeting and 
may schedule other regular meetings as necessary to accomplish the work of the Board. Publication of the 
dates for such regular meetings in the minutes of the Board meeting at which the dates are selected shall 
constitute notice of the scheduled regular meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be 
called by the president or shall be called upon written request of at least three members of the Board of 
Directors. At least twenty-four hours notice shall be given to each member of the Board of Directors of a 
special meeting. The notice shall include a description of the business to be transacted. 
 
Section 4. Removal from Office. A member of the Board of Directors may be removed with or without 
cause by a two-thirds vote of the Delegate Assembly or the Board of Directors.  The individual shall be 
given 30 days’ written notice of the proposed removal. 
 
Section 5. Appeal. A member of the Board of Directors removed by the Board of Directors may appeal to 
the Delegate Assembly at its next Annual Meeting. Such individual may be reinstated by a two-thirds 
vote of the Delegate Assembly. 
 
Article VII 
 Leadership Succession Committee 
Section 1. Leadership Succession Committee 

a) Composition. The Leadership Succession Committee shall be comprised of seven members elected 
by the Delegate Assembly.  One member shall be elected from each of the four areas.   Three 
members shall be at large members.  

b) Term. The term of office shall be two years. Area members shall be elected in even numbered 
years.  At large members shall be elected in odd numbered years. A committee member shall 
serve no more than two consecutive terms excluding time served by appointment and/or 
election pursuant to Section 1e. of this Article. Members shall assume duties at the close of the 
Annual Meeting at which they are elected. 

c) Election. The Committee shall be elected by plurality vote of the Delegate Assembly at the Annual 
Meeting. In the event there is only one candidate for a committee position, election for that 
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position shall be declared by acclamation.  No ballot shall be necessary.  The Chair shall be 
selected by the Board of Directors.  

d) Limitation. A member elected or appointed to the Leadership Succession Committee may not be 
nominated for an officer or director position during the term for which that member was elected 
or appointed. 

e) Vacancy. A vacancy occurring in the committee shall be filled from the remaining candidates 
from the previous election, in order of votes received. If no remaining candidates can serve, the 
Board of Directors shall fill the vacancy with an individual who meets the qualifications of 
Section 1a. of this Article.   The person filling a vacancy shall serve the remainder of the term.   

f) Duties.  The Leadership Succession Committee shall recommend strategies for the ongoing 
sustainability and advancement of the organization through leadership succession planning; 
present a slate of candidates through a determination of qualifications and geographic 
distribution for inclusion on a ballot for the election of the Board of Directors and the Leadership 
Succession Committee.  The Committee’s report shall be read at the first session of the Delegate 
Assembly, when additional nominations may be made from the floor. No name shall be placed in 
nomination without the written consent of the nominee.  The Leadership Succession Committee 
shall determine qualifications and geographic distribution of nominations from the floor for 
recommendations to the Delegate Assembly.  

g) Eligibility.  Any board member of a Member Board or employee of a Member Board is eligible to 
serve as a member of the Leadership Succession Committee. 

 
Article VIII 
 Meetings 
Section 1. Participation. 

a) Delegate Assembly Session. 
(i) Member Boards. Members and employees of Member Boards shall have the right, subject 

to the Standing Rules of the Delegate Assembly, to speak at all open sessions and forums 
of the Delegate Assembly, provided that only delegates shall be entitled to vote and only 
delegates and members of the Board of Directors may make motions at the Delegate 
Assembly, except the Examination Committee may bring motions to approve test plans 
pursuant to Article X, Section 1(a). 

(ii) Public. All sessions of the Delegate Assembly held in accordance with Sections 4 and 5 of 
Article IV of these bylaws shall be open to the public, except executive sessions, provided 
that the minutes reflect the purpose of, and any action taken in, executive session. 

b) Delegate Assembly Forums. Participation in forums conducted in association with the Annual 
Meeting shall be governed by the Standing Rules of the Delegate Assembly. 

c) Meetings. NCSBN, including all committees thereof, may establish methods of conducting its 
business at all other meetings provided that the meetings of the Board of Directors and 
committees are open to members and employees of Member Boards. 

d) Interactive Communications. Meetings held with one or more participants attending by telephone 
conference call, video conference or other interactive means of conducting conference 
communications constitute meetings where valid decisions may be made. A written record 
documenting that each member was given notice of the meeting, minutes reflecting the names of 
participating members and a report of the roll call on each vote shall be distributed to all 
members of the group and maintained at the NCSBN Office. 

e) Manner of Transacting Business. To the extent permitted by law and these bylaws, business may be 
transacted by electronic communication or by mail, in which case a report of such action shall be 
made part of the minutes of the next meeting. 

 
Article IX 
 Chief Executive Officer 
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Section 1. Appointment. The Chief Executive Officer shall be appointed by the Board of Directors. The 
selection or termination of the Chief Executive Officer shall be by a majority vote of the Board of 
Directors. 
 
Section 2. Authority. The Chief Executive Officer shall serve as the agent and chief administrative officer 
of the NCSBN and shall possess the authority and shall perform all duties incident to the office of Chief 
Executive Officer, including the management and supervision of the office, programs and services of 
NCSBN, the disbursement of funds and execution of contracts (subject to such limitations as may be 
established by the Board of Directors). The Chief Executive Officer shall serve as corporate secretary and 
oversee maintenance of all documents and records of the NCSBN and shall perform such additional 
duties as may be defined and directed by the Board. 
 
Section 3. Evaluation. The Board of Directors shall conduct an annual written performance appraisal of 
the Chief Executive Officer, and shall set the Chief Executive Officer’s annual salary. 
 
Article X 
 Committees 
Section 1. Standing Committees. NCSBN shall maintain the following standing committees. 

a) NCLEX® Examination Committee. The NCLEX® Examination Committee shall be comprised of at 
least nine members. One of the committee members shall be a licensed practical/vocational nurse 
or a board or staff member of an LPN/VN board. The committee chair shall have served as a 
member of the committee prior to being appointed as chair. The NCLEX® Examination 
Committee shall advise the Board of Directors on matters related to the NCLEX® examination 
process, including examination item development, security, administration and quality assurance 
to ensure consistency with the Member Boards’ need for examinations. The Examination 
Committee shall recommend test plans to the Delegate Assembly. Subcommittees may be 
appointed to assist the Examination Committee in the fulfillment of its responsibilities. 

b) Finance Committee. The Finance Committee shall be comprised of at least four members and the 
treasurer, who shall serve as chair. The Finance Committee shall review the annual budget, the 
NCSBN’s investments and the audit. The Finance Committee shall recommend a budget to the 
Board of Directors and advise the Board of Directors on fiscal policy to assure prudence and 
integrity of fiscal management and responsiveness to Member Board needs. 

 
Section 2. Special Committees. The Board of Directors may appoint special committees as needed to 
accomplish the mission of the NCSBN and to assist any Standing Committee in the fulfillment of its 
responsibilities. Special committees may include subcommittees, task forces, focus groups, advisory 
panels or other groups designated by the Board of Directors. 
 
Section 3. Delegate Assembly Committees. The president shall appoint such Delegate Assembly 
Committees as provided in the Standing Rules and as necessary to conduct the business of the Delegate 
Assembly. 
 
Section 4. Committee Membership. 

a) Composition. Members of Standing and Special committees shall be appointed by the Board of 
Directors from the membership, provided, however, that Associate Members may not serve on 
the NCLEX® Examination, Bylaws, or Finance committees. Committees may also include other 
individuals selected for their special expertise to accomplish a committee’s charge. In appointing 
committees, one representative from each Area shall be selected unless a qualified member from 
each Area is not available considering the expertise needed for the committee work. The 
president, or president’s designee, shall be an ex-officio member of all committees except the 
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Leadership Succession Committee.  Associate Members shall have full voting rights as committee 
members. 

b) Term. The standing committee members shall be appointed for two years or until their successors 
are appointed. Standing committee members may apply for re-appointment to the committee. 
Members of special committees shall serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

c) Vacancy. A vacancy may occur when a committee member resigns or fails to meet the 
responsibilities of the committee as determined by the Board of Directors. The vacancy may be 
filled by appointment by the Board of Directors for the remainder of the term. 

 
Article XI 
 Finance 
Section 1.  Audit. The financial records of the NCSBN shall be audited annually by a certified public 
accountant appointed by the Board of Directors. The annual audit report shall be provided to the 
Delegate Assembly. 
 
Section 2. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year shall be from October 1 to September 30. 
 
Article XII 
 Indemnification 
Section 1. Direct Indemnification. To the full extent permitted by, and in accordance with the standards 
and procedures prescribed by Sections 5741 through 5750 of the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation 
Law of 1988 or the corresponding provision of any future Pennsylvania statute, the corporation shall 
indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, 
pending, or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, 
by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director, officer, employee, agent or representative of the 
corporation, or performs or has performed volunteer services for or on behalf of the corporation, or is or 
was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee, agent or representative of 
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including but 
not limited to attorney’s fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably 
incurred by the person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding. 
 
Section 2. Insurance. To the full extent permitted by Section 5747 of the Pennsylvania Nonprofit 
Corporation Law of 1988 or the corresponding provision of any future Pennsylvania statute, the 
corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was 
a director, officer, employee, agent or representative of the corporation, or performs or has performed 
volunteer services for or on behalf of the corporation, or is, or was serving at the request of the 
corporation as a director, officer, employee, agent or representative of another corporation, partnership, 
joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against him or her and incurred by 
him or her in any such capacity, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify him 
or her against such liability under the provisions of Section 1 of this Article. 
 
Section 3. Additional Rights. Pursuant to Section 5746 of the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law 
of 1988 or the corresponding provisions of any future Pennsylvania statute, any indemnification provided 
pursuant to Sections 1 or 2 of this Article shall: 

a) not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which a person seeking indemnification may be 
entitled under any future bylaw, agreement, vote of members or disinterested directors or 
otherwise, both as to action in his or her official capacity and as to action in another capacity 
while holding such official position; and 

b) continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee, agent or representative 
of, or provider of volunteer services for or on behalf of the corporation and shall inure to the 
benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person. 
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Article XIII 
 Parliamentary Authority 
The rules contained in the current edition of Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern the NCSBN 
in all cases not provided for in the articles of incorporation, bylaws and any special rules of order 
adopted by the NCSBN. 
 
Article XIV 
 Amendment of Bylaws 
Section 1.  Amendment and Notice.  These bylaws may be amended at any Annual Meeting or special 
session of the Delegate Assembly upon: 

a) written notice to the Member Boards of the proposed amendments at least 45 days prior to the 
Delegate Assembly session and a two-thirds affirmative vote of the delegates present and voting; 
or 

b) written notice that proposed amendments may be considered at least five days prior to the 
Delegate Assembly session and a three-quarters affirmative vote of the delegates present and 
voting. 

 
In no event shall any amendments be adopted without at least five days written notice prior to the 
Delegate Assembly session that proposed amendments may be considered at such session. 
 
Section 2.  Bylaws Committee.  A Bylaws committee composed of board members from Member Boards 
and/or employees of Member Boards may be appointed by the Board of Directors to review and make 
recommendations on proposed bylaw amendments as directed by the Board of Directors or the Delegate 
Assembly. 
 
Article XV 
 Dissolution 
Section 1. Plan. The Board of Directors at an annual, regular or special meeting may formulate and adopt 
a plan for the dissolution of the NCSBN. The plan shall provide, among other things, that the assets of the 
NCSBN be applied as follows: 
 
Firstly, all liabilities and obligations of the NCSBN shall be paid or provided for. 
 
Secondly, any assets held by the NCSBN which require return, transfer or conveyances, as a result of the 
dissolution, shall be returned, transferred or conveyed in accordance with such requirement. 
 
Thirdly, all other assets, including historical records, shall be distributed in considered response to 
written requests of historical, educational, research, scientific or institutional health tax exempt 
organizations or associations, to be expended toward the advancement of nursing practice, regulation 
and the preservation of nursing history. 
 
Section 2. Acceptance of Plan. Such plan shall be acted upon by the Delegate Assembly at an Annual or 
legally constituted special session called for the purpose of acting upon the proposal to dissolve. A 
majority of all Delegates present at a meeting at which a quorum is present must vote affirmatively to 
dissolve. 
 
Section 3. Conformity to Law. Such plan to dissolve must conform to the law under which NCSBN is 
organized and to the Internal Revenue Code concerning dissolution of exempt corporations. This 
requirement shall override the provisions of Sections 1 and 2 herein. 
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Special Proviso

The revised Bylaws shall become effective on the day and upon the adjournment of
the 2013 Annual Meeting Session of the Delegate Assembly at which the revisions to
the Bylaws were adopted by the Delegate Assembly. Officers and directors shall be
elected in the years 2014-16 in accordance with the following schedule:

Positions 2013 Election 2014 Election 2015 Election 2016 Election
President X (two-year term 

only; not eligible 
for re-election)

President-elect X (two-year term) X (two-year term)
Treasurer X (one-year term) X (two-year term)
Director-at-Large X (two-year 

term)
X (one-year term) X (two-year term)

Director-at-Large X (two-year term) X (one-year term) X (two-year term)
Director-at-Large X (two-year term) X (two-year term)
Director-at-Large X (two-year term) X (two-year term)
Area I X (two-year term) X (two-year term)
Area II X (two-year term) X (two-year term)
Area III X (two-year term) X (two-year term)
Area IV X (two-year term) X (two-year term)

Officer and Director Election Schedule
X – Indicates the year in which a position will be elected.
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 Crystal B 84’ x 59’ x 19’ 4,956 340 500 480 250 100 93 — —

 Crystal C 42’ x 59’ x 19’ 2,478 160 250 280 125 50 40 66 —

 Crystal AB or BC 123’ x 61’ x 19’ 7,503 500 750 870 380 — — — —

CRYSTAL FOYER — 4,000 — 400 — — — — — —

Note:  Above setups are tables and chairs ONLY without space left for other equipment such as staging, AV, display tables, registration tables or coffee breaks.
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Note:  Above setups are tables and chairs ONLY without space left for other equipment such as staging, AV, display tables, registration tables or coffee breaks.
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SAVE THE DATE
MARCH 16-18
2015 NCSBN MIDYEAR MEETING

Louisville
It’s possible here.

Whether you are looking for a “downtown” or some “down time”, Louisville is a place that’s sure to show you 
something new. See world-class art, shopping, dining and attractions in entertainment corridors like Fourth 
Street Live!, Museum Rown on Main and the Arena District - all in a place that’s just as walkable as your 
hometown. It’s a great place to hang out as you celebrate all things NCSBN. 

1.800.626.5646   I   GoToLouisville.com
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2015 NCSBN Annual Meeting

aug. 19-21, 2015  |  chicago
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